UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO

Facoltà di Scienze Matematiche, Fisiche e Naturali Corso di Dottorato in Matematica



On elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds in \mathbb{P}^2 -bundles

Relatore: Prof. Bert van Geemen Coordinatore di Dottorato: Prof. Lambertus van Geemen

> Elaborato Finale di: Andrea Cattaneo matricola R08535

Anno Accademico 2011/2012

Contents

In	trod	uction	4				
1	Elli	ptic fibrations	8				
	1.1	The Mordell–Weil group	10				
		1.1.1 Estimating $\operatorname{rk} MW(X)$	10				
		1.1.2 The Shioda–Tate–Wazir formula	12				
	1.2	Weierstrass fibrations and Weierstrass models	13				
		1.2.1 Adjunction in $\mathbb{P}_h(E_W)$	16				
	1.3	Singular fibres and Tate's algorithm	17				
		1.3.1 Examples of non-Kodaira fibres	19				
2	Sing	gularities	22				
	2.1	Resolution of the singularities	24				
	2.2	The singularities of Weierstrass fibrations	25				
3	Cal	Calabi–Yau varieties 28					
	3.1	Singular Calabi–Yau varieties	29				
	3.2	Calabi–Yau elliptic threefold	30				
4	Afi	niteness result	32				
-	4.1	The ambient bundle	32				
	4.2	Proof of the proposition	33				
		4.2.1 Step 1	33				
		4.2.2 Step 2	34				
		4.2.3 Step 3	34				
		4.2.4 Step 4	35				
		4.2.5 Conclusion	36				
	4.3	Examples and remarks	36				
		4.3.1 The case of del Pezzo surfaces	37				
		4.3.2 The case of $B = \mathbb{P}^2 \dots \dots$	37				
		4.3.3 Remarks	38				
	4.4	Chern classes	38				
5	Cla	ssification over \mathbb{P}^2	40				
	5.1	The number of parameters	43				
	5.2	The families $(0,0)$, $(1,0)$, $(1,1)$, $(2,1)$, $(2,2)$	44				
		5.2.1 The cubic form	44				
		5.2.2 Sections	46				

	5.3 The family $(3,3)$ and the E_6 family $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$			
		5.3.1 The cubic form of the E_6 family $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 48$		
		5.3.2 The number of sections of the E_6 family		
		5.3.3 The Mordell–Weil group of the E_6 family		
	5.4	The families $(3, 2), (3, 1), (3, 0)$		
		5.4.1 The cubic form $\ldots \ldots 52$		
		5.4.2 The number of sections		
		5.4.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group		
		5.4.4 The family $(3,0)$		
	5.5	The families $(4, 1), (5, 2), (6, 3), \ldots, \ldots, \ldots, \ldots, 55$		
		5.5.1 The cubic form $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		
		5.5.2 The number of sections		
		5.5.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group		
		5.5.4 The $(6,3)$ family		
	5.6	The families $(7, 4), (8, 5), \ldots, 59$		
		5.6.1 The cubic form		
		5.6.2 The number of sections $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		
		5.6.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group		
	5.7	The $(9,6)$ family $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		
		$5.7.1$ The cubic form $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		
6	Nev	v and old families 65		
	6.1	Families in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$		
		6.1.1 The number of parameters and the canonical form 65		
		6.1.2 Weierstrass model and singular fibres		
		6.1.3 Is the general family smooth?		
		6.1.4 The cubic form $\ldots \ldots 67$		
		$6.1.5 The automorphism group \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 69$		
	6.2 The subfamily with two automorphisms $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$			
		$6.2.1 The cubic form \dots 71$		
		6.2.2 The Mordell–Weil group		
		6.2.3 A smooth family with non-Kodaira fibres		
	6.3	E_7 families in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B(-2K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ 74		
		6.3.1 Plane form		
		6.3.2 Weierstrass model and singular fibres		
		$6.3.3 The number of sections \dots 77$		
	6.4	Limits of E_7 families over \mathbb{P}^2		
		6.4.1 Weierstrass model and singular fibres		
		6.4.2 The cubic form $\ldots \ldots .$		
		6.4.3 The number of sections $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 75$		
	6.5	Elliptic fibrations with 2 rational sections		
-	A	application to physica		
1	Afi 7 1	The left hand side of the tadpole relation		
	1.1 7.9	The right hand side of the tadpole relation 2°		
	1.4 79	Tadpole concellation for threefolds		
	1.5	7.2.1 The area of fourfolds		
		$1.9.1 1 \text{ Inc Case of four fores} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $		

\mathbf{A}	Computing Hodge numbers				
	A.1	Toric o	lescription of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$	87	
		A.1.1	The fan	87	
		A.1.2	Invariant divisors	88	
	A.2	Cohon	nology of $\mathcal{O}_Z(-K_Z)$	89	
		A.2.1	A brief description of the algorithm	89	
		A.2.2	Computing the multiplicity factors	90	
		A.2.3	Computing the number of rationomials	91	
		A.2.4	Cohomology of invariant divisors	92	
		A.2.5	Cohomology of $-K_Z$	92	
	A.3	Hodge	numbers of $X \in -K_Z $	93	
Re	efere	nces		95	

3

Introduction

The study of elliptic curves dates back to ancient Greece. As mathematics evolved through the centuries, so did the study of such curves, which now provides one of the best examples where different branches of mathematics coexist, in particular geometry and number theory.

From the number theoretical point of view, an elliptic curve (E, e) is a genus one curve E defined over an arbitrary field k, where a rational point e has been chosen. Thanks to the presence of this point, one can find an isomorphism with a cubic curve in \mathbb{P}_k^2 , which will be called the Weierstrass model of E. The set E(k) of k-rational points, which is actually a group, is called the Mordell–Weil group of E. In the case $k = \mathbb{C}(t)$ is the function field of $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}}^1$, we can give to an elliptic curve a more geometrical description, and in general when $k = \mathbb{C}(B)$ is the function field of a smooth curve.

An elliptic surface is a surface X with a morphism $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ onto a smooth curve and with a section: its generic fibre is then an elliptic curve over $\mathbb{C}(B)$, providing then the link I told about in the previous paragraph. A study of this class of surfaces can be found in [Kod63], where one of the most important results in the theory of elliptic surfaces, and elliptic fibrations in general, is proved: Kodaira's theorem classifying all the possible singular fibres. This theorem is important for two reasons: first of all because it gives a full answer on the problem of classification, and second because joint with Tate's algorithm [Tat75] it gives a practical tool to distinguish between the different singular fibres in the list.

Another important result in this area is the Shioda–Tate formula [Shi90, Cor. 5.3] for computing the rank of the Mordell–Weil group of an elliptic surface. In fact, it's possible to define an analogue of the Mordell–Weil group of elliptic curves, which is isomorphic to the Mordell–Weil group of the generic fibre of the fibration, in terms of the fibration π and its sections. The formula relates then the geometric properties of the fibration, and in particular of its singular fibres, to this arithmetical object.

The case of elliptic threefolds, i.e. of morphisms $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ where now X has dimension 3, shares many aspects with the elliptic surfaces, but is however very different. Many of the definitions one gives for the surfaces still work for the threefolds, but the precise results stated before may fail to have an analogue in this higher dimensional case.

This is not the case for the Shioda–Tate formula, which holds in great generality thanks to a generalization due to Wazir ([Waz04]). On the contrary, up to now there is no analogue of Kodaira's theorem and Tate's algorithm for elliptic threefolds which predicts the type of a singular fibre over *any* point of the base. I want to be precise, and justify this last statement: both in the cases of sur-

faces and threefolds, the locus in the base where we have singular fibres (the so called discriminant locus) has codimension one, and so it's possible to use the machinery for surfaces to find the type of singular fibres one has over the generic point of the irreducible components of the discriminant. In the case of surfaces, the base is a curve and so the discriminant is a finite number of distinct points, hence we have a precise description of each singular fibres; but in the threefold case the discriminant locus has dimension 1 and so it's possible that over some points the singular fibres change, becoming even of non-Kodaira type. Up to now (and to my knowledge) there is no way to determine a priori the type of these possible new fibres, nor a complete classification: this is the reason why the study of non-Kodaira fibres captures the interest of many people (see e.g. [Mir83], [EY], [EFY] and [GM12]).

The main problem sits in the theory of resolutions of singularities, which is well understood in the case of surfaces, but still incomplete in higher dimension. In the thesis I will show that not every genus 1 curve can be a fibre in an elliptic threefold: using the theory of threefold rational Gorenstein singularities I will prove that the possible non-Kodaira fibres of an elliptic threefold are contraction of Kodaira fibres.

Physics, and in particular string theory, gives another motivation for studying elliptic fibrations (in particular elliptic threefolds and fourfolds). In [Vaf96], [MV96a] and [MV96b] the study of *F*-theory (i.e. elliptically fibered varieties) was proposed as a part of string theory where Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations play a crucial role. To give a physically consistent phenomenology, they showed that the fibrations must have further properties, one of them is that the total space is a Calabi–Yau manifold. For this reason the study of elliptically fibered Calabi–Yau manifolds grew, especially when these varieties are embedded as anticanonical hypersurfaces in some toric Gorenstein Fano ambient space. The reason for this last requirement is that toric varieties are a particularly large but relatively simple class of varieties, which can be studied by means of combinatorics in a very efficient way, especially when they are Fano.

For these reasons (and for personal interest), in the following I will study Calabi–Yau elliptic threefolds, stressing the points where the theory for threefolds differs from the one for surfaces. In particular, the elliptic fibrations I will describe are anticanonical hypersurfaces in a projective bundle over a surface Bof the form $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \otimes \mathcal{L}^b \otimes \mathcal{O}_B)$ for \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on B. Observe that even in the case where the base B is toric, e.g. $B = \mathbb{P}^2$ which is a case I will analyse in great detail, the ambient bundle is typically not Fano, but also in this case it's possible to study these hypersurfaces by exploiting toric geometry.

In Chapter 1 I will give the basic definitions of elliptic fibration with section, of its Weierstrass model and Mordell–Weil group. I will also explain some of their properties, which I will use in the sequel, but since all of this material is well known, proofs will be omitted and are replaced with suitable references. I will also describe Tate's algorithm and illustrate with some examples that the presence of non-Kodaira fibres is quite common in the case of threefolds. All the examples and the varieties involved in this chapter and in all the other are defined over the complex numbers.

In Chapter 2 I will give a brief description of the singularities of the Weierstrass model of an elliptic fibration. In the case of threefolds I will use the work of Reid on canonical singularities ([Rei80], [Rei83] and [Rei87]) to show a necessary con-

dition that must be satisfied by the discriminant locus of an elliptic fibration on a smooth threefold. This is important since one of the most common ways to produce new examples of elliptic fibrations is to start with a singular fibration defined by a simple equation (e.g. a singular Weierstrass fibration) and then try to resolve it in a way that is compatible with the fibration. In particular, in Theorem 2.7 I will prove that the non-Kodaira fibres of elliptic threefolds are contraction of Kodaira fibres.

Chapter 3 is devoted to a survey of Calabi–Yau manifolds and the properties I will use in the sequel.

In Chapter 4, I will introduce the anticanonical subvarieties of the \mathbb{P}^2 -bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \otimes \mathcal{L}^b \otimes \mathcal{O}_B)$ over a surface B. The generic such hypersurface is a fibration in curves of genus 1 over B, but there are two important things to keep in mind. The first is that it's not a priori clear if these varieties are smooth or not, and the second is that we have to find at least one section for them. Requiring the smoothness of the generic anticanonical subvariety has as effect to reduce the possible values for the pair (a, b) (the exponents in the definition of the \mathbb{P}^2 -bundle Z) to only a finite number of cases. I will then determine these pairs in the cases where B is a del Pezzo surface and \mathcal{L} a multiple of its anticanonical bundle, and where $B = \mathbb{P}^2$ and $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$.

In Chapter 5 I will give a description of the families found in the previous chapter over \mathbb{P}^2 . It will turn out that not all of them admit a section, for the others I will describe the cubic intersection form, give equations for the Weierstrass model, study the Mordell–Weil group by finding suitable \mathbb{Q} -generators and determine the precise number of sections. Not all the families found here are new, some of them were already known in the literature, but with other descriptions. In Chapter 6 I will show how the "classical" E_7 families are a part of this framework.

Since Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations appear in the world of physics, in Chapter 7 I will deal with the problem of finding all the possible elliptic fibrations over a surface satisfying a relation which is assumed to hold in string theory, known as tadpole cancellation relation.

Finally, in Appendix A I will give a description of the algorithm I used to compute the Hodge diamonds of the elliptic fibrations which appeared in Chapter 5 and 6.

Acknowledgements

I want to thank all the people who supported me during my Ph.D..

In particular, I am most in debt with my supervisor, prof. Bert van Geemen, who introduced me to the subject of my thesis, elliptic threefolds, and helped me in my mathematical growth. I want to thank him for all the time he spent in his office speaking and teaching to me: it's mostly thank to him if this thesis have been written.

I want also to thank all the professors I met, and speaking with whom I received lots of interesting suggestions for this work (and for future ones), and the Referee for his useful comments on the thesis.

Great acknowledgements are for my family: from when I was a little boy they supported me with tact and discretion. And since they know I am natural contrarian, I want to say them loudly and strikingly: THANK YOU VERY MUCH

FOR ALL!

I want to remember all my friends, from the older to the newer, without making names because I don't want to forget anyone. I want you to know that in any of the many and many different ways you have been close to me, I really appreciate it and I want to embrace you one by one.

The more intimate people are to you, and more difficult is to find the right words to address to them. So I hope that these last two persons will excuse me if I dedicate to them only one sentence. To Federica, because in our love I can find the energy to be better both as a mathematician and as a man (thank you, and don't worry: I will prove the theorem to become famous and maintain you!). Finally, to Alberto, good friend and person of rare sensitivity... But you can read from my tears while writing all what I want to say to you.

Chapter 1

Elliptic fibrations

In this chapter I will introduce the basic definitions and properties concerning elliptic fibrations over a variety. In particular, I will show that it's possible to associate to each elliptic fibration with section another fibration birationally equivalent to the first, known as its Weierstrass model. By Tate's algorithm, the Weierstrass model of an elliptic fibration determines the configuration and the type of the singular fibres of the original fibration, at least generically. I will also define a more arithmetical object linked to elliptic fibrations: the Mordell–Weil group of rational sections.

The definitions given here have no bounds on the dimension of the total space of the fibration, but in many examples I will focus on the case of threefolds, being this case of special interest.

I recall that all the varieties in this thesis are always defined over \mathbb{C} .

Definition We say that $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ is a smooth elliptic fibration over B with section if

- 1. X and B are smooth projective varieties of dimension n and n-1 respectively;
- 2. π is a surjective holomorphic morphism;
- the fibres of π are connected curves, and the generic fibre of π is a smooth connected curve of genus 1;
- 4. a section $\sigma: B \longrightarrow X$ of π is given.

When $\pi: X \longrightarrow B$ satisfies only the first three requirements above, we say that it's a genus one fibration.

Elliptic fibrations are then an example of varieties over a given base B. A morphism between two elliptic fibrations $\pi: X \longrightarrow B$ and $\pi': X' \longrightarrow B$ is then a morphism of varieties over B, i.e. a map $f: X \longrightarrow X'$ such that



commutes.

Definition An elliptic fibration $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ is minimal if for any morphism $f: X \longrightarrow X'$ of varieties over B such that f contracts at least one divisor, then $\pi': X' \longrightarrow B$ is not an elliptic fibration.

Remark 1.0.1 We use this definition to capture previous definitions of minimality. In the case dim X = 2, a minimal elliptic surface is an elliptic surface having no (-1)-curves in its fibres. In the case dim X = 3, a minimal elliptic threefold is an elliptic threefold which contains no contractible surface whose contractible fibres are contained in the fibres of π (compare to [Mir83, Sect. 0, (0.3)]).

I will denote the fibre over the point $b \in B$ with X_b . Of course, not every fibre of π needs to be smooth, and we define the *discriminant locus* of the fibration as the subset of B over which we have singular fibres:

$$\Delta = \{ b \in B | X_b \text{ is singular} \} \subseteq B.$$

The following is an easy but important property of elliptic fibrations with section: a section can't pass through singular points in the fibres.

Proposition 1.1 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth elliptic fibration with section σ . Let $b \in \Delta$ and $q \in X_b$ be a singular point for the fibre. Then $\sigma(b) \neq q$.

Proof Assume by contradiction that $\sigma(b) = q$. The differential

$$d\pi_a: T_a X \longrightarrow T_b B$$

gives us a decomposition

$$T_q X = \ker d\pi_q \oplus \operatorname{im} d\sigma_b \simeq \ker d\pi_q \oplus T_b B$$

because q lies on the section. Since ker $d\pi_q$ is generated by the tangent vectors in q to X_b , and dim $T_q X_b \ge 2$ because q is singular for X_b , we deduce that

$$\dim T_q X \ge 2 + (n-1) = n+1$$

hence that q is a singular point of X.

There is obviously a relation between elliptic fibrations and elliptic curves. In fact, the presence of a section tells us that $(X_b, \sigma(b))$ is an elliptic curve for any $b \in B \setminus \Delta$. At a deeper level, the whole fibration can be seen as an elliptic curve since its generic fibre X_{η} is an elliptic curve over the function field $\mathbb{C}(B)$ of the base B:



where the distinguished point is given by the restriction of the section. Since any elliptic curve (E, e) defined over a field k has a Weierstrass model (see e.g. [Sil09, Prop. 3.1]) and a Mordell–Weil group E(k) of k-rational points, we can then define the Weierstrass model of the fibration and its Mordell–Weil group.

1.1 The Mordell–Weil group

Definition Let (E, e) be an elliptic curve over a field k. Then the Mordell–Weil group of E is the group E(k) of its k-rational points.

As for any elliptic curve over a field, the generic fibre of an elliptic fibration has its Mordell–Weil group, but in this case we also have a more geometric description. Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic fibration. A *rational section* of π is a rational map $s : B \dashrightarrow X$ such that $\pi \circ s = \text{id}$ over the domain of s. Then the Mordell–Weil group of our fibration is

 $MW(X) = \{s : B \dashrightarrow X | s \text{ is a rational section}\},\$

where the group law is given by addition fibrewise, i.e. given two rational sections s and s', we define s + s' requiring that (s + s')(b) = s(b) + s'(b) for any $b \in \text{dom } s \cap \text{dom } s'$.

The correspondence between rational sections of π and $\mathbb{C}(B)$ -rational points of X_{η} is set up in this way: given a rational section s we have a $\mathbb{C}(B)$ -rational point on X_{η} by taking the restriction of s to the generic fibre, while given a $\mathbb{C}(B)$ -rational point s_{η} : Spec $\mathbb{C}(B) \longrightarrow X_{\eta}$ we have a rational section s on an open dense subset U of B requiring that $\overline{s(U)} = \overline{t(s_{\eta}(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}(B)))}$. We can then identify $MW(X) \simeq X_{\eta}(\mathbb{C}(B))$.

Remark 1.1.1 Given a rational section $s : B \to X$, with a slight abuse of language I will also call rational section the subvariety of X defined by $\overline{s(\text{dom }s)}$. In the same spirit, I will call section the image s(B) of a section $s : B \to X$.

1.1.1 Estimating $\operatorname{rk} MW(X)$

Let *E* be an elliptic curve over any field, with zero *e*. Then we have a group law on *E* which allows us to calculate $a + {}^{G} b = c$. Since *a* and *b* are points on *E*, each of them also defines a divisor and so we can add them as divisors, finding $a + {}^{D} b$. By the very definition of the group law we have that

$$a + {}^{G}b = c \Longleftrightarrow a + {}^{D}b \equiv c + {}^{D}e \tag{1.1}$$

where \equiv denotes linear equivalence of divisors. This relation is easy to generalize¹:

$$\sum_{P=0}^{G} n_{P} P = Q \iff \sum_{P=0}^{D} n_{P} P \equiv Q + \left(\sum_{P=0}^{D} n_{P} - 1\right) e^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

To see that this is true we write $\sum_{i=1}^{G} n_{P} P$ as $\sum_{i=1}^{G} P_{i}$ where the P_{i} 's need not be different, and proceed by induction on the number n of summands. Then we know that the first step, corresponding to n = 2, is true. Suppose that the result is true for n-1 summands and consider $\sum_{1\leq i\leq n}^{G} P_{i}$. Then let $R = \sum_{1\leq i\leq n-1}^{G} P_{i}$: by induction we have

$$\sum_{\leq i \leq n-1}^{D} P_i \equiv R + {}^{D} (n-2)e,$$

 $\overline{ {}^{1}$ I use \sum^{G} and \sum^{D} to denote the sum using the group law or the sum of divisors respectively.

while by (1.1)

$$R + {}^D P_n \equiv (R + {}^G P_n) + e.$$

This implies that

$$\sum_{1 \le i \le n}^{D} P_i - (n-2)e \equiv \left(\sum_{1 \le i \le n}^{G} P_i\right) + {}^{D} e$$

from which the result follows.

I now want to use this remark to give bounds on the rank of the Mordell–Weil group MW(X) of an elliptically fibred variety. The fibration X is assumed to have a section $S = \sigma(B)$, which we use to induce a group law on each fibre. Let $S \in Pic X$ be the section, and call S_{η} its restriction to X_{η} . As element in Div X_{η} and in Pic X_{η} , we have that S_{η} is not zero. But observe that since S is a section we have also $S_{\eta} \in MW(X)$, and in this group S_{η} is the neutral element. In fact, using the notation of the previous paragraph we have as elliptic curve $(E, e) = (X_{\eta}, S_{\eta})$. An element $P \in MW(X)$ is a rational point of X_{η} , and the map

$$\begin{array}{rcl}
\operatorname{MW}(X) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} \\
P & \longrightarrow & P - S_{\eta}
\end{array}$$
(1.2)

is a group homomorphism, in fact it follows from (1.1) that

$$(P + {}^{G} P') - S_{\eta} \equiv (P - S_{\eta}) + (P' - S_{\eta}).$$

Remark 1.1.2 This homomorphism is injective. In fact, if $P - S_{\eta} \equiv 0$, then $P = S_{\eta}$ as points of X_{η} by [Sil09, Lemma 3.3].

So we can see MW(X) as a subgroup of Pic X_{η} , and observing that the image of MW(X) is contained in the subgroup of degree 0 divisors of X_{η} , we have



It's possible to find the image of this map. In fact it follows from [Sil09, Rmk. 3.5.1] that $X_{\eta}(\mathbb{C}(B))$ is isomorphic (via this map) to the subgroup of $\operatorname{Pic}^{0} X_{\eta}$ of divisors of degree zero defined over $\mathbb{C}(B)$. This gives us the first estimate

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) \le \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic}^0 X_\eta \le \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic} X_\eta.$$

Since the exact sequence defining $\operatorname{Pic}^0 X_\eta$

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}^{0} X_{\eta} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow 0$$
(1.3)

is split by

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbb{Z} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} \\ n & \longrightarrow & nS_{\eta} \end{array}$$

we have that

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Pic}^{0} X_{\eta} \oplus \mathbb{Z} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} \\ (\sum n_{P} P, n) & \longrightarrow & \sum n_{P} P + n S_{\eta} \end{array}$$

$$(1.4)$$

is a group isomorphism, so $\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic}^0 X_{\eta} = \operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} - 1$ and we have the estimate

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) \leq \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic} X_n - 1.$$

Let V be the subgroup of Pic X generated by the classes of the vertical divisors, i.e. those divisors whose support is contained in π^*D for D a divisor on the base B. Then ([Mir89, Lemma VII.1.4]) we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow V \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}} \operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta} \longrightarrow 0, \tag{1.5}$$

implying that

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) \le \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic} X - \operatorname{rk} V - 1.$$
(1.6)

Remark 1.1.3 Since π has connected fibres, by Zariski's main theorem we have that $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_B$. Using the projection formula we can then show (see [Mir89, Lemma VII.1.1]) that $\pi^* : \operatorname{Pic} B \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} X$ is injective. In fact let \mathcal{L} be any line bundle on B, then

$$\pi_*\pi^*\mathcal{L}\simeq\mathcal{L}\otimes\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X\simeq\mathcal{L}.$$

Of course $\pi^* \operatorname{Pic} B$ is a subgroup of V, so that

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) \le \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic} X - \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{Pic} B - 1,$$

but $V \neq \pi^* \operatorname{Pic} B$ in general. For example, this happens if the fibration has reducible fibres over a codimension 1 locus in the base, and we will see examples of this fact in Sections 5.3.3 and 6.2.2.

1.1.2 The Shioda–Tate–Wazir formula

In the previous section we saw some estimates on $\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X)$, but in fact there are formulae to compute this number. In the case of elliptic surfaces, i.e. elliptic fibrations $\pi: X \longrightarrow B$ where X is a surface, it's possible to compute the rank of V in terms of the singular fibres of the fibration. This leads to the Shioda–Tate formula for computing the rank of the Mordell–Weil group ([Shi90, Cor. 5.3]):

Theorem 1.2 (Shioda–Tate formula) Let $\pi : X \to B$ be a smooth elliptic surface with section. Then

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) = \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{NS}(X) - 2 - \sum_{b \in \Delta} ((\# \text{ irreducible components of } X_b) - 1).$$

Observe that this theorem says that our estimate (1.6) is indeed an equality. This formula has been generalized in the setting of scheme theory by Wazir ([Waz04, Cor. 3.2]) for elliptic fibrations of any dimension:

Theorem 1.3 (Shioda–Tate–Wazir formula) Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic fibration with section over a field k. Then

$$\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{NS}(X) = 1 + \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) + \operatorname{rk} \operatorname{NS}(B) + \operatorname{rk} F$$

where F is the vector space generated by the irreducible components of $\pi^*\Delta$ which don't intersect the section.

Roughly speaking, this theorem says that our estimates are quite sharp. In fact the rank of MW(X) depends on:

- 1. the geometry of the fibration, encoded in NS(X);
- 2. the geometry of the base, encoded in NS(B);
- 3. the presence of the section, which is given by the 1 in the formula;
- 4. the singular fibres, encoded by F, since if we have reducible fibres over some component of the discriminant locus, say $\Delta_{\rm red}$, then $\pi^{-1}(\Delta_{\rm red})$ splits into different irreducible components, giving the so called *fibral divisors*.

1.2 Weierstrass fibrations and Weierstrass models

In this section I want to define the notion of Weierstrass fibration and to show how we can associate to each elliptic fibration with section a Weierstrass fibration, which we call the Weierstrass model of the elliptic fibration. In the following definitions I will also set up the notation I will use in the sequel.

Definition We say that $p: W \longrightarrow B$ is a Weierstrass fibration if

- 1. W and B are projective varieties, with B smooth (W not necessarily);
- 2. p is a surjective morphism whose fibres are smooth curves of genus 1, or rational curves with either a node or a cusp;
- 3. the generic fibre of p is smooth;
- 4. there is a section s of p such that s(B) does not pass through the nodes or the cusps in the fibres.

Definition Let $p: W \longrightarrow B$ be a Weierstrass fibration over B, with section s. If $\Sigma = s(B)$ and $i: \Sigma \hookrightarrow W$ is the inclusion, then the fundamental line bundle of p is the line bundle \mathcal{L} on B defined by

$$\mathcal{L} = (p_* i_* \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W})^{-1}$$

where $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|X}$ is the normal bundle of Σ in W.

Observe that since Σ has codimension 1 in W, then $\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W}$ is a line bundle on Σ and so \mathcal{L} is a line bundle on B because $p_{|_{\Sigma}}$ is an isomorphism. Despite the fact that this definition depends on the section, the fundamental line bundle \mathcal{L} is intrinsic to W since it's known that ([Mir89, Chap. II.3])

$$\mathcal{L}^{-1} \simeq R^1 p_* \mathcal{O}_W.$$

The following results are essential and explain the importance of the fundamental line bundle of a Weierstrass fibration. Proofs can be found in [Mir89, Sect. II.4 and III.1] in the case where W is a surface and B is a curve, but they still work in any dimension. **Proposition 1.4** With the same notations as before, we have for any $n \ge 2$ a decomposition

$$p_*\mathcal{O}_W(n\Sigma) = \mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{L}^{-2} \oplus \mathcal{L}^{-3} \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathcal{L}^{-n}.$$

The role of the section in a Weierstrass fibration is essentially the same as that of the distinguished point on an elliptic curve: we can use it to embed the fibration in a \mathbb{P}^2 -bundle over the base B.

Given any vector bundle E over B, I will denote with $\mathbb{P}_h(E)$ the projective space bundle of the hyperplanes in E as usual in algebraic geometry, while with $\mathbb{P}(E)$ I will denote the projective space of lines in E as it's customary in physics. Of course the two notions are equivalent, since they are linked by a duality relation

$$\mathbb{P}_h(E) \simeq \mathbb{P}(E^*).$$

Theorem 1.5 The line bundle $\mathcal{O}_W(3\Sigma)$ defines a closed immersion

$$W \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}_h(p_*\mathcal{O}_W(3\Sigma))$$

in such a way that the diagram



commutes, where the morphism Π is the structure morphism of the projective space bundle.

For sake of simplicity I will call E_W the bundle $p_*\mathcal{O}_W(3\Sigma) \simeq \mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{L}^{-2} \oplus \mathcal{L}^{-3}$. Once we realize W as a hypersurface in a projective space bundle, we can ask for its equation. This is the usual equation of an elliptic curve in Weierstrass form, namely

$$y^2 z = x^3 + a_4 x z^2 + a_6 z^3, (1.7)$$

where

$$x \in H^{0}(\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W})}(1) \otimes \Pi^{*}\mathcal{L}^{2}),$$

$$y \in H^{0}(\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W})}(1) \otimes \Pi^{*}\mathcal{L}^{3}),$$

$$z \in H^{0}(\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{h}(E_{W})}(1))$$
(1.8)

give coordinates in the fibres, and

$$a_4 \in H^0(\mathbb{P}_h(E_W), \Pi^* \mathcal{L}^4) \simeq H^0(B, \mathcal{L}^4),$$

$$a_6 \in H^0(\mathbb{P}_h(E_W), \Pi^* \mathcal{L}^6) \simeq H^0(B, \mathcal{L}^6)$$
(1.9)

are coefficients. We can then give an equation for the discriminant locus:

$$\Delta : 4a_4^3 + 27a_6^2 = 0 \tag{1.10}$$

and so we see that $\Delta \in H^0(B, \mathcal{L}^{12})$.

Given a smooth elliptic fibration $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ with section σ , we have already observed that $(X_b, \sigma(b))$ is an elliptic curve for any $b \in B \setminus \Delta$: as such it can be put in Weierstrass form. This pointwise fact globalizes to the whole fibration,

so that we can speak of the Weierstrass model $p: W \longrightarrow B$ of the fibration. To be more precise, we can put the generic fibre X_{η} of X in its Weierstrass form W_{η} , finding an equation whose coefficients are rational functions on B. After a birational change of variables we can then find an equation for W_{η} with coefficients defined everywhere on B, i.e. we find an equation for W in $\mathbb{P}_h(E_W)$.

Proposition 1.6 Any smooth elliptic fibration with section $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ admits a unique (up to isomorphism) Weierstrass model in such a way that



commutes and f is a birational morphism. Moreover, all the fibres of f have dimension at most 1.

Proof For the existence, see [Nak88]. For the last part of the statement, just observe that every fibre of p and π is 1-dimensional, and so $f^{-1}(w)$ can be at most a curve.

Geometrically, we can describe the morphism to the Weierstrass model as the contraction in the reducible fibres of all the irreducible components which don't intersect $\sigma(B)$. This implies that a smooth minimal elliptic fibration and its Weierstrass model have the same discriminant locus.

Example 1.2.1 In this example I want to show that the assumption of having a section is quite restrictive. In fact, let's consider the variety X defined in $\mathbb{P}^3 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ with coordinates $((x_0 : x_1 : x_2 : x_3), (y_0 : y_1 : y_2))$ by the equations

$$X: \begin{cases} x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + x_3^3 = 0\\ y_0^3 x_0 + y_1^3 x_1 + y_2^3 x_2 = 0 \end{cases}$$

Then X is smooth and can be viewed naturally as a fibration in elliptic curves in two different ways by restricting to X the projections onto the two factors.

- 1. In the first case X is a fibration over the Fermat cubic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 . We observe that over the point (0 : 0 : 1 : -1) we have a multiple fibre, with equation $y_2^3 = 0$, so any of its points is singular for the fibre. By Proposition 1.1 we can conclude that this fibre can't meet any section, hence that there is no section at all.
- 2. In the second case we have a fibration over \mathbb{P}^2 , but even in this case we have no sections. In fact, if σ were a section then $\sigma(\mathbb{P}^2)$ would be contained in the Fermat cubic. But there is no non constant morphism from \mathbb{P}^2 to this surface.

Example 1.2.2 Let's consider the projective plane bundle $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(2) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})$ over \mathbb{P}^2 . Denote with (x : y : z) coordinates in the fibres and with $(t_0 : t_1 : t_2)$ coordinates in the plane, then the Weierstrass equation

$$y^2 z = x^3 + (t_0^6 + t_1^6 + t_2^6)z^3$$

defines a smooth elliptic threefold $\pi: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^2$. The discriminant locus of this fibration is then

$$\Delta : 27(t_0^6 + t_1^6 + t_2^6)^2 = 0,$$

which is a Fermat sextic with multiplicity two, and over each point of the discriminant we have cuspidal cubics.

1.2.1 Adjunction in $\mathbb{P}_h(E_W)$

In this section I want to calculate the class of a *smooth* Weierstrass fibration $p: W \longrightarrow B$ in the Chow group of codimension 1 subvarieties of $\mathbb{P}_h(E_W)$. Using the adjunction formula we will be able to compute the class of a canonical divisor of W.

In this section I will use the projective space of lines, writing

$$Z_W = \mathbb{P}(E_W^*) = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{L}^2 \oplus \mathcal{L}^3)$$

for the ambient space, and

$$L = c_1(\mathcal{L}), \qquad \xi_W = c_1(\mathcal{O}_{Z_W}(1))$$

We have the following diagram



and the class [W] of W is quite easy to compute: W is defined by the equation (1.7), which is a homogeneous cubic in the variables x, y and z with coefficients a_4 and a_6 , and so by (1.8) and (1.9) this means that

$$[W] = 6\Pi^* L + 3\xi_W.$$

To compute the canonical class K_{Z_W} we first use the exact sequence defining the relative tangent bundle

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{Z_W|B} \longrightarrow T_{Z_W} \longrightarrow \Pi^* T_B \longrightarrow 0$$

to find the relation

$$c(Z_W) = c(T_{Z_W|B})\Pi^* c(B)$$

between the Chern polynomials, and then the exact sequence ([Ful98, App. B.5.8])

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{Z_W} \longrightarrow (\Pi^* E_W) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{Z_W}(1) \longrightarrow T_{Z_W|B} \longrightarrow 0$$

to compute $c(T_{Z_W|B})$. What we find is that the first Chern class of Z_W is then the piece of degree one in the polynomial

$$c(Z_W) = (1 + \xi_W)(1 + 2\Pi^*L + \xi_W)(1 + 3\Pi^*L + \xi_W)(1 + \Pi^*c_1(B) + \Pi^*c_2(B)),$$

hence that

$$K_{Z_W} = -c_1(Z_W) = \Pi^* K_B - 5\Pi^* L - 3\xi_W.$$

We can now compute the canonical class of W by means of the adjunction formula: since

$$K_{Z_W} + [W] = \Pi^* K_B - 5\Pi^* L - 3\xi_W + 6\Pi^* L + 3\xi_W = \Pi^* (K_B + L), \quad (1.11)$$

we have that

$$K_W = (K_{Z_W} + [W])|_W = i^* \Pi^* (K_B + L) = p^* (K_B + L).$$
(1.12)

Observe that K_W the pull-back of a divisor in the base, hence K_W is vertical. In Proposition 2.5 we will see that (1.12) generalizes to singular Weierstrass models.

Example 1.2.3 Let X be the fibration of Example 1.2.2: its ambient bundle is of the form Z_W , with $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$. Then we have that L is the class of a line in the base \mathbb{P}^2 , and since $K_{\mathbb{P}^2} = -3L$ we can now justify our previous claim on the canonical bundle of X, in fact

$$K_X = p^*(K_{\mathbb{P}^2}) + p^*L = p^*(-2L).$$

Remark 1.2.4 The technique used here to compute $c_1(Z_W)$ and the Chern polynomial $c(Z_W)$ is quite general: if E is any rank 3 vector bundle on B and $Z = \mathbb{P}(E)$, it can be used to compute c(Z).

The general result is that

$$c(Z) = c(T_{Z|B})\Pi^* c(B)$$

with

$$c(T_{Z|B}) = 1 + \Pi^* c_1(E) + 3\xi + \Pi^* c_2(E) + 2\Pi^* c_1(E)\xi + 3\xi^2.$$

In particular

$$c_1(Z) = \Pi^* c_1(B) + \Pi^* c_1(E) + 3\xi.$$
(1.13)

1.3 Singular fibres and Tate's algorithm

Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth elliptic fibration with section. We defined the discriminant locus of the fibration as the locus $\Delta \subseteq B$ over which we have singular fibres. Our interest is now on the type of these singular fibres.

In the case of surfaces, the situation is clear and well understood: the possible singular fibres were listed by Kodaira ([Kod63, Thm. 6.2]), who also named them.

In the following, I will refer to the singular fibres in the list as Kodaira fibres.

Theorem 1.7 (Kodaira's classification of singular fibres) Given a smooth minimal elliptic surface with section $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$, the only possible singular fibres of π are the ones listed in Table 1.1.

Name Description I_1 Nodal rational curve I_2 Two smooth rational curves meeting transversally at two points I_n with $n \geq 3$ n smooth rational curves meeting with dual graph A_n n+5 smooth rational curves meeting with dual I_n^* with $n \ge 0$ graph \tilde{D}_{n+4} IICuspidal rational curve IIITwo smooth rational curves meeting at a point of order two IVThree smooth rational curves all meeting at a point IV^* 7 smooth rational curves meeting with dual graph \tilde{E}_6 III^* 8 smooth rational curves meeting with dual graph \tilde{E}_7 II^* 9 smooth rational curves meeting with dual $qraph \ \tilde{E}_8$

Table 1.1: List of Kodaira singular fibres

Moreover, in the case of elliptic surfaces, there is an algorithm which allows one to determine the type of the singular fibre over a point b of the discriminant locus: first of all we put X in Weierstrass form, finding an equation of the form

$$W: y^2 z = x^3 + a_4 x z^2 + a_6 z^3,$$

and then we compute the multiplicities $\operatorname{mult}_b a_4$, $\operatorname{mult}_b a_6$ and $\operatorname{mult}_b \Delta$. The type of the singular fibre over b is then given by the following table ([Tat75, P. 46])

Name	$\operatorname{mult}_b a_4$	$\operatorname{mult}_b a_6$	$\operatorname{mult}_b\Delta$
I_1	0	0	1
I_n	0	0	n
	2	3	6
I_0^*	≥ 3	3	6
	2	≥ 4	6
I_n^*	2	3	n+6
II	≥ 1	1	2
III	1	≥ 2	3
IV	≥ 2	2	4
IV^*	≥ 3	4	8
III*	3	≥ 5	9
II^*	≥ 4	5	10

This procedure to determine the type of a singular fibre is known as *Tate's algorithm*.

For minimal elliptic fibrations we can still run it: we put the fibration with section in Weierstrass form, and then we consider the irreducible components Δ_i 's of Δ . Since the local rings \mathcal{O}_{X,Δ_i} are discrete valuation rings, it makes sense to compute the multiplicities $\operatorname{mult}_{\Delta_i} a_4$, $\operatorname{mult}_{\Delta_i} a_6$ and $\operatorname{mult}_{\Delta_i} \Delta$. From the previous table we can then deduce the type of the singular fibre over the generic point of Δ_i .

Observe that in the case of surfaces we have a precise description of any singular fibre, while in the case of higher dimensional elliptic fibrations what happens in codimension 2 (and greater) on the base is not yet well understood.

1.3.1 Examples of non-Kodaira fibres

As observed in the previous paragraph over codimension two loci in the base we can have singular fibres of non-Kodaira type. I want now to give some examples of non-Kodaira fibres in the case where $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ is a local fibration of dimension 3, i.e. a fibration where B is a small disk in \mathbb{C}^2 centred in 0, and over the origin we will have the non-Kodaira fibre.

As a first example, in the paper [Mir83] the explicit desingularization of local Weierstrass fibrations satisfying some further assumption is given. In this work it's clear that when singular fibres of Kodaira type collide, the result can be of non-Kodaira type.

The second example I want to give is inspired by [EY]. Let f(s,t) be a function which does not vanishes at the origin, and consider the Weierstrass fibration in $\mathbb{P}^2 \times B$

$$y^{2}z = x^{3} - \frac{1}{48}s^{4}xz^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{864}s^{6} + f(s,t)t^{5}\right)z^{3},$$

having

$$\begin{split} A &= -\frac{1}{48}s^4, \\ B &= \frac{1}{864}s^6 + ft^5, \\ \Delta &= \frac{1}{16}t^5f(s^6 + 432ft^5) \end{split}$$

Over t = 0 we have nodal cubics, and the node of each is singular for the whole variety. We proceed by blowing-up this curve of singularities, and we obtain a fibration with I_3 fibres over t = 0: one edge of the triangle is the transform of the original nodal cubic, the other two edges have been introduced by the blow-up. Their intersection is singular again, hence we have to blow-up the curve of singular points again. Doing so, we find fibres of Kodaira type I_5 over t = 0, but in the fibre over the origin there is still a unique singular point of the whole variety. It's possible to resolve this isolated singularity by mean of a small blow-up, i.e. a blow-up which doesn't introduce exceptional divisors, and the resulting threefold is a smooth elliptic fibration with a non-Kodaira fibre over the origin. This fibre is made up of five irreducible components, each of which is a line. Three of them meet at a point, and have multiplicity 2, 3 and 4 respectively. The component of multiplicity 4 intersects one of the remaining components (which has multiplicity 2) and the component with multiplicity 2 meets the last component (which has multiplicity 1), which is the component intersecting the section. There is another way of describing this fibre: consider a Kodaira fibre of type II^* , and contract the four consecutive components of multiplicities 3, 4, 5 and 6 respectively.

Remark 1.3.1 If we consider a generic line through the origin, we have a local elliptic surface, and Tate's algorithm says that over that point we should have a fibre II^* . What we found in the threefold is a contraction of this fibre, and as we will see later (Proposition 2.7) this fact generalizes.

Remark 1.3.2 It's not necessary to start with a Weierstrass model if we want fibrations with I_5 fibres. For example (if we are looking for global models), we can start from three homogeneous cubic polynomials α, β, γ and consider the following singular fibrations, having a smooth resolution with I_5 fibres, as one can verify directly blowing-up the singular locus:

1. the fibration defined in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ by

$$y^2 z = \alpha^2 x^3 + \frac{1}{4} \beta^2 x^2 z + \alpha \gamma z^3.$$

2. the fibration defined in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ by

$$y^2z=\alpha x^3+\frac{1}{4}\beta^2x^2z+\alpha^3\gamma z^3;$$

These two fibrations have the same Weierstrass model in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(9) \oplus \mathcal{O})$, given by

$$y^{2}z = x^{3} - \frac{1}{48}\beta^{2}xz^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{486}\beta^{6} + \alpha^{5}\gamma\right)z^{3},$$

and in fact they are birationally equivalent:

$$(x:y:z)\longmapsto (\alpha x:\alpha y:z)$$

gives a birational map from the first to the second. The (smooth) fibrations in these bundles will be studied in detail in Chapter 6, in particular the fibration in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is of E_7^0 type.

I want to give here a last example of non-Kodaira fibre. Consider in $\mathbb{P}^2\times B$ the fibration

$$y^2 z = x^3 + tx^2 z + s^4 z^3,$$

if we write a Weierstrass model (1.7) we find that the coefficients are

$$a_4 = -\frac{1}{3}t^2$$

$$a_6 = s^4 + \frac{2}{27}t^3$$

$$\Delta = s^4(27s^4 + 4t^3)$$

and so by Tate's algorithm we expect to have I_4 fibres over the line s = 0. The curve s = x = y = 0 is singular for the threefold, hence we blow it up. The effect is that over s = 0 instead of nodal cubics now we have triangles, but one of its vertices is still singular for the whole variety. After a second blow-up of this curve of singular points we have a smooth threefold with I_4 fibres over s = 0. If

we restrict the fibration to a generic line through the origin, by Tate's algorithm on this elliptic surface we should have over the origin a fibre of Kodaira type I_1^* : what we see is not the whole fibre but a contraction of it (Proposition 2.7). To be precise, a I_1^* fibre has 6 irreducible components meeting with intersection graph \tilde{D}_5 , the two central components have multiplicity 2 while the other four have multiplicity 1, and one of these intersects the section. Our non-Kodaira fibre is obtained by a I_1^* fibre as follows: let C denote the multiplicity one component which meets the section, then contract the multiplicity 2 component which does not intersect C, and the multiplicity 1 component intersecting the multiplicity 2 component which meets also C.

Remark 1.3.3 This last example is interesting for the following reason: let's call X the smooth threefold, and X_{λ} its restriction to the line $t = \lambda s$. As observed before, X_{λ} is singular over s = 0, since we does not have a Kodaira fibre, and so there are singular points whose coordinates depend on λ . In fact there are always two singular points: one of them is on the multiplicity two component of the non-Kodaira fibre and its coordinates depend on λ , while the second is at the point of the fibre where the multiplicity 2 component of the I_1^* fibre was blown down. This last has coordinates independent of λ , but nevertheless the threefold is smooth at this point.

Chapter 2

Singularities

Even though we are mainly interested in smooth varieties, as we saw when discussing the Weierstrass model of an elliptic fibration, we also have to deal with some kinds of singular varieties. In this section I recall the definition of rational Gorenstein singularities and their main properties, focussing in the case of threefolds. The main references for this chapter are [Rei80], [Rei83], [Rei87] and [KM98].

The canonical sheaf of a (smooth) variety X is $\Omega_X^n = \bigwedge^n \Omega_X^1$, the *n*-th exterior power of its cotangent sheaf, but to deal with singular varieties we need a new definition which generalizes the usual one.

Definition Let X be a normal variety, with regular locus $X^{reg} = X \setminus \text{Sing } X$. Then we define

$$\omega_X = j_* \left(\Omega^n_{X^{reg}} \right)$$

where $j: X^{reg} \hookrightarrow X$ is the inclusion.

In this way ω_X is a torsion-free sheaf, extending the usual canonical sheaf on X^{reg} . We also have a link between ω_X and Ω_X^n , in fact the first is the double dual of the second: $\omega_X \simeq (\Omega_X^n)^{**}$. There is also the possibility of defining a canonical Weil divisor, let $K_{X^{\text{reg}}}$ be a canonical divisor in X^{reg} , then $K_X = \overline{K_{X^{\text{reg}}}}$ is its closure in X. Observe that K_X may not be Cartier, and that

 $\omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X(K_X), \qquad \omega_X(U) = \left\{ f \in \mathbb{C}(X) | (f)|_{U} + K_{X_U} \ge 0 \right\},$

is generated by the differential forms regular in codimension 1.

Definition A normal variety X will be called Gorenstein if it's Cohen-Macaulay and its canonical sheaf ω_X is locally free of rank 1 (compare to [Rei80, P. 286]).

The Cohen-Macaulay condition is local and algebraic in nature, and means that for any point $x \in X$ the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ have the property that there is a sequence of elements $f_1, \ldots, f_r \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ such that

- 1. all the f_i 's lie in the maximal ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$;
- 2. f_1 is not a zero-divisor in $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ and for all $i = 2, \ldots, r$ the element $f_i \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}/(f_1, \ldots, f_{i-1})$ is not a zero-divisor;

- 3. f_1, \ldots, f_r has maximal length with respect to the previous properties;
- 4. $r = \dim \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$.

Example 2.0.4 Let X be a projective smooth variety, and $Y \subseteq X$ a (locally) complete intersection with codim Sing $Y \ge 2$. Then Y is regular in codimension 1 and so by [Har77, Prop. II.8.23] Y is also normal. Hence Y is Gorenstein by [Eis95, Cor. 21.19].

Definition Let X be a Gorenstein variety, and $x \in X$. Then $x \in X$ is a rational Gorenstein singularity (compare to [Rei80, Def. 2.4]) if there exists a resolution of singularities (see p. 24 for the definition) $f: Y \longrightarrow X$ of x such that

$$f_*\omega_Y = \omega_X$$

In the case of threefolds, there is also a classification of rational Gorenstein singularities which can be found in [Rei80, Cor. 2.10]. The simplest are the so called compound Du Val singularities, which are an analogue for threefolds of the Du Val singularities for surfaces.

Let S be a normal surface, and $s \in S$ a singular point: s is a Du Val singularity if one of the following equivalent condition holds:

- 1. there exists a resolution of singularities $f: \tilde{S} \longrightarrow S$ such that $K_{\tilde{S}} = f^* K_S$;
- 2. in a neighbourhood of s we have that S is analytically isomorphic to one of the hypersurface singularities of \mathbb{A}^3 in the following list

Name	Equation
A_n	$x^2 + y^2 + z^{n+1}$
D_n	$x^2 + y^2 z + z^{n-1}$
E_6	$x^2 + y^3 + z^4$
E_7	$x^2 + y^3 + yz^3$
E_8	$x^2 + y^3 + z^5$

Observe that in this second point we also have a classification of Du Val singularities. The name refers to the Dynkin diagrams, in fact in the minimal resolution of a Du Val singularity, the exceptional divisors have the corresponding Dynkin diagram as incidence graph. The *minimal resolution* of a Du Val singularity is obtained by a sequence of blow-ups in the singular points, which ends as soon as the blown-up surface becomes smooth, and it's minimal in the sense that any other resolution factors through this.

Definition A point x in a threefold X is a compound Du Val singularity, or cDV for short, if there is a hypersurface $H \subseteq X$ through x such that $x \in H$ is a Du Val singularity.

Remark 2.0.5 We can then see X as a deformation of a Du Val singularity, since the definition is equivalent to ask that around x the variety X is locally

analytically isomorphic to the hypersurface singularity in \mathbb{A}^4 given by

$$f(x, y, z) + t g(x, y, z, t) = 0,$$

where f(x, y, z) = 0 defines a Du Val singularity. Observe also that while Du Val singularities are isolated, cDV singularities can be isolated or not.

2.1 Resolution of the singularities

Even if I already mentioned the resolution of singularities, I want to give here a precise definition.

Definition We say that $f: Y \longrightarrow X$ is a resolution of the singularities of X if

- 1. Y is smooth;
- 2. f is birational, and is an isomorphism between $f^{-1}(X^{reg})$ and X^{reg} .

We will be interested in resolutions having other particular features.

Definition Let $f: Y \longrightarrow X$ be a resolution of the singularities. We say that f is small if for any point $x \in X$ the fibre $f^{-1}(x)$ contains no divisors. If X is a threefold, this means that each fibre has dimension at most 1, i.e. it's a point or a curve.

Example 2.1.1 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic fibration with section over a base B with dim $B \ge 2$, and $p: W \longrightarrow B$ its Weierstrass model. Then we have the birational morphism $f: X \longrightarrow W$ from Proposition 1.6, which is a small resolution of the singularities of W.

When we have a resolution of the singularities $f: Y \longrightarrow X$, we can compare a canonical divisor K_Y on Y with f^*K_X : we have

$$K_Y \equiv f^* K_X + \sum_i a_i D_i$$

with D_i effective divisors which are contracted by f, satisfying codim $f(D_i) \ge 2$. A divisor D_i for which $a_i = 0$ is called a *crepant divisor*, the other are called *discrepant*. The resolutions for which $a_i = 0$ for all i are hence particularly interesting.

Definition Let $f: Y \longrightarrow X$ be a resolution of the singularities. We say that f is crepant if $K_Y = f^*K_X$.

This definition makes sense since the exceptional divisors introduced by a resolution tends to become the zero locus for the pull-back of the differential forms on X. This happens for example if we want to desingularize a variety blowing-up its singular locus.

Remark 2.1.2 If $f: Y \longrightarrow X$ is a small resolution of an isolated singularity, then f is obviously crepant since it does not introduce exceptional divisors. It's a more difficult problem to understand when a small resolution of non-isolated singularities is crepant or not.

In the case of threefolds, there is a link between small and crepant resolutions, investigated by Reid in [Rei83]. In particular we are interested in the following two facts ([Rei83, Cor. 1.12] and [Rei83, Thm. 1.14]).

Proposition 2.1 Let X be a singular Gorenstein threefold with a small resolution $f: Y \longrightarrow X$. Then the singularities of X are of cDV type.

Proof It's not difficult to see that since f is small, then $f_*\omega_Y = \omega_X$ and so X has rational Gorenstein singularities. Let $P \in X$ be a singular point, then ([KM98, Thm 5.35]) the following are equivalent:

- 1. the general hypersurface section $P \in H \subseteq X$ is an elliptic singularity;
- 2. if $g: X' \longrightarrow X$ is any resolution of singularities then there is a crepant divisor $E \subseteq g^{-1}(P)$.

Since f is small, there is no divisor in $f^{-1}(P)$ and so the general hypersurface section through P is not an elliptic singularity. Then, by [KM98, Lemma 5.30] or [Rei80, Thm. (2.6)(I)], we have that the general hypersurface section through P must have a rational (i.e. Du Val) singularity, which proves that P is $cDV.\Box$

For threefolds with cDV singularities, we fully understand the link between small and crepant resolutions. Observe that the statement of Theorem 2.2 is more general, since it concerns *partial resolutions*, i.e. proper birational morphisms $Y \longrightarrow X$ where Y is assumed to be normal (not necessarily smooth).

Theorem 2.2 Let X be a threefold with cDV singularities (not necessarily isolated), and let $f : Y \longrightarrow X$ be a partial resolution. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. f is crepant;
- 2. f is small, and crepant above the general point of any 1-dimensional component of Sing X;
- 3. for every x in X and hypersurface H through x for which $x \in H$ is a Du Val singularity, $H' = f^{-1}(H)$ is normal and $f_{|_{H'}} : H' \longrightarrow H$ is crepant. Thus the minimal resolution of $x \in H$ factors through H'.

Proof See [Rei83, Thm. 1.14].

2.2 The singularities of Weierstrass fibrations

In this section I want to make some remarks on the singularities of Weierstrass fibrations over surfaces. Since all what I will say in this section is local in nature, here B will denote an open disc in \mathbb{C}^2 with coordinates (s, t). Hence a Weierstrass fibration is the variety defined in $\mathbb{P}^2 \times B$ by an equation of the form

$$y^{2}z = x^{3} + a_{4}(s,t)xz^{2} + a_{6}(s,t)z^{3}.$$

It's an easy computation with the Jacobian matrix to prove the following theorem

Theorem 2.3 If W is a Weierstrass fibration over B with discriminant locus Δ , then

- 1. the point (0:1:0) is never singular;
- 2. if W is singular at ((x : y : z), (s, t)), then y = 0;
- 3. W is singular at ((0:0:1), (s,t)) if and only if $a_4(s,t) = a_6(s,t) = 0$ and a_6 is singular in (s,t);
- 4. W is singular at ((x:0:1), (s,t)) with $x \neq 0$ if and only if $a_4(s,t) \neq 0$, $a_6(s,t) \neq 0$, $\Delta(s,t) = 0$ and Δ is singular in (s,t). Moreover in this case $x = -\frac{3a_6(s,t)}{2a_4(s,t)}$.

Proof See [Mir83, Prop. 2.1].

This means that the singular locus of W consists at most of curves, hence $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Sing} W \ge 2$.

Remark 2.2.1 Consider the Weierstrass model $p : W \longrightarrow B$ of an elliptic fibration $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ with dim X = 3. By Theorem 1.5, W is a hypersurface in a projective bundle over B, and we have just seen that its singular locus consists of isolated points or curves. So W is Gorenstein by Example 2.0.4.

Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth minimal elliptic threefold with Weierstrass model W, and call $f : X \longrightarrow W$ the morphism to the Weierstrass model. The following proposition summarizes the properties of f.

Proposition 2.4 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth minimal elliptic threefold, with Weierstrass model $p: W \longrightarrow B$. Then W is Gorenstein, has all singular points of cDV type and the morphism $f: X \longrightarrow W$ on the Weierstrass model is a small and crepant resolution.

Proof We know that that W is Gorenstein by Remark 2.2.1 and that the morphism f on the Weierstrass model is a small resolution by Proposition 1.6. By Proposition 2.1 this means that W has cDV singularities. Finally, by minimality of $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$, we have that the resolution $f : X \longrightarrow W$ (outside a finite number of points in Sing W) coincides with the minimal resolution of a Du Val singularity (compare to [Rei83, §2]), which is crepant. By Theorem 2.2 this means that $f : X \longrightarrow W$ is crepant.

As a consequence, we have a way to compute a canonical divisor of the total space of the elliptic fibration.

Proposition 2.5 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth minimal elliptic threefold with section S. Then

$$K_X = \pi^* K_B + \pi^* L$$

where L is the first Chern class of the line bundle $\mathcal{L} = (\pi_* i_* \mathcal{N}_{S|X})^{-1}$.

Proof Let $p: W \longrightarrow B$ be the Weierstrass model of X, with section Σ , and embed W in $Z = \mathbb{P}_h(p_*\mathcal{O}_W(3\Sigma))$ as in Theorem 1.5. In (1.11) we computed that

$$\omega_Z \otimes \mathcal{O}_Z(W) = \Pi^*(\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{L})$$

where \mathcal{L} is the fundamental line bundle of W, i.e. $\mathcal{L} = (p_{*\iota_*}\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W})^{-1}$. Let $j: W^{\text{reg}} \hookrightarrow W$ and $t: W \hookrightarrow Z$ be the inclusions, then

$$\omega_{W^{\mathrm{reg}}} = j^* t^* (\omega_Z \otimes \mathcal{O}_Z(W)) = j^* t^* \Pi^* (\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{L})$$

and so, since $\operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Sing} W \ge 2$,

$$\omega_W = j_* \omega_{W^{\text{reg}}} = j_* j^* t^* \Pi^* (\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{L}) = p^* (\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{L}).$$

Observe that the morphism to the Weierstrass model $f : X \longrightarrow W$ induces an isomorphism between open neighbourhoods of S and Σ respectively, so $\mathcal{L} = (p_* \iota_* \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W})^{-1} = (\pi_* i_* \mathcal{N}_{S|X})^{-1}$. Since f is a crepant resolution we finally have

$$\omega_X = f^* \omega_W = \pi^* (\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{L}).$$

The results on singularities exposed up to now, in particular the third condition in Theorem 2.2, make the proof of the following propositions straightforward. Observe that Theorem 2.7 gives a partial answer to the problem of classifying the non-Kodaira fibres.

Theorem 2.6 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth minimal elliptic threefold with section, with Weierstrass model W defined by the equation $y^2z = x^3 + a_4xz^2 + a_6z^3$. Then there is no point $b \in B$ such that $\operatorname{mult}_b a_4 \ge 4$ and $\operatorname{mult}_b a_6 \ge 6$.

Proof Assume that $b \in B$ is a point such that $\operatorname{mult}_b a_4 \geq 4$ and $\operatorname{mult}_b a_6 \geq 6$. From [Rei80, Cor. 2.10] we see that the singular point (x : y : z) = (0 : 0 : 1) in the fibre over b is a rational Gorenstein singularity which is not cDV. So W can't have small resolutions, and in particular it can't be the Weierstrass model of a smooth minimal elliptic fibration $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$.

Theorem 2.7 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be a smooth minimal elliptic threefold with section. If $b \in B$ is a point such that the fibre X_b is of non-Kodaira type, then X_b is a contraction of the Kodaira fibre over b of the elliptic surface obtained restricting X to a generic smooth curve through b.

Proof Thanks to the Theorem 2.6 we must have $\operatorname{mult}_b a_4 \leq 3$ or $\operatorname{mult}_b a_6 \leq 5$. By [Mir89, Prop. III.3.2], the restriction of W to the generic smooth curve C through b is then an elliptic surface W_C with only Du Val singularities and finally, by Theorem 2.2, the fibre X_b is a contraction of the fibre predicted by the smooth minimal elliptic surface corresponding to W_C .

Examples of Theorem 2.7 are given in Section 1.3.1 and Section 6.2.3.

Remark 2.2.2 In a discussion, Prof. A. Grassi gave me an alternative proof of Theorem 2.6: in [Mir83] it's described how to desingularize a Weierstrass fibration, under further assumptions on the discriminant locus (e.g. its irreducible components must intersect transversally). If $b \in B$ is a point with $\operatorname{mult}_b a_4 \geq 4$ and $\operatorname{mult}_b a_6 \geq 6$, then following this procedure one has to blow-up the base surface at b, pull-back the fibration, and if necessary blow-up and pull-back again to reach Miranda's hypothesis. In this way we can desingularize the threefold, but this resolution is incompatible with the blow-ups performed on the base, and so it can't be blown-down to give a resolution of the original threefold.

Chapter 3

Calabi–Yau varieties

Calabi–Yau manifolds are the higher dimensional analogues of K3 surfaces. They are a class of varieties which are particularly simple, but having a great amount of interesting properties. Even if they are a subject of interest in its own, their study has been recently encouraged by physics, and in particular string theory: the mathematical models of F-theory are in fact all examples of Calabi–Yau varieties.

Definition A Calabi-Yau manifold is a projective smooth manifold X with

- 1. trivial canonical bundle $\omega_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$,
- 2. $h^{0,q} = 0$ for $q = 1, ... \dim X 1$, where $h^{p,q} = \dim H^q(X, \Omega_X^p)$.

Observe that if X is a Calabi–Yau manifold of dimension at least 3, then Pic $X \simeq NS(X) \simeq H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$. This is a well known fact, arising from the long exact sequence induced in cohomology by the exponential sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X^* \longrightarrow 0$$

on X. In fact we have

 $0 = H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X^*) \simeq \operatorname{Pic} X \longrightarrow H^2(X, \mathbb{Z}) \longrightarrow H^2(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0.$

Example 3.0.3 If X is a Calabi–Yau variety of dimension 1, then X is a smooth Riemann surface of genus 1. In fact, since deg $K_X = 2g(X)-2$ we have g(X) = 1, and viceversa any genus 1 Riemann surface has trivial canonical bundle. Observe that in this case, for dimensional reasons, the second condition in the definition above is empty.

In the case of dimension 2, X is Calabi–Yau if and only if it's a K3: this is due to the classification of surfaces.

In dimension 3, the Fermat quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 , and in fact any smooth quintic, is a classical example of Calabi–Yau variety (see for instance [GHJ03] and [CK99]). Other Calabi–Yau threefolds which are complete intersections in projective spaces are the complete intersection of two hypersurfaces of degree 3 in \mathbb{P}^5 , of a hyperquadric and a hypersurface of degree 4 in \mathbb{P}^5 , of two hyperquadric and a hypercubic in \mathbb{P}^6 or the complete intersection of four hyperquadrics in \mathbb{P}^7 . For other examples of Calabi–Yau manifolds, see e.g. [Hüb92].

Example 3.0.4 Let X be the variety in $\mathbb{P}^3 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ defined in Example 1.2.1, it's a smooth complete intersection defined by two equations of bidegree (3, 0) and (1, 3). We denote Y the variety of bidegree (3, 0), so by adjunction we have

$$K_Y = (K_{\mathbb{P}^3 \times \mathbb{P}^2} + Y)_{|_Y} = ((-4, -3) + (3, 0))_{|_Y} = (-1, -3)_{|_Y}.$$

Using adjunction again we can then compute the class of a canonical divisor on X. This last is defined as the restriction to Y of a variety of bidegree (1,3)and so its class in the Chow group of codimension 1 cycles in Y is $(1,3)_{|_Y}$. This means that X is an anticanonical variety in Y, but then

$$K_X = (K_Y + X)_{|_X} = 0_{|_X} = 0,$$

and so X is Calabi–Yau.

There are some extremely useful intersection theoretic properties of Calabi– Yau manifolds, which I want to point out here. The first is that the adjunction formula becomes very easy: in fact if $i: Y \to X$ is a smooth hypersurface, then

$$K_Y = i^* (K_X + Y) = i^* Y (3.1)$$

and so using the projection formula we have that the class of the codimension 2 cycle i_*K_Y in X is

$$i_*K_Y = i_*i^*Y = Y \cdot Y.$$
 (3.2)

This implies that

$$Y^{3} = Y^{2} \cdot Y = i_{*}K_{Y} \cdot Y = i_{*}(i^{*}Y \cdot K_{Y}) = i_{*}(K_{Y}^{2}).$$
(3.3)

Also the Riemann–Roch formula becomes easier. In fact, if D is any divisor in a Calabi–Yau threefold X, then

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_X(D)) = \frac{1}{6}D^3 + \frac{1}{12}D \cdot c_2(X),$$

where $c_2(X)$ denotes the second Chern class of the tangent bundle of X. The third fact is a result by Friedman ([Fri91, Lemma 4.4]), stating that for any smooth surface V in a Calabi–Yau threefold X the relation

$$V \cdot c_2(X) = \chi_{\rm top}(V) - K_V^2 \tag{3.4}$$

holds. In particular this is true for a section S, where the right side of the equation is then $\chi_{\text{top}}(B) - K_B^2$.

3.1 Singular Calabi–Yau varieties

For many purposes it's convenient not to restrict only to the case of smooth varieties, but to admit also some class of singularities. In this section I want to give a definition of Calabi–Yau variety which generalizes the one of Calabi–Yau manifold I gave before. The point in the definition of Calabi–Yau manifold is that the canonical line bundle is trivial, and what may fail when we are dealing with singular varieties is that the canonical sheaf is not a line bundle. From Chapter 2, we can bypass this problem requiring the variety to be Gorenstein.

Definition A Calabi–Yau variety is a normal projective variety X such that

- 1. X is Gorenstein;
- 2. $\omega_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_X;$
- 3. $h^{0,q} = 0$ for $q = 1, \dots, \dim X 1$.

An important class of examples of such singular Calabi–Yau varieties is provided by the Weierstrass models $p: W \longrightarrow B$ of the elliptic fibrations $\pi: X \longrightarrow B$ for which X is a Calabi–Yau manifold.

3.2 Calabi–Yau elliptic threefold

We now want to focus on the elliptic fibrations $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ for which the total space X is a smooth Calabi–Yau threefold. In this case we can compute the fundamental line bundle of the Weierstrass model of our fibration in an easy way, and we will find that

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B).$$

Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic threefold, with X and B smooth. Suppose also that X is a Calabi–Yau threefold, and that a section σ for π is given. We denote $S = \sigma(B)$ and so we have



We use the section S to put our fibration in Weierstrass form, finding a possibly singular elliptic threefold $p: W \longrightarrow B$ and a birational morphism $f: X \longrightarrow W$ such that $p \circ f = \pi$, so the diagram



commutes. Recall from Section 2.2 that this construction has two features:

1. the dimension of the singular locus of W is at most 1;

2. we have that $f_{|_{f^{-1}(W^{\text{reg}})}}: f^{-1}(W^{\text{reg}}) \longrightarrow W^{\text{reg}}$ is an isomorphism.

Moreover, W comes with a section $\Sigma = s(B)$ so that



commutes, and we observe that f is an isomorphism between open neighbourhoods of S and Σ .

Using this diagram and this last observation, we have that $p_*\iota_*\mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W} \simeq \pi_*i_*\mathcal{N}_{S|X}$, and I want to show that

$$\pi_* i_* \mathcal{N}_{S|X} \simeq \omega_B.$$

This follows from the adjunction and projection formulae and the fact that X is Calabi–Yau: since $i_*c_1(\mathcal{N}_{X|X}) = S^2$, using (3.2) we deduce that

$$i_*c_1(\mathcal{N}_{S|W}) = i_*K_S,$$

and so we finally have

$$\pi_* i_* c_1(\mathcal{N}_{S|X}) = \pi_* i_* K_S = \pi_* i_* \sigma'_* K_B = \pi_* \sigma_* K_B = K_B$$

The fundamental line bundle \mathcal{L} of $p: W \longrightarrow B$, which by definition is the inverse of $p_* \iota_* \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma|W}$, is then

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B).$$

This implies that we can map W isomorphically into the projective bundle

$$\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B(-2K_B)\oplus\mathcal{O}_B(-3K_B)\oplus\mathcal{O})\longrightarrow B$$

as a hypersurface. By Section 1.2.1, the class of W in this bundle is $[W] = -6\Pi^* K_B + 3\xi_W = -K_Z$, and so $\omega_W \simeq \mathcal{O}_W$.

Remark 3.2.1 The Calabi–Yau condition can be used to check the results obtained in Section 2.2. In fact, $f : X \longrightarrow W$ is a small resolution of the singularities of W, and so by Zariski's main theorem [Har77, Thm. 11.4] f has connected fibres and then

$$f_*\omega_X = f_*\mathcal{O}_X = \mathcal{O}_W = \omega_W$$

meaning that W has rational Gorenstein singularities. We can also check that f is crepant, in fact

$$f^*\omega_W = f^*\mathcal{O}_W = \mathcal{O}_X = \omega_X.$$

Chapter 4

A finiteness result

Let *B* be a smooth projective surface, and \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on *B*. Having clear in mind that Weierstrass fibrations naturally embed into a projective plane bundle over *B*, I want now to study the *smooth* Calabi–Yau hypersurfaces in the bundle of projective planes $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$, where *a* and *b* are fixed integers. More in detail, I want to study the generic element in the anticanonical system $|-K_Z|$ of *Z* and to prove the following proposition

Proposition 4.1 Let B be a smooth projective surface, and \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on B. Then only for a finite number of pairs (a, b) the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ is a smooth Calabi–Yau elliptic fibration over B.

I want to recall some facts from the theory of surfaces which I will use in the following. We denote by L the first Chern class of \mathcal{L} . By Nakai–Moishezon criterion we have that $L^2 > 0$, so as a consequence of the Hodge index theorem we have that for any divisor D on B the inequality

$$(LD)^2 \ge L^2 D^2$$

holds, and moreover we have equality if and only if rL = sD for some integer r and s.

4.1 The ambient bundle

Let's denote $E = \mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}$ and consider the bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(E)$, so it's not restrictive to assume that $a \ge b \ge 0$. It's easy to see that $c_1(E) = (a+b)L$, and so by (1.13)

$$c_1(Z) = \Pi^* c_1(B) + (a+b)\Pi^* L + 3\xi$$

where $\xi = c_1(\mathcal{O}_Z(1))$ and Π is the bundle projection. Since we want our variety to have class $-K_Z = c_1(Z)$, we see that it must be defined by a cubic equation in the variables x, y and z on the fibres because of the term 3ξ , say

$$F = \sum_{i+j+k=3} \alpha_{ijk} x^i y^j z^k,$$

and so we see that these varieties are also genus 1 fibrations over B. In this equation the coefficient of each monomial is a section of a line bundle on B according to Table 4.1.

Monomial	Coefficient	Weight
x^3	α_{300}	$c_1(B) - (2a - b)L$
x^2y	α_{210}	$c_1(B) - aL$
xy^2	α_{120}	$c_1(B) - bL$
y^3	$lpha_{030}$	$c_1(B) + (a - 2b)L$
x^2z	α_{201}	$c_1(B) - (a-b)L$
xyz	α_{111}	$c_1(B)$
$y^2 z$	α_{021}	$c_1(B) + (a-b)L$
xz^2	α_{102}	$c_1(B) + bL$
yz^2	α_{012}	$c_1(B) + aL$
z^3	α_{003}	$c_1(B) + (a+b)L$

Table 4.1: Weight of the coefficients

4.2 **Proof of the proposition**

I will divide the proof of Proposition 4.1 in several steps. In the first step I will show that only for a finite number of pairs (a, b) it's not clear if the genus 1 fibrations in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ are elliptic fibrations, i.e. if they admit a section. The second step will reduce the problem of the smoothness of the generic anticanonical hypersurface to a problem concerning only the intersection form on the base. This step will split in two subcases, which will be analysed in the third and fourth step.

4.2.1 Step 1

Since L is an ample divisor, there exists a suitable integer n_0 such that $nL + K_B$ is ample for any $n \ge n_0$. Taking into account the limitation $a \ge b \ge 0$, there is only a finite number of pairs (a, b) such that $2a - b < n_0$: in these cases we have a genus 1 fibration, but since the equation F defining the variety is general, it's difficult to see if there are sections or not.

The other cases satisfy $2a - b \ge n_0$: in this case $(2a - b)L + K_B$ is ample, hence

$$H^{0}(B, (b-2a)L - K_{B}) = H^{0}(B, -((2a-b)L + K_{B})) = 0,$$

and so the coefficient of x^3 is identically 0. So the equation for our variety looks like

 $F = \alpha_{210} x^2 y + \alpha_{201} x^2 z + \dots$

and then we have a section, given by

$$b\longmapsto (1:0:0)\in X_b.$$

4.2.2 Step 2

We now focus on the infinitely many cases where $2a - b \ge n_0$, so that we can exploit the presence of a section.

Let ∂ be any (local) derivation on B, and observe that

$$(\partial F)_{|_{(b,(1:0:0))}} = 0.$$

Since in a smooth fibration with a section the singularities in the fibres can't lie on the section (Proposition 1.1), the following system must have no solutions

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial F}{\partial x}_{|_{(b,(1:0:0))}} = 0\\ \frac{\partial F}{\partial y}_{|_{(b,(1:0:0))}} = \alpha_{210}(b) = 0\\ \frac{\partial F}{\partial x}_{|_{(b,(1:0:0))}} = \alpha_{201}(b) = 0. \end{cases}$$

This is equivalent to require that the curves defined by $\alpha_{210} = 0$ and $\alpha_{201} = 0$ have no common points, i.e. that

$$(c_1(B) - aL)(c_1(B) - (a - b)L) = 0.$$

Observe that now we have a problem concerning only the base and its intersection theoretic properties. Computing the quantity on the left, we find the degree 2 polynomial in (a, b)

$$a(a-b)L^{2} + (b-2a)c_{1}(B)L + c_{1}(B)^{2}.$$

Thinking to $(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, the equation

$$a(a-b)L^{2} + (b-2a)c_{1}(B)L + c_{1}(B)^{2} = 0$$
(4.1)

defines a plane conic, which is reducible if and only if

$$L^2 = 0$$
 or $(c_1(B)L)^2 = L^2 c_1(B)^2$.

The first case is impossible since we are assuming that L is ample. Our next step is then to study the conic defined in (4.1) when it is irreducible and when it is reducible, and to show that in each of these two cases we have only a finite number of integral points (a, b) in the octant $a \ge b \ge 0$.

4.2.3 Step 3

Let's concentrate first on the case when the conic (4.1) is irreducible: it is a hyperbola, with asymptotes

$$a = \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$$
 and $b = a - \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$.

The change of variables

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} a=a'+2b'\\ b=b' \end{array} \right.$$

is represented by a matrix in $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, hence preserves the integral lattice in \mathbb{R}^2 and the integral points on the hyperbola we are studying. In these new

coordinates the equation of hyperbola satisfies the hypothesis of [Zel], so we have both that the number of integral points on the conic is finite and a way to compute them. Using the previous transformation and the (simple) algorithm in [Zel], we have that the integral points of the conic (4.1) are among the following:

$$\begin{split} a_i &= \frac{\pm 2L^2 (c_1(B)L)^2 \mp 2(L^2)^2 c_1(B)^2 + d_i c_1(B)L}{d_i L^2} \\ b_i &= \pm \frac{4(L^2)^2 (c_1(B)L)^2 - 4(L^2)^3 c_1(B)^2 - d_i^2}{2d_i (L^2)^2}, \end{split}$$

where d_i runs through the (positive) divisors of $4(L^2)^2((c_1(B)L)^2 - c_1(B)^2L^2)$.

4.2.4 Step 4

We concentrate now in the case where the conic (4.1) is reducible, i.e. the case where $(c_1(B)L)^2 = L^2 c_1(B)^2$. The equation for the conic (4.1) is

$$(L^{2}a - c_{1}(B)L)(L^{2}a - L^{2}b - c_{1}(B)L) = 0.$$

As we said before, in this case (and only in this case) we have $rL = sc_1(B)$ for suitable integer r and s, and so $sc_1(B)L = rL^2$, which is the same as $\frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2} = \frac{r}{s}$: we have then two further subcases according to whether $\frac{r}{s}$ is a positive integer or not.

If $\frac{r}{s} \notin \mathbb{N}$, the two lines

$$a = \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$$
 and $b = a - \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$

have no integral points at all. This means that we have no new smooth Calabi–Yau fibrations.

If instead $\frac{r}{s} \in \mathbb{N}$, then in the range $a \ge b \ge 0$ we have a finite number of pairs (a, b) on the line $a = \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$, namely $\frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2} + 1 = \frac{r}{s} + 1$, and an infinite number of (a, b)'s on the line $b = a - \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}$. To give a limitation on the number of these last, we look at the coefficient of the first monomials in the equation F = 0. They are

Monomial	Weight of the coefficient
x^3	$-(b+\frac{r}{s})L$
x^2y	-bL
xy^2	$(\frac{r}{s}-b)L$
y^3	$(2\frac{r}{s}-b)L$

and so if $b - 2\frac{r}{s} > 0$, i.e. $b > 2\frac{r}{s}$, we have that $(b - 2\frac{r}{s})L$ is ample, hence

$$H^0\left(B, \left(2\frac{r}{s} - b\right)L\right) = H^0\left(B, -\left(b - 2\frac{r}{s}\right)L\right) = 0.$$

The same argument applies to the other three in the list since

$$b - 2\frac{r}{s} < b - \frac{r}{s} < b < b + \frac{r}{s}.$$
Hence the coefficients of x^3 , x^2y , xy^2 and y^3 are necessarily identically zero, and so the equation F for the variety factors as $F(x, y, z) = z \cdot f(x, y, z)$. Then F = 0can't define a smooth variety, and observe that z = 0 defines a divisor whose class is ξ , while f(x, y, z) = 0 defines a divisor of class $\Pi^*c_1(B) + (a+b)\Pi^*L + 2\xi$, which is neither a Calabi–Yau variety nor an elliptic fibration.

In particular, we have only a finite number of pairs (a, b) on the line $b = a - \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2} = a - \frac{r}{s}$ such that the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ could define a Calabi–Yau elliptic fibration over B, and a limitation is

$$\frac{r}{s} \le a \le 3\frac{r}{s}, \qquad 0 \le b \le 2\frac{r}{s}.$$
(4.2)

If $\frac{r}{s} \in \mathbb{N}$ we have then at most

$$3\frac{r}{s} + 1 = \underbrace{\left(\frac{r}{s} + 1\right)}_{\text{Pairs on the line}} + \underbrace{\left(2\frac{r}{s} + 1\right)}_{\text{Bairs on the line}} - \underbrace{\frac{1}{1}}_{\text{The common case}} \\ a = \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2} \qquad b = a - \frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2} \qquad (a,b) = \left(\frac{c_1(B)L}{L^2}, 0\right)$$

such pairs (a, b).

4.2.5 Conclusion

Only for a finite number of pairs (a, b) the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is a smooth Calabi–Yau elliptic fibration, which completes the proof of Proposition 4.1.

We can summarize the results obtained in the following table.

$(2a-b)L+K_B$ is	$(2a-b)L+K_B$ is ample			
not ample				
	$ \begin{array}{cc} (c_1(B)L)^2 & \neq \\ c_1(B)^2 L^2 & \end{array} $	$(c_1(B)L)^2 =$	$= c_1(B)^2 L^2$	
		$\frac{r}{s} \notin \mathbb{N}$	$\frac{r}{s} \in \mathbb{N}$	
Finite number	The conic (4.1)	No pairs.	Finite number of	
of cases. These	is irreducible,		cases, at most	
are a priori	and we have a		$3\frac{r}{s} + 1.$	
only genus one	finite number of			
fibrations. It's	cases.			
not clear if they				
have at least a				
section or not.				

4.3 Examples and remarks

I want now to run this program in some cases of interest: the case where the base B is a del Pezzo surface and L is a multiple of an anticanonical divisor,

and the case where $B = \mathbb{P}^2$ and L is general.

4.3.1 The case of del Pezzo surfaces

Let *B* denote a del Pezzo surface and \mathcal{L} a multiple of the anticanonical bundle (this is the most natural setting), say $\mathcal{L} = \omega_B^{-m}$, and observe that \mathcal{L} is ample for any $m \ge 1$. We can assume that m = 1, since $\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B = \omega_B^{-ma} \oplus \omega_B^{-mb} \oplus \mathcal{O}_B = \omega_B^{-\alpha} \oplus \omega_B^{-\beta} \oplus \mathcal{O}_B$ with $\alpha = ma$, $\beta = mb$. The divisor $nL + K_B = -(n-1)K_B$ is ample if $n-1 \ge 1$, or equivalently if

The divisor $nL + K_B = -(n-1)K_B$ is ample if $n-1 \ge 1$, or equivalently if $n \ge 2$. With the notation of Section 4.2.1 we have $n_0 = 2$, and then the pairs (a, b) for which we can't ensure the presence of a section, satisfying $2a - b < n_0$, are

$$(a,b) = (0,0), (1,1).$$

For all the other pairs, we are in the case described in Section 4.2.4, so we observe that

$$rL = -sK_B \iff \frac{r}{s} = 1.$$

The conic (4.1) has then this expression

$$(a-1)(a-b-1) = 0$$

and so we see only two points in the first octant on the line a = 1, namely (a, b) = (1, 0), (1, 1), while on the line b = a - 1 we have to take care of the limitation (4.2) $b \leq 2$ and so we see two other pairs, i.e. (a, b) = (2, 1) and (a, b) = (3, 2). This means that we have at most 5 possibilities for (a, b):

$$(0,0),$$
 $(1,1),$ $(1,0),$ $(2,1),$ $(3,2).$

4.3.2 The case of $B = \mathbb{P}^2$

Observe that if B is a smooth surface with Pic $B \simeq \mathbb{Z}$, then we are necessarily in the case described in Section 4.2.4. Take for example $B = \mathbb{P}^2$, and L = dlfor $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and l a line in \mathbb{P}^2 . Now we compute the least integer n_0 such that $n_0L + K_{\mathbb{P}^2}$ is ample: we find

$$n_0 = \begin{cases} 4 & \text{if } d = 1\\ 2 & \text{if } d = 2, 3\\ 1 & \text{if } d \ge 4, \end{cases}$$

so the cases where we can't apply the Kodaira vanishing theorem (Section 4.2.1), satisfying $2a - b < n_0$, are

(0,0), (1,0), (1,1), (2,1), (2,2), (3,3)	if $d = 1$
(0,0),(1,1)	if $d = 2, 3$
(0, 0)	if $d > 4$

Since $c_1(\mathbb{P}^2) = 3l$, we have

$$rdl = 3sl \iff rd = 3s \iff \frac{r}{s} = \frac{3}{d}$$

This means that we have only two cases in which the ratio $\frac{r}{s}$ is an integer, and correspond to

d = 1 and d = 3,

i.e. when L = l and $L = -K_{\mathbb{P}^2}$. For all the other cases, the only possible pair is then (a, b) = (0, 0), with the exception of L = 2l, which has also (a, b) = (1, 1). For d = 3, there are five possibilities: \mathbb{P}^2 is a del Pezzo surface and d = 3corresponds to $L = -K_{\mathbb{P}^2}$, and so we can use the results of the previous section.

d	Possible (a, b) 's
2	(0,0), (1,1)
3	(0,0), (1,0), (1,1), (2,1), (2,3)
≥ 4	(0, 0)

The only case left is d = 1 in the situation of Section (4.2.4). We have only to count the integral points on the conic

$$(a-3)(a-b-3) = 0$$

which are in the first octant and having $b \leq 6$ (estimate (4.2)): on the first line we have the points (3,2), (3,1) and (3,0), while on the second the points (4,1), (5,2), (6,3), (7,4), (8,5) and (9,6).

Then the pairs (a, b) such that the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})$ could be a smooth elliptic fibration are the following 15:

4.3.3 Remarks

I want to stress the fact that we proved that the number of genus 1 fibrations whose total space is smooth lie in a finite number of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$, but we don't know if all of them are elliptic fibrations. In the finite number of cases detected in Section 4.2.1 it's not clear if there is at least a section; we will see this fact in Chapter 5, where we will analyse more in detail the 15 families over \mathbb{P}^2 .

4.4 Chern classes

We want to compute the Chern classes of $X \in |-K_Z|$. We have $i: X \hookrightarrow Z$, and the normal bundle sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow i^* T_Z \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}_{X|Z} \longrightarrow 0,$$

which gives the following relation between the Chern polynomials

$$i^*c(Z) = c(X)c(\mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) = c(X)i^*(1-K_Z).$$

The Chern polynomial of Z was computed in Remark 1.2.4 (p. 17), and $(1-K_Z)$ has as formal inverse

$$(1 - K_Z)^{-1} = 1 + K_Z + K_Z^2 + K_Z^3 + K_Z^4.$$

Then

$$c(X) = i^* \left(\frac{c(T_{Z|B})}{1 - K_Z} \Pi^* c(B) \right),$$
(4.3)

and an explicit computation shows that

- 1. the first Chern class of X vanishes, as expected since X is Calabi–Yau;
- 2. the second Chern class of X is the restriction to X of

$$3\xi^{2} + (2\Pi^{*}c_{1}(E) + 3\Pi^{*}c_{1}(B))\xi + \Pi^{*}(c_{1}(E)c_{1}(B) + c_{2}(E) + c_{2}(B));$$

3. the third Chern class of X is the restriction to X of

$$-9\Pi^* c_1(B)\xi^2 - \Pi^* (2c_1(E)^2 + 6c_1(E)c_1(B) + 3c_1(B)^2 - 6c_2(E))\xi,$$

which is a codimension 3 cycle on X whose degree is

$$-6c_1(E)^2 - 18c_1(B)^2 + 18c_2(E). (4.4)$$

In our case, with $E = \mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B$, the Chern classes of the vector bundle are then

$$c_1(E) = (a+b)L,$$

 $c_2(E) = abL^2,$
 $c_3(E) = 0,$

so we have the following formulae for the Chern classes of X:

$$c_{1}(X) = 0,$$

$$c_{2}(X) = 3\xi_{|_{X}}^{2} + \pi^{*}(2(a+b)L + 3c_{1}(B))\xi_{|_{X}} + \pi^{*}((a+b)Lc_{1}(B) + abL^{2} + c_{2}(B)),$$

$$c_{3}(X) = \chi_{top}(X) = -6(a^{2} - ab + b^{2})L^{2} - 18c_{1}(B)^{2}.$$
(4.5)

Chapter 5

Classification over \mathbb{P}^2

In this chapter I want to use the results in Chapter 4 and Appendix A to give a detailed description of the elliptic threefolds X which are anticanonical hypersurfaces in the projective bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})$ over $\mathbb{P}^{2,1}$. We have coordinates in the fibres of this bundles, which we call x, y and z; in particular (compare with (1.8))

$$\begin{aligned} x &\in H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(1) \otimes \Pi^* \mathcal{O}(a)), \\ y &\in H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(1) \otimes \Pi^* \mathcal{O}(b)), \\ z &\in H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(1)). \end{aligned}$$
 (5.1)

We let $\xi = c_1(\mathcal{O}_Z(1))$, and since z is a section in $H^0(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(1))$ then the class of the divisor z = 0 is ξ . We will use this fact to compute the Chern classes of anticanonical subvarieties, as shown in formula (4.5), and refer to ξ as an hyperplane section of Z.

In Section 4.3.2 we saw that a generic cubic equation

$$F = \sum_{i+j+k=3} \alpha_{ijk} x^i y^j z^k$$

defines a smooth Calabi–Yau elliptic threefold X in Z only if the pair (a, b) is one of the following 15

The coefficients α_{ijk} appearing in F are homogeneous polynomials of suitable degree, according to Table 4.1, p. 33. In the first 6 cases the polynomial F is general, so there is a priori no obvious section, while for the other cases $b \mapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b$ defines a section, since α_{300} vanishes identically. In the Table 5.1 there are the degrees of the coefficients, computed using Table 4.1, and an empty cell means that the corresponding coefficient is necessarily identically 0.

¹In the rest of this chapter I will omit the subscript \mathbb{P}^2 .

(a,b)	α_{300}	α_{210}	α_{120}	α_{030}	α_{201}	α_{111}	α_{021}	α_{102}	α_{012}	α_{003}
(0,0)	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
(1,0)	1	2	3	4	2	3	4	3	4	4
(1,1)	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	4	4	5
(2,1)	0	1	2	3	2	3	4	4	5	6
(2,2)	1	1	1	1	3	3	3	5	5	7
(3,3)	0	0	0	0	3	3	3	6	6	9
(3,2)		0	1	2	2	3	4	5	6	8
(3,1)		0	2	4	1	3	5	4	6	7
(3,0)		0	3	6	0	3	6	3	6	6
(4,1)			2	5	0	3	6	4	7	8
(5,2)			1	4	0	3	6	5	8	10
(6,3)			0	3	0	3	6	6	9	12
(7,4)				2	0	3	6	7	10	14
(8,5)				1	0	3	6	8	11	16
(9,6)				0	0	3	6	9	12	18

Table 5.1: Degrees of the coefficients

Using the algorithm described in Appendix A, we can compute the Hodge numbers of the anticanonical subvarieties of Z: since these are Calabi–Yau threefolds, the only interesting Hodge numbers are $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$. In Table 5.2 I will list the following results:

- 1. $h^{1,1}(X)$, which equals $\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic} X$ as observed in Chapter 3;
- 2. $h^{2,1}(X)$, which by Bogomolov–Tian–Todorov theorem is the dimension of the space of deformations of X;
- 3. the Euler–Poincaré characteristic of X, $\chi_{top}(X) = 2(h^{1,1}(X) h^{2,1}(X))$. Observe that these results agrees with formula (4.5);
- 4. the rank of the Mordell–Weil group of X in the generic case, an empty cell means that X has no section.

(a,b)	$h^{1,1}(X)$	$h^{2,1}(X)$	$\chi_{top}(X)$	$\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{MW}(X)$	Chapter
(0,0)	2	83	-162		5.2
(1,0)	2	86	-168		5.2
(1,1)	2	86	-168		5.2
(2,1)	2	92	-180		5.2
(2,2)	2	95	-186		5.2

Table 5.2: Hodge numbers

(3,3)	4	112	-216	2	5.3
(3,2)	3	105	-204	1	5.4
(3,1)	3	105	-204	1	5.4
(3,0)	3	111	-216	1	5.4, 6.1, 6.5
(4,1)	3	123	-240	1	5.5
(5,2)	3	141	-276	1	5.5
(6,3)	3	165	-324	1	5.5, 6.3, 6.4
(7,4)	3	195	-384	0	5.6
(8,5)	3	231	-456	0	5.6
(9,6)	2	272	-540	0	5.7

This chapter is devoted to a case by case analysis of these 15 families. In particular, I will give the Weierstrass equation of each family with at least a section, compute the intersection form on the Picard group and describe (rational) sections which are Mordell–Weil generators. I will also check that all the deformations of our X's come from deformations of the defining polynomial F, and in some case I will give also canonical equations.

The sections of a fibration (if any) will be denoted by S or by S_0, S_1, \ldots , in this last case the Weierstrass equation will be computed with respect to S_0 . The pull-back to X of a line l in \mathbb{P}^2 will be denoted by L, then L^2 is the class of a fibre.

Observe from Table 5.2 that $h^{1,1}(X) \ge 2$ for all the families we are considering. This is not a case since rk Pic Z = 2 and I will now show that the restriction map $i^* : \text{Pic } Z \longrightarrow \text{Pic } X$ is injective.

Proposition 5.1 Let X be a smooth elliptic threefold which is an anticanonical divisor in $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$, and denote by $i : X \hookrightarrow Z$ the inclusion. Then the restriction map

$$i^* : \operatorname{Pic} Z \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} X$$

is injective.

Proof The Picard group of Z has rank 2 and is generated by $\Pi^* l$ and ξ (compare to Appendix A.1.2). The first of these divisors restricts to L, which is a non-trivial vertical divisor with $L^3 = 0$. It's then enough to show $i^*\xi^3 \neq 0$ to prove the linear independence of L and $i^*\xi$. The degree of $i^*\xi^3$ is the same as the degree of $i_*i^*\xi^3 = \xi^3 X$, and this cycle in Z is

$$\xi^3 X = \xi^3 ((3+a+b)L+3\xi) = (2a^2+ab+2b^2-3a-3b)L^2\xi^2,$$

where $X = (3 + a + b)L + 3\xi$ was computed in (1.13), and we used the relation $\xi^3 + (a + b)L\xi^2 + abL^2\xi = 0$, which holds by the very definition of the Chern classes of Z. It's then straightforward to check that

$$i^*\xi^3 = 2a^2 + ab + 2b^2 - 3a - 3b$$

does not vanish when the pair (a, b) is one of the 15 we are dealing with. \Box

Remark 5.0.1 Actually, in the case (a, b) = (0, 0) we find $i^*\xi^3 = 0$. To see that L and $i^*\xi$ are independent also in this case, we can use [Mir89, Lemma VII.1.4] and the fact that $i^*\xi$ is a divisor which intersects the generic fibre in three points to deduce that $i^*\xi$ is not linearly equivalent to a vertical divisor. This implies that L and $\xi_{|_X}$ are linearly independent.

This result is interesting and also non-trivial, since we can't apply Lefschetz hyperplane theorem [Laz04, Thm. 3.1.17]: in fact our X's are not ample, since Z is typically not Fano.

Observe also that $\operatorname{rk} MW(X) = h^{1,1}(X) - 2$ except for the cases (a, b) = (7, 4), (8, 5). According to the Shioda–Tate–Wazir formula (Theorem 1.3), this means that the generic fibration in each family has no vertical divisors, except in these two cases where we expect to have a vertical divisor.

5.1 The number of parameters

In this section I want to prove the following result, concerning the number of moduli of the 15 families of Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations I'm going to study. Roughly speaking, I want to show that all the deformations of a fibration $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ can be realized by deformations of the defining equation F = 0 for X. I will also give a practical algorithm to compute $h^{2,1}(X)$, which by Bogomolov–Tian–Todorov theorem is the dimension of the space of deformations of X.

Proposition 5.2 Let X be an anticanonical hypersurface in $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$. Then all the deformations of X comes from deformations of X inside Z. More precisely,

$$h^{2,1}(X) = n(-K_Z) - 8 - n_Z|_{\mathbb{P}^2},$$

where $n(-K_Z) = h^0(Z, -K_Z) - 1$ is the number of parameters for the generic equation of a threefold in the family, and $n_{Z|\mathbb{P}^2}$ is the dimension of the group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(Z)$ of the automorphisms of Z over \mathbb{P}^2 , i.e. those automorphisms $Z \longrightarrow Z$ such that



commutes.

In fact, from Remark A.3.1 we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X) \longrightarrow 0,$$

which implies that

$$h^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X) = h^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) - h^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z).$$

Since sections in $H^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X)$ and in $H^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z})$ correspond to first order deformations of X and to first order deformations of X inside Z respectively, the first part of the proposition follows from the surjectivity of the last map in the sequence.

By (A.1) we have $h^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X) = h^{2,1}(X)$ (which is the number of moduli of X), and if F is an equation for $X \subseteq Z$, then F depends on $h^0(Z, -K_Z)$ linear parameters. Finally, by [BC94, Rmk. 12.6] $h^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z)$ is the dimension of the group Aut Z of automorphisms of Z. In Appendix A, I also compute $h^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z})$ and $h^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z)$, finding that

$$h^{0}(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) = h^{0}(Z, -K_{Z}) - 1,$$

$$h^{0}(Z, \mathcal{T}_{Z}) = \sum_{i=1}^{6} h^{0}(Z, D_{i}) - 2.$$

where D_1, \ldots, D_6 are the torus-invariant divisors of Z. We can obviously write

$$h^{0}(Z, \mathcal{T}_{Z}) = \sum_{i=1}^{6} h^{0}(Z, D_{j}) - 2 = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} h^{0}(Z, D_{j}) - 1\right) + \left(\sum_{i=4}^{6} h^{0}(Z, D_{j}) - 1\right),$$

and since from Appendix A.1.2 the divisors D_1 , D_2 and D_3 have class Π^*l , then $\sum_{i=1}^{3} h^0(Z, D_j) - 1$ is the contribution of the automorphism group of the base \mathbb{P}^2 , i.e. PGL(3, \mathbb{C}). In fact (see Appendix A.2.4)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} h^0(Z, D_j) - 1 = 3 + 3 + 3 - 1 = 8.$$

It's also possible to see that $\sum_{i=4}^{6} h^0(Z, D_j) - 1$ is the dimension of the group of automorphisms of Z acting fibrewise. We conclude that we can compute $h^{2,1}(X)$ as follows:

- 1. compute the number $n(-K_Z)$ of parameters of the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O});$
- 2. compute the dimension $n_{Z|\mathbb{P}^2}$ of the group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(Z)$;
- 3. then $h^{2,1}(X) = n(-K_Z) 8 n_{Z|\mathbb{P}^2}$.

I will give an example on how this algorithm works in Section 6.1.1.

5.2 The families (0,0), (1,0), (1,1), (2,1), (2,2)

5.2.1 The cubic form

As it's clear from Table 5.2, all these families have rk Pic X = 2 and so, by Proposition 5.1, $L = \pi^* l$ and $R = \xi_{|_X}$ are a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic $X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}^2$. Let's begin with a more precise description of R. By its definition it is given by

$$R: \left\{ \begin{array}{l} F=0\\ z=0 \end{array} \right. \longrightarrow \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0\\ z=0, \end{array} \right.$$

and in general the polynomial equation $\alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0$ has three distinct solutions. This number decreases when its discriminant

²By abuse of language, I will simply say that a set of divisors is a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X.

vanishes, i.e. over the curve

$$C: \alpha_{210}^2 \alpha_{120}^2 - 4\alpha_{300} \alpha_{120}^3 - 4\alpha_{210}^3 \alpha_{030} + 18\alpha_{300} \alpha_{210} \alpha_{120} \alpha_{030} - 27\alpha_{300}^2 \alpha_{030}^2 = 0,$$
(5.2)

Then $R = X \cap \{z = 0\}$ defines a 3 : 1 covering of \mathbb{P}^2 branched along this curve, which is in general singular since it's the discriminant of a cubic polynomial. Now we begin the calculation of the intersection numbers. Since R is a 3 : 1 covering of the base, then $L^2R = 3$. So we have the intersection numbers

	L	R
L^2	0	3
LR	3	?

and since det $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 \\ 3 & ? \end{pmatrix} = -9 \neq 0$, we have a confirmation that $\{L, R\}$ is a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X.

Now we want to calculate the intersection numbers LR^2 and R^3 . Let $i: X \hookrightarrow Z$ be the inclusion, and $\Pi: Z \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^2$ the bundle projection; then the fibration is $\pi = \Pi \circ i$, and so letting $\Lambda = \Pi^* l$ then $L = i^* \Lambda$ and $R = i^* \xi$. This implies that

$$LR^2 = i^* (\Lambda \xi^2)$$
$$R^3 = i^* \xi^3$$

and so using the projection formula and (1.13)

$$\begin{split} i_*(LR^2) &= \Lambda \xi^2 X = 3 - 2a - 2b \\ i_R^3 &= \xi^3 X = 2a^2 + ab + 2b^2 - 3a - 3b \end{split}$$

The whole intersection table is then

	L	R
L^2	0	3
LR	3	3 - 2a - 2b
R^2	3 - 2a - 2b	$2a^2 + ab + 2b^2 - 3a - 3b$

and we conclude that the cubic form is given by

(a,b)	$(\alpha L + \beta R)^3$
(0,0)	9lphaeta(lpha+eta)
(1,0)	$\beta(9\alpha^2 + 3\alpha\beta - \beta^2)$
(1,1)	$\beta(9\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta - \beta^2)$

(2,1)	$3\beta(3\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta + \beta^2)$
(2,2)	$\beta(9\alpha^2 - 15\alpha\beta + 8\beta^2)$

5.2.2 Sections

As pointed out before, the presence of all the coefficients in F make it difficult to decide whether or not we have sections. We can use the results on the intersection form to solve this problem. In fact, any section S satisfies the following intersection theoretic requirements:

- 1. $L^2S = 1$, since L^2 is the class of the generic fibre;
- 2. $c_2(X)S = -6$ by Friedman's result (3.4);
- 3. $S^3 = 9$, since $S^3 = K^2_{\mathbb{P}^2}$ by (3.3).

Let $\alpha L + \beta R$ be the class of a section, with $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Q}$. Then we have

$$1 = L^2(\alpha L + \beta R) = \beta L^2 R = 3\beta,$$

which implies that $\beta = \frac{1}{3}$. The second condition gives a linear relation among α and β , since the pairing with $c_2(X)$ defines a linear form on Pic X. Using (4.5) we can compute $c_2(X)$, and thanks to the intersection table above we can compute $c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta R)$. The results are:

(a,b)	$c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta R)$
(0, 0)	$-18\alpha - 18\beta$
(1,0)	-18lpha-10eta
(1,1)	$-18\alpha - 4\beta$
(2,1)	$-18\alpha + 6\beta$
(2,2)	$-18\alpha + 14\beta$

Since $\beta = \frac{1}{3}$, we can compute α using the second condition. Then computing $(\alpha L + \beta R)^3$ we can check if the result is 9 or not. We have

(a,b)	(α, β)	$(\alpha L + \beta R)^3$
(0, 0)	$\left(0,\frac{1}{3}\right)$	0
(1, 0)	$\left(\frac{4}{27},\frac{1}{3}\right)$	$\frac{19}{243}$
(1, 1)	$\left(\frac{7}{27},\frac{1}{3}\right)$	$\frac{19}{243}$
(2, 1)	$\left(\frac{4}{9},\frac{1}{3}\right)$	$\frac{7}{27}$
(2, 2)	$\left(\frac{16}{27}, \frac{1}{3}\right)$	$\frac{88}{243}$

We proved that the generic family in all of these cases has no sections.

5.3 The family (3,3) and the E_6 family

The polynomial defining a generic fibration of type (3,3), i.e. an anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$, is of the form

$$F = \alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + z(\ldots),$$

with $\alpha_{300}, \alpha_{210}, \alpha_{120}, \alpha_{030} \in \mathbb{C}$, so intersecting X with the hypersurface of Z given by z = 0 we fall into one and only one of the following possibilities:

- 1. the equation $\alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0$ has one solution, i.e. z = 0 defines a section in X,
- 2. the equation $\alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0$ has two solutions, i.e. z = 0 defines two sections in X,
- 3. the equation $\alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0$ has three solutions, i.e. z = 0 defines three sections in X.

It's easy to see that the first two cases lead to singular X's, so we discard them and concentrate only on the third: such family is known in the literature as E_6 family (see e.g. [AE10]).

The fact that we have three *distinct* sections allows us to find a simple canonical form. The sections are given by

$$\begin{cases} F = 0 \\ z = 0 \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} \alpha_{300}x^3 + \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 = 0 \\ z = 0, \end{cases}$$

and we call the three solution of the first equation $(x_0 : y_0)$, $(x_1 : y_1)$ and $(x_2 : y_2)$. Then the homography

$$\begin{cases} x = x_1(y_0x_2 - x_0y_2)x' + x_0(x_2y_1 - x_1y_2)y' \\ y = y_1(y_0x_2 - x_0y_2)x' + y_0(x_2y_1 - x_1y_2)y' \\ z = z' \end{cases}$$

puts these sections in a standard position, i.e. sends

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(x_0 : y_0 : 0)\} \longmapsto S_0 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(0 : 1 : 0)\}$$
$$\mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(x_1 : y_1 : 0)\} \longmapsto S_1 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(1 : 0 : 0)\}$$
$$\mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(x_2 : y_2 : 0)\} \longmapsto S_2 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(1 : -1 : 0)\}$$

and so allows us to assume that the equation of the family X looks like (using not-primed letters)

$$x^{2}y + xy^{2} + \alpha_{201}x^{2}z + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{021}y^{2}z + \alpha_{102}xz^{2} + \alpha_{012}yz^{2} + \alpha_{003}z^{3}.$$

Applying finally the homography

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \alpha_{021}z' \\ y = y' + \alpha_{201}z' \\ z = z' \end{cases}$$

we obtain the canonical form of an E_6 family (I use not-primed variables again):

$$x^{2}y + xy^{2} + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{102}xz^{2} + \alpha_{012}yz^{2} + \alpha_{003}z^{3} = 0.$$
 (5.3)

Observe that this canonical form is not the same as that of the E_6 fibrations described in [AE10, Sect. 1.7], but it's equivalent to this last: the difference is in the choice of the "standard position" for the three sections.

5.3.1 The cubic form of the E_6 family

To compute the cubic form, we can assume that X is in canonical form (5.3)

$$X: F = x^2y + xy^2 + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0.$$

In this case, the intersection of X and the divisor z = 0 in Z gives three distinct sections, namely

$$\begin{cases} F = 0 \\ z = 0 \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\qquad S_0 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(0:1:0)\}} \\ S_1 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(1:0:0)\} \\ S_2 = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(1:-1:0)\} \end{cases}$$

I will now show that L and the three sections S_0 , S_1 and S_2 give a Q-basis for Pic X. Since each S_i is a section, isomorphic to \mathbb{P}^2 , we have that $L^2S_i = 1$ and $S_i^3 = 9$ by (3.3). Observe also that $LS_i = L_{|S_i|}$ is the class of a line in the section S_i : this means that³

$$LS_i^2 = LS_i \cdot S_i = (L_{|S_i|})(S_{|S_i|}) = -3,$$

because $S_{|S_i|}$ is the class of a canonical divisor in S by (3.2). Finally, if $i \neq j$ then S_i is disjoint from S_j , hence $S_i S_j = 0$. We have then the intersection table of our variety:

	L	S_0	S_1	S_2
L^2	0	1	1	1
LS_0	1	-3	0	0
LS_1	1	0	-3	0
LS_2	1	0	0	-3
S_0^2	-3	9	0	0
S_0S_1	0	0	0	0

³Observe the abuse of notation: to be precise, by the projection formula for the inclusion map $j_i: S_i \hookrightarrow X$ we have $LS_i^2 = LS_i \cdot S_i = j_{i*}((L_{|S_i})(S_{|S_i})) = j_{i*}(-3L_{|S_i}^2)$, whose degree is then deg $LS_i^2 = -3$.

S_0S_2	0	0	0	0
S_{1}^{2}	-3	0	9	0
S_1S_2	0	0	0	0
S_{2}^{2}	-3	0	0	9

Observe that the matrix obtained considering the first 4 rows of the previous table has non vanishing determinant:

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & -3 & 0 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & -3 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix} = -27 \neq 0,$$

this means that L, S_0 , S_1 and S_2 are \mathbb{Q} -linearly independent, hence by Table 5.2 that they are a \mathbb{Q} -basis.

The cubic form is then

$$(\alpha L + \beta_0 S_0 + \beta_1 S_1 + \beta_2 S_2)^3 =$$

= $3\alpha^2(\beta_0 + \beta_1 + \beta_2) - 9\alpha(\beta_0^2 + \beta_1^2 + \beta_2^2) + 9(\beta_0^3 + \beta_1^3 + \beta_2^3).$

Observe that after the change of coordinates

$$\begin{cases} \alpha = A \\ \beta_0 = B_0 + \frac{1}{3}A \\ \beta_1 = B_1 + \frac{1}{3}A \\ \beta_2 = B_2 + \frac{1}{3}A \end{cases}$$

the expression of the cubic form becomes basically a Fermat cubic:

$$(AL + B_0S_0 + B_1S_1 + B_2S_2)^3 = A^3 + 9B_0^3 + 9B_1^3 + 9B_2^3.$$

5.3.2 The number of sections of the E_6 family

Thanks to the intersection table computed in the previous section, we can now show that the three sections S_0 , S_1 and S_2 are the only sections of this type of fibrations.

Let $\alpha L + \beta_0 S_0 + \beta_1 S_1 + \beta_2 S_2$ be the class of a section. In Section 5.2.2 we discussed three intersection theoretic properties of a section, which give the system

$$\begin{cases} L^{2}(\alpha L + \beta_{0}S_{0} + \beta_{1}S_{1} + \beta_{2}S_{2}) = 1\\ (\alpha L + \beta_{0}S_{0} + \beta_{1}S_{1} + \beta_{2}S_{2})^{3} = 9\\ c_{2}(X) \cdot (\alpha L + \beta_{0}S_{0} + \beta_{1}S_{1} + \beta_{2}S_{2}) = -6. \end{cases}$$

Using (4.5), we can compute that

$$c_2(X) = 3(S_0^2 + S_1^2 + S_2^2) + 21L(S_0 + S_1 + S_2) + 30L^2;$$

and so the previous system reduces to

$$\begin{cases} \beta_0 + \beta_1 + \beta_2 = 1\\ 3\alpha^2(\beta_0 + \beta_1 + \beta_2) - 9\alpha(\beta_0^2 + \beta_1^2 + \beta_2^2) + 9(\beta_0^3 + \beta_1^3 + \beta_2^3) = 9\\ 36\alpha - 6\beta_0 - 6\beta_1 - 6\beta_2 = -6. \end{cases}$$

This last has as solution

$$\begin{cases} \alpha = 0 \\ \beta_0 = 1 - \beta_1 - \beta_2 \\ (\beta_1 - 1)(\beta_2 - 1)(\beta_1 + \beta_2) = 0 \end{cases}$$

and so the class of a section can be only one of the following three:

Type 0	$S_0 + \beta S_1 - \beta S_2$
Type 1	$\beta S_0 + S_1 - \beta S_2$
Type 2	$\beta S_0 - \beta S_1 + S_2$

I now want to show that if we consider a class of type 0 which is the class of a section, then $\beta = 0$, so that we obtain the class of S_0 . The same argument for the other two types then shows that S_0 , S_1 and S_2 are the only classes to which a section can belong. First of all observe that

$$(S_0 + \beta S_1 - \beta S_2)^2 = S_0^2 + \beta^2 S_1^2 + \beta^2 S_2^2,$$

and so

$$K_{\mathbb{P}^2} = \pi_*((S_0 + \beta S_1 - \beta S_2)^2) = \pi_*(S_0^2 + \beta^2 S_1^2 + \beta^2 S_2^2) = (1 + 2\beta^2)K_{\mathbb{P}^2}.$$

Since $\operatorname{Pic} \mathbb{P}^2 = \mathbb{Z}$ we can deduce that $\beta = 0$. The last thing to do is to show that in each linear system $|S_i|$ there is only one element: assume that D_i is an effective divisor linearly equivalent to S_i , but different from S_i , then

$$0 \le D_i S_i L = S_i^2 L = -3,$$

which is absurd.

5.3.3 The Mordell–Weil group of the E_6 family

Thanks to the presence of at least one section, we can calculate the Weierstrass form of a Calabi–Yau elliptic fibration X of the (3,3) family. After we put X in canonical form (5.3), we choose S_0 as 0-section, and using the methods described in [Cas91, Chap. 8] we find that the Weierstrass model has equation $y^2z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ with

$$\begin{split} A &= -\frac{1}{3}\alpha_{111}^4 + \frac{8}{3}\alpha_{111}^2\alpha_{102} + \frac{8}{3}\alpha_{111}^2\alpha_{012} - \frac{16}{3}\alpha_{102}^2 + \\ &+ \frac{16}{3}\alpha_{102}\alpha_{012} - \frac{16}{3}\alpha_{012}^2 + 8\alpha_{111}\alpha_{003}; \\ B &= \frac{2}{27}\alpha_{111}^6 - \frac{8}{9}\alpha_{111}^4\alpha_{102} - \frac{8}{9}\alpha_{111}^4\alpha_{102} + \frac{32}{9}\alpha_{111}^2\alpha_{102}^2 + \frac{16}{9}\alpha_{111}^2\alpha_{102}\alpha_{012} + \\ &+ \frac{32}{9}\alpha_{111}^2\alpha_{012}^2 + \frac{8}{3}\alpha_{111}^3\alpha_{003} - \frac{128}{27}\alpha_{102}^3 + \frac{64}{9}\alpha_{102}^2\alpha_{012} + \frac{64}{9}\alpha_{102}\alpha_{102}\alpha_{012}^2 + \\ &- \frac{128}{27}\alpha_{012}^3 - \frac{32}{3}\alpha_{111}\alpha_{102}\alpha_{003} - \frac{32}{3}\alpha_{111}\alpha_{012}\alpha_{003} + 16\alpha_{003}^2. \end{split}$$

It's then possible to compute the discriminant locus $\Delta = 4A^3 + 27B^2$, which is an irreducible curve over which we have nodal fibres.

Using the description of Pic X given in the previous section and the exact sequences (1.3) and (1.5), we have that the two sections S_1 and S_2 give a set of \mathbb{Q} -generators⁴ for MW(X), which then has rank 2.

Observe that this is the rank of the Mordell–Weil group of the generic E_6 fibration, in fact we can specialize the equation to find subfamilies of type E_6 with rank of the Mordell–Weil group 1 or 0. The tangent line to the fibre X_b in (0:1:0) is x = 0, this line intersects the fibre in another point, having coordinates $(0:-\alpha_{003}(b):\alpha_{012}(b))$. For the generic choice of the coefficients α_{012} and α_{003} , this point is different from (0:1:0), but if we consider the subfamily with $\alpha_{012} = 0$ identically, then S_0 cuts each fibre in a flex point. The equation of the generic member of this subfamily is

$$x^2y + xy^2 + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0$$

and its discriminant is

$$\Delta = \alpha_{003}^2 (\alpha_{111}^4 \alpha_{102} - 8\alpha_{111}^2 \alpha_{102}^2 - \alpha_{111}^3 \alpha_{003} + 16\alpha_{102}^3 + 36\alpha_{111}\alpha_{102}\alpha_{003} - 27\alpha_{003}^2).$$

Over the curve $\alpha_{003} = 0$, of degree 9, we now have fibres of type I_2 , to be more precise over this curve the fibres have equation

$$x(xy + y^2 + \alpha_{111}yz + \alpha_{102}z^2).$$

The main difference with the generic family is the presence of two new vertical divisors: the divisor T defined by the line x = 0 over the curve $\alpha_{003} = 0$ and the divisor Q defined by the conic $xy + y^2 + \alpha_{111}yz + \alpha_{102}z^2 = 0$ over the same curve.

In Pic X we have $T = \alpha L + \beta_0 S_0 + \beta_1 S_1 + \beta_2 S_2$, and now I want to determine the coefficients. To do that I need the following informations:

- 1. $TL^2 = 0$ since T is vertical;
- 2. $T \cdot LS_1 = T \cdot LS_2 = 0$ since T is disjoint from S_1 and S_2 ;
- 3. $T \cdot LS_0 = 9$ since $T \cdot LS_0 = (T_{|_{S_0}})(L_{|_{S_0}})$ and $T_{|_{S_0}}$ is a curve of degree 9, isomorphic to $\alpha_{003} = 0$.

Using the intersection table we computed previously, we can write a system in α , β_0 , β_1 and β_2 whose solution gives

$$T = 3L - 2S_0 + S_1 + S_2,$$

and since T + Q = 9L we also have

$$Q = 6L + 2S_0 - S_1 - S_2.$$

The Picard group of the generic fibration in this subfamily has then a \mathbb{Q} -basis given by L, S_0, T and S_2 . Using this basis, the exact sequence (1.5) tells us that this subfamily has rk MW(X) = 1, and that a generator is given by S_2 .

⁴By a set of \mathbb{Q} -generators for MW(X), I mean a set of generators for $MW(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$.

In the same way it's possible to show that the fibrations in the subfamily with $\alpha_{012} = \alpha_{102} = 0$ identically, defined by

$$x^2y + xy^2 + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0$$

where each of the three sections cuts the fibres in flex points, has $\operatorname{rk} \operatorname{MW}(X) = 0$. In this case in fact the discriminant locus is

$$\Delta : 256\alpha_{003}^3(\alpha_{111}^3 + 27\alpha_{003}) = 0,$$

and so over the curve $\alpha_{003} = 0$ the fibres are of type I_3 , with equation

$$xy(x+y+\alpha_{111}z)=0.$$

The divisor $\pi^* \alpha_{003} = 0$ splits in three irreducible components, giving three extra vertical divisors, and so by the Shioda–Tate–Wazir formula (Theorem 1.3) the rank of the Mordell–Weil group of the generic fibration in this subfamily is 0.

5.4 The families (3,2), (3,1), (3,0)

As we can see from Table 5.1, in the equation F defining such families the term x^3 is missing, so we have an obvious section

$$S: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b.$$

The tangent line to the curve X_b at the point (1:0:0) is $\alpha_{210}y + \alpha_{201}z = 0$, so by Proposition 1.1 we must have $\alpha_{210} \neq 0$ in order to have a smooth X. We can then make the following change of coordinates

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{\alpha_{120}}{2\alpha_{210}^2} y' + (\frac{\alpha_{120}\alpha_{201}}{\alpha_{210}^2} - \frac{\alpha_{111}}{2\alpha_{210}}) z' \\ y = \frac{1}{\alpha_{210}} y' - \frac{\alpha_{201}}{\alpha_{210}} z' \\ z = z' \end{cases}$$

which allows us to assume that the equation F has the following simpler form (I drop the primes)

$$x^{2}y + \alpha_{030}y^{3} + \alpha_{021}y^{2}z + \alpha_{102}xz^{2} + \alpha_{012}yz^{2} + \alpha_{003}z^{3} = 0.$$
 (5.4)

The hyperplane section ξ of Z when restricted to X then gives

$$\begin{cases} F = 0\\ z = 0 \end{cases} \longrightarrow y(x^2 + \alpha_{030}y^2) = 0,$$

the vanishing of the first factor gives the section, the second defines a double cover R of the base and the ramification locus for the covering map $\rho = \pi_{|_R}$ is the curve $\alpha_{030} = 0$.

5.4.1 The cubic form

From Table 5.2, these families have all $\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic} X = 3$ and so we search for three generators. We try with L, the section S and the double cover R. First of all, since R and S are disjoint we have

$$SRL = S^2R = SR^2 = 0.$$

Assuming that α_{030} defines a smooth curve, a canonical divisor on R is given by ([BHPVdV04, Sect. I.17])

$$K_R = \rho^* K_{\mathbb{P}^2} + \frac{m}{2} \rho^* l = (\frac{m}{2} - 3) \rho^* l,$$

where m is the degree of α_{030} . Then, thanks to (3.2) and (3.3), we have

$$LR^{2} = (L_{|_{R}})(R_{|_{R}}) = \rho^{*}l \cdot \left(\frac{m}{2} - 3\right)\rho^{*}l = m - 6, \qquad R^{3} = K_{R}^{2} = 2\left(\frac{m}{2} - 3\right)^{2}.$$

So the intersection table is

	L	S	R
L^2	0	1	2
S^2	-3	9	0
R^2	m-6	0	$2\left(\frac{m}{2}-3\right)^2$
LS	1	-3	0
LR	2	0	m-6
SR	0	0	0

and since

$$\det \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 1 & -3 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 & m-6 \end{array} \right) = 18 - m$$

is non-zero (in our cases) we deduce that $\{L,S,R\}$ is a $\mathbb{Q}\text{-basis}$ for $\operatorname{Pic} X.$ Moreover the cubic form is

(a,b)	$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R)^3$
(3,2)	$3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 6\alpha^2\gamma - 12\alpha\gamma^2 + 8\gamma^3$
(3,1)	$3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 6\alpha^2\gamma - 6\alpha\gamma^2 + 2\gamma^3$
(3,0)	$3(\alpha^2\beta - 3\alpha\beta^2 + 3\beta^3 + 2\alpha^2\gamma)$

5.4.2 The number of sections

.

I want to determine the number of sections for the generic fibration of these three families. Let $\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R$ be the class of a section. The first two requirements discussed in Section 5.2.2, give the relations between α , β and γ

$$\begin{cases} 1 = L^2(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R) = \beta + 2\gamma \\ -6 = c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R), \end{cases}$$

and using (4.5) to compute $c_2(X)$ we obtain the three systems

$$\begin{cases} \beta + 2\gamma = 1 \\ 36\alpha - 6\beta - 4\gamma = -6 \end{cases}, \qquad \begin{cases} \beta + 2\gamma = 1 \\ 36\alpha - 6\beta + 8\gamma = -6 \end{cases}$$
$$\begin{cases} \beta + 2\gamma = 1 \\ 36\alpha - 6\beta + 24\gamma = -6. \end{cases}$$

We can solve them expressing α and β in function of γ , finding

$$(\alpha,\beta) = \left(1 - 2\gamma, -\frac{2}{9}\gamma\right), \left(1 - 2\gamma, -\frac{5}{9}\gamma\right), \left(1 - 2\gamma, -\gamma\right)$$

for the cases (a, b) = (3, 2), (3, 1), (3, 0) respectively. The last condition I use to detect a section is that $S^3 = K_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 = 9$ by (3.3), so since we know the cubic self-intersection form for the three cases, we can solve for γ the three equations: the results are

$$-\frac{4}{27}\gamma(360\gamma^2 - 676\gamma + 351) = 0$$

$$-\frac{7}{27}\gamma(180\gamma^2 - 343\gamma + 189) = 0$$

$$-3\gamma(12\gamma^2 - 25\gamma + 15) = 0$$

which have only $\gamma = 0$ as rational solution. Hence in all of these three cases we have only one section.

5.4.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group

Putting the equation (5.4)

$$x^{2}y + \alpha_{030}y^{3} + \alpha_{021}y^{2}z + \alpha_{102}xz^{2} + \alpha_{012}yz^{2} + \alpha_{003}z^{3} = 0$$

in Weierstrass form with respect to the section S gives the equation $y^2 z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ with

$$A = 81\alpha_{030}\alpha_{102}^2 - 27\alpha_{012}^2 + 81\alpha_{021}\alpha_{003},$$

$$B = \frac{729}{4}\alpha_{021}^2\alpha_{102}^2 - 486\alpha_{030}\alpha_{102}^2\alpha_{012} - 54\alpha_{012}^3 + 243\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012}\alpha_{003} - 729\alpha_{030}\alpha_{003}^2.$$

We can then see that the generic fibre over the discriminant locus is a nodal rational curve.

Thanks to the exact sequence (1.5) we have that $\operatorname{Pic} X_{\eta}$ is generated by the restriction of the classes of S and R, and so by (1.4) $\operatorname{Pic}^{0} X_{\eta}$ has as generator $R_{\eta} - 2S_{\eta}$ (observe in fact that R_{η} is a degree 2 divisor on X_{η}). $R_{\eta} - 2S_{\eta}$ is in the image of the map (1.2) and so $R_{\eta} - S_{\eta}$ is a Q-generator for the Mordell–Weil group of X_{η} . I now want to find a divisor R' in X such that R'_{η} is linearly equivalent to $R_{\eta} - S_{\eta}$ in $\operatorname{Div} X_{\eta}$: such R' is a better choice for a Q-generator of MW(X) since, as we will see in a moment, it is defined by a rational section of the fibration.

The tangent line to X_b in the point (1:0:0) is y = 0; this line intersects X_b in $z^2(\alpha_{102}x + \alpha_{003}z) = 0$, defining the divisor 2S + R' where R' is the rational section defined by

$$R': b \longmapsto (\alpha_{003}(b): 0: -\alpha_{102}(b)) \in X_b.$$

Then R' is the blow-up of \mathbb{P}^2 in $(\deg \alpha_{003})(\deg \alpha_{102})$ points. The following table lists the number of the blown-up points, the self-intersection of a canonical divisor and the Euler-Poincaré characteristic of R': I will use them to determine the class of R' in Pic X.

(a,b)	Number of points	$K^2_{R'}$	$\chi_{\rm top}(R')$
(3,2)	40	-31	43
(3,1)	28	-19	31
(3,0)	18	-9	21

Observe now that $LSR' = \deg \alpha_{102}$ since the generic line in the base \mathbb{P}^2 does not pass through the points where we blow-up. To find the class $R' = \alpha L + \beta R + \gamma R$ we have to solve the system

$$\begin{cases} L^2 R' = 1 \\ LSR' = \deg \alpha_{102} \\ c_2(X)R' = \chi_{top}(R') - K_{R'}^2 \end{cases}$$

where the third equation follows from Friedman's result (3.4). The solution of this system is

(a,b)	$R' = \alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R$
(3,2)	R' = 2L - S + R
(3,1)	R' = L - S + R
(3,0)	R' = -S + R

The result is that in any case we can use L, S, R' as a Q-basis for Pic X, and R' as a Q-generator for MW(X). Observe also that in Pic X_{η} we have $R'_{\eta} = R_{\eta} - S_{\eta}$.

5.4.4 The family (3,0)

I will give a more detailed description of this type of family in Section 6.1 and Section 6.2.

5.5 The families (4,1), (5,2), (6,3)

All the fibrations of these families have a section given by

$$S: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b$$

since $\alpha_{300} = 0$ identically, and from Table 5.1 we see that the same is true for α_{210} .

In each projective plane Z_b , the tangent line to X_b in (1:0:0) has equation

 $\alpha_{201}z = 0$: our smoothness assumption on X forces the constant α_{201} to be non-zero, hence

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{\alpha_{111}}{2\alpha_{201}}y' - \frac{\alpha_{102}}{2\alpha_{201}^2}z\\ y = y'\\ z = \frac{1}{\alpha_{201}}z' \end{cases}$$

is a well defined homography, putting the equation in the simpler form (I drop the primes)

$$\alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0.$$
 (5.5)

The hyperplane section ξ in Z described by z = 0 cuts X in the image of the section S (with multiplicity 2) and in another divisor R, given by the rational section

$$b \longmapsto (\alpha_{030}(b) : -\alpha_{120}(b) : 0) \in X_b$$

which is the blow-up of the base \mathbb{P}^2 in $\{\alpha_{120} = 0\} \cap \{\alpha_{030} = 0\}$.

Remark 5.5.1 In the case (a, b) = (6, 3) we have deg $\alpha_{120} = 0$, i.e. $\alpha_{120} \in \mathbb{C}$. This means that generically (i.e. for $\alpha_{120} \neq 0$) this type of fibration has *two* disjoint sections.

5.5.1 The cubic form

All these fibrations have $\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic} X = 3$ (compare with Table 5.2), and we have the following three obvious divisors:

- 1. the divisor L, coming from the base;
- 2. the section $S = \mathbb{P}^2 \times \{(1:0:0)\};$
- 3. the rational section R.

Observe that $\xi_{|_X} = 2S + R$ since z = 0 cuts on X both S and R. We know all about S, to study R we begin with the diagram



where now ρ is the blow-up of \mathbb{P}^2 along $\{\alpha_{120} = 0\} \cap \{\alpha_{030} = 0\}$: let $m = \deg \alpha_{120}$, then this locus consists of m(m+3) points. We thus have

$$K_R = \rho^* K_{\mathbb{P}^2} + E_1 + \ldots + E_{m(m+3)}$$

where the E_i 's are the exceptional divisors introduced by ρ : then

$$R^3 = K_B^2 = 9 - m(m+3),$$

and since $S \cap R$ is a curve of degree m in S we get

$$SR^2 = (R_{|_S})(R_{|_S}) = m^2.$$

So the intersections are given in this table

	L	S	R
L^2	0	1	1
S^2	-3	9	-3m
R^2	-3	m^2	9 - m(m+3)
LS	1	-3	m
LR	1	m	-3
SR	m	-3m	m^2

and in particular

$$\det \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ -3 & 9 & -3m \\ -3 & m^2 & 9 - m(m+3) \end{array} \right) = -6(m-3)(m+3),$$

which has no zeros in our cases (m = 0, 1, 2). We conclude that $\{L, S, R\}$ is a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X, and that the cubic form is

(a,b)	$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R)^3$
(4,1)	$\boxed{3\alpha^2\beta-9\alpha\beta^2+9\beta^3+3\alpha^2\gamma+12\alpha\beta\gamma-18\beta^2\gamma-9\alpha\gamma^2-\gamma^3+12\beta\gamma^2}$
(5,2)	$3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 3\alpha^2\gamma + 6\alpha\beta\gamma - 9\beta^2\gamma - 9\alpha\gamma^2 + 5\gamma^3 + 3\beta\gamma^2$
(6, 3)	$3(\alpha^2\beta - 3\alpha\beta^2 + 3\beta^3 + \alpha^2\gamma - 3\alpha\gamma^2 + 3\gamma^3)$

5.5.2 The number of sections

Let $\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R$ be the class of a section. Then we have two linear relations between the coefficients, given by $L^2(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R) = 1$ and $c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R) = -6$ as discussed in Section 5.2.2. Explicitly we have

$$\begin{cases} \beta + \gamma = 1\\ 36\alpha - 6\beta + 14\gamma = -6 \end{cases}, \qquad \begin{cases} \beta + \gamma = 1\\ 36\alpha - 6\beta + 2\gamma = -6 \end{cases}, \\ \begin{cases} \beta + \gamma = 1\\ 36\alpha - 6\beta - 6\gamma = -6 \end{cases},$$

and so we can express α and β as functions of γ , finding

$$(\alpha,\beta) = \left(-\frac{5}{9}, 1-\gamma\right), \left(-\frac{2}{9}, 1-\gamma\right), (0, 1-\gamma)$$

for the three cases respectively. Using the expression of the cubic self-intersection we can solve for γ since we know that $(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R)^3 = 9$ by (3.3). The only rational solution to this equation is $\gamma = 0$ for the first two cases, while we have

two solutions, $\gamma = 0$ and $\gamma = 1$, for the case (a, b) = (6, 3). So S is the only section, apart in the case where there is also another obvious section, which is given by R.

5.5.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group

Putting the equation (5.5)

$$\alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0$$

in Weierstrass form with respect to the section S, we find the equation $y^2 z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ with

$$A = \alpha_{120}^2 \alpha_{003} - \frac{1}{3} \alpha_{021}^2 + \alpha_{030} \alpha_{012},$$

$$B = \frac{1}{4} \alpha_{120}^2 \alpha_{012}^2 - \frac{2}{3} \alpha_{120}^2 \alpha_{021} \alpha_{003} - \frac{2}{27} \alpha_{021}^3 + \frac{1}{3} \alpha_{030} \alpha_{021} \alpha_{012} - \alpha_{030}^2 \alpha_{003}.$$

By Tate's algorithm the generic fibre over the discriminant locus is a nodal rational curve.

Using $\{L, S, R\}$ as Q-basis for Pic X is then easy to see that $R \in MW(X)$ gives a Q-generator.

5.5.4 The (6,3) family

The family of elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ will be studied in detail in Chapter 6. In fact I will show there that the generic element of this family is a classical E_7 fibration ([AE10]), and that there are also some interesting fibrations of non-generic type. In fact for the generic equation

 $F = \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{201}x^2z + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3$

we have two possibilities (we have $\alpha_{201} \neq 0$ in both cases):

1. if $\alpha_{120} \neq 0$ then the change

$$\begin{cases} x = -\frac{2}{\alpha_{120}}x' - \frac{\alpha_{030}}{\alpha_{120}}y' + \left(\frac{\alpha_{120}\alpha_{111}^2}{32\alpha_{201}^2} - \frac{\alpha_{030}^2}{8\alpha_{120}} - \frac{\alpha_{120}^2\alpha_{102}}{8\alpha_{201}^2}\right)z'\\ y = y' + \left(\frac{\alpha_{030}}{4} - \frac{\alpha_{120}\alpha_{111}}{8\alpha_{201}}\right)z'\\ z = \frac{\alpha_{120}^2}{4\alpha_{201}}z' \end{cases}$$

lead us to the canonical form of the E_7 fibrations (compare to Section 6.3)

$$-2xy^2 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0;$$

2. if $\alpha_{120} = 0$ we apply the change

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{\alpha_{111}}{2\alpha_{201}}y' - \frac{\alpha_{102}}{2\alpha_{201}^2}z' \\ y = y' \\ z = \frac{1}{\alpha_{201}}z' \end{cases}$$

and have the form (with non-primed variables)

$$\alpha_{030}y^3 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{030}z^3 = 0.$$

I will study this subfamily more in detail in Section 6.4.

5.6 The families (7,4), (8,5)

As in the other cases, we have the section

$$S: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b,$$

and it must be $\alpha_{201} \neq 0$ for otherwise we will find singular families. Then we can use the homography

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{\alpha_{111}}{2\alpha_{201}}y' - \frac{\alpha_{102}}{2\alpha_{201}^2}z' \\ y = y' \\ z = \frac{1}{\alpha_{201}}z' \end{cases}$$

to put the general equation in the easier form (using not-primed variables)

$$\alpha_{030}y^3 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0.$$
(5.6)

The restriction to X of the divisor $\xi : z = 0$ gives

$$\begin{cases} F = 0\\ z = 0 \end{cases} \longrightarrow \alpha_{030} y^3 = 0.$$

So we are cutting on X the section S (with multiplicity 3) and a vertical divisor T, defined by

$$T = \{ (x : y : 0) \in X_b \, | \, \alpha_{030}(b) = 0 \}$$

i.e. T is a \mathbb{P}^1 -bundle over the curve $\alpha_{030} = 0$, whose fibres are the lines in the reducible I_2 fibres $z(x^2 + \ldots) = 0$ we have over that curve.

5.6.1 The cubic form

I now want to determine \mathbb{Q} -generators for Pic X. From Table 5.2 we look for three divisors, and I want to show that L, S and T is a good choice. Let $m = deg\alpha_{030}$, then LT is given by the lines in the m fibres over $\{\alpha_{030} = 0\} \cap l$, so we conclude that LTS = m. ST is a curve of degree m in S, and so

$$ST^2 = (T_{|_S})(T_{|_S}) = m^2.$$

Observe that $T_{|_L}$ is the disjoint union of m lines in the reducible fibres of the elliptic surface L; since each of these is a -2-curve ([Mir89, Chap. I.6]) we then have

$$LT^{2} = (T_{|_{L}})(T_{|_{L}}) = (T_{|_{L}})^{2} = -2m.$$

Since T is a \mathbb{P}^1 -bundle over the curve $\alpha_{030} = 0$ we have ([Bea96, Prop. III.21])

$$T^{3} = (K_{T})^{2} = 8\left(1 - \frac{(m-1)(m-2)}{2}\right) = 4m(3-m).$$

Another important fact is that the generic fibre does not intersect T, so that $TL^2 = 0$, and finally that

$$S^{2}T = (S_{|_{S}})(T_{|_{S}}) = K_{S}(T_{|_{S}}) = -3m.$$

So we have the intersection table

	L	S	Т
L^2	0	1	0
S^2	-3	9	-3m
T^2	-2m	m^2	4m(3-m)
LS	1	-3	m
LT	0	m	-2m
ST	m	-3m	m^2

The following result

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -3 & 9 & -3m \\ -2m & m^2 & 4m(3-m) \end{pmatrix} = 6m(6-m)$$

tells us that if we want $\{L, S, T\}$ to be a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X it's necessary that $\deg \alpha_{030} \neq 0, 6$, which doesn't occur in our cases. Hence the cubic form is given by

(a,b)	$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T)^3$
(7,4)	$3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 12\alpha\beta\gamma - 18\beta^2\gamma - 12\alpha\gamma^2 + 12\beta\gamma^2 + 8\gamma^3$
(8,5)	$3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 6\alpha\beta\gamma - 9\beta^2\gamma - 6\alpha\gamma^2 + 3\beta\gamma^2 + 8\gamma^3$

5.6.2 The number of sections

I want to show now that S is the only section for that type of families. In fact, let denote by $\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T$ the class of a section. Then we have three linear relations among the coefficients, discussed in Section 5.2.2, which allow us to determine α , β and γ :

$$\begin{cases} L^2(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T) = 1\\ LT(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T) = \deg \alpha_{030}\\ c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T) = 36\alpha - 6\beta - 4\gamma = -6. \end{cases}$$

From (4.5) we can compute $c_2(X)$, and the solution of the system is given by $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = (0, 1, 0)$.

5.6.3 Weierstrass form and Mordell–Weil group

If we put the equation (5.6)

$$\alpha_{030}y^3 + x^2z + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0$$

in Weierstrass form with respect to the section S, we will find the equation $y^2z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ with

$$A = 9\alpha_{030}\alpha_{012} - 3\alpha_{021}^2,$$

$$B = 9\alpha_{030}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012} - 2\alpha_{021}^3 - 27\alpha_{030}^2\alpha_{003}$$

Then the discriminant locus has equation

$$\alpha_{030}^2 (-\alpha_{021}^2 \alpha_{012}^2 + 4\alpha_{030} \alpha_{012}^3 + 4\alpha_{021}^3 \alpha_{003} - 18\alpha_{030} \alpha_{021} \alpha_{012} \alpha_{003} + 27\alpha_{030}^2 \alpha_{003}^2),$$

hence we have naturally the presence of nodal rational curves and I_2 fibres. These last are over the component $\alpha_{030} = 0$ of Δ and have equation

$$z(x^{2} + \alpha_{021}y^{2} + \alpha_{012}yz + \alpha_{003}z^{2}) = 0.$$

Observe that in this case $\operatorname{Pic} X$ is generated by two vertical divisors and the section, hence none of them gives something in the Mordell–Weil group, which has then rank 0.

5.7 The (9,6) family

As in the previous section, we must have $\alpha_{201} \neq 0$. We observe moreover that if $\alpha_{030} = 0$, then the equation splits, giving us a singular variety. So we also have $\alpha_{030} \neq 0$ and the homography

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{a_2\alpha_{111}}{2\alpha_{201}}y' + \left(\frac{\alpha_{111}^3}{24\alpha_{030}\alpha_{201}^3} - \frac{\alpha_{111}\alpha_{021}}{6\alpha_{030}\alpha_{201}^2} + \frac{\alpha_{102}}{2\alpha_{201}^2}\right)z' \\ y = a_2y' + \left(\frac{\alpha_{021}}{3\alpha_{030}\alpha_{201}} - \frac{\alpha_{111}^2}{12\alpha_{030}\alpha_{201}^2}\right)z' \\ z = -\frac{1}{\alpha_{201}}z' \end{cases}$$

where a_2 satisfies $a_2^3 \alpha_{030} = 1$, puts the equation into the well known Weierstrass form

$$x^2 z = y^3 + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3.$$

5.7.1 The cubic form

Looking at Table 5.2 we see that Pic X has rank 2, and by Proposition 5.1, a \mathbb{Q} -basis is given by L and the section

$$S: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b.$$

The intersection table is particularly simple, and is given by

	L	S
L^2	0	1
S^2	-3	9
LS	1	-3

Thus the cubic form is

$$(\alpha L + \beta S)^3 = 3\beta(\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta + 3\beta^2).$$

Also in this case S is the only section: denoting with $\alpha L + \beta S$ the class of any section, we have

$$\begin{cases} L^2(\alpha L + \beta S) = 1\\ c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S) = 36\alpha - 6\beta = -6 \end{cases}$$

whose solution is $(\alpha, \beta) = (0, 1)$.

Chapter 6

New and old families

In this chapter I want to present a detailed description of the Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations we can find in the two bundles $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3)\oplus\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O})$ and $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6)\oplus\mathcal{O}(3)\oplus\mathcal{O})$ over \mathbb{P}^2 .

Elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3)\oplus\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O})$ are interesting because we can find subfamilies having in a natural way Kodaira singular fibres degenerating to non-Kodaira fibres. Moreover, in Chapter 7 we will see that these fibrations enjoy another interesting property.

In the bundle $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$, the generic anticanonical hypersurface turns out to be a classical elliptic fibration, named E_7 . I will give a brief description of E_7 families, and then focus on the non-generic elliptic fibrations in this bundle, which can be viewed as E_7 fibrations where we try to collapse its two sections into one. I will call these non-generic fibrations of type E_7^0 .

6.1 Families in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$

I want to describe the anticanonical varieties X in the projective bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ over \mathbb{P}^2 .

I will show that the generic Calabi–Yau elliptic fibration X in this bundle is smooth, compute the cubic intersection form in terms of two different \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X and study the group of automorphisms of X. I will also give a description of the Weierstrass model and the singular fibres of the generic fibration.

Finally, I will focus on a particular subfamily to show two interesting facts:

- 1. even if the generic member of the family of Calabi-Yau elliptic threefolds in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ has Mordell–Weil group of rank 1, it's possible to find subfamilies for which the rank drops to 0;
- 2. it's possible to find elliptic fibrations with non-Kodaira fibres which are defined by a cubic homogeneous polynomial in \mathbb{P}^2 .

6.1.1 The number of parameters and the canonical form

I will compute the number of effective parameters of the family using the formula in Proposition 5.2. The most general equation defining an anticanonical hypersurface X in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is

$$F = \alpha_{210}x^2y + \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{201}x^2z + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{102}xy^2 + \alpha_{012}yz^2\alpha_{003}z^3 = 0,$$

where the degree of the coefficients is as in Table 5.1 (p. 41). We can count the total number of parameters involved, finding that our equation depends on $2+3\cdot10+4\cdot28 = 144$ parameters. Since F is defined only up to a scalar multiple, the equation actually depends on 144-1 = 143 parameters. To have the number of *effective* parameters, we have to take in account the action of automorphisms. In particular, the group automorphism of the base is PGL(3, \mathbb{C}), and so we loose 8 parameters. Then there are the automorphisms on the fibres of the form

$$\begin{cases} x' = c_{11}x + c_{12}y + c_{13}z \\ y' = c_{22}y + c_{23}z \\ z' = c_{32}y + c_{33}z \end{cases} \quad \text{with} \quad \begin{aligned} c_{11}, c_{22}, c_{23}, c_{32}, c_{33}, \in \mathbb{C}, \\ c_{12}, c_{13} \in H^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}(3)) \end{aligned}.$$

These automorphisms lower the number of effective parameters by 24 (the coefficients depend on 25 parameters, but we loose one since x, y and z are projective coordinates). Then we reach 143-8-25 = 111 parameters, which coincides with $h^{2,1}(X)$ as shown in Table 5.2 (p. 41). It's known that $h^{2,1}(X)$ is the dimension of the space of deformations of X (Bogomolov–Tian–Todorov theorem), the fact that an equation for X depends on exactly $h^{2,1}(X)$ parameters then means that any deformation of X comes from a deformation of the defining polynomial. There is an obvious section for these varieties: it's defined by

$$S: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b.$$

Given a point $b \in \mathbb{P}^2$, the tangent line to the curve X_b in (1:0:0) is defined by $\alpha_{210}y + \alpha_{201}z = 0$ and so we see that $(\alpha_{210}, \alpha_{201}) \neq (0,0)$ for otherwise our section will pass through singular points for the fibres and this is possible only if X is singular by Proposition 1.1. So at least one among α_{210} and α_{201} must be non-zero. Since the bundle automorphism

$$\begin{cases} x' = x \\ y' = z \\ z' = y \end{cases}$$

has the effect of exchanging

 α_{210} with α_{201} , α_{120} with α_{102} , α_{030} with α_{003} , α_{021} with α_{012} ,

we can always assume that the non vanishing parameter is α_{210} . We can then define a canonical form for this kind of families, sending the tangent line $\alpha_{210}y + \alpha_{201}z = 0$ to the line y = 0: we can achieve this with the change of coordinates

$$\begin{cases} x' = x \\ y' = \alpha_{210}y + \alpha_{201}z \\ z' = z \end{cases} \longleftrightarrow \begin{cases} x = x' \\ y = \frac{1}{\alpha_{210}}y' - \frac{\alpha_{201}}{\alpha_{210}}z' \\ z = z' \end{cases}$$

and then assume that our family is defined by the equation (using x, y, z instead of x', y', z')

$$F = x^2 y + \alpha_{120} x y^2 + \alpha_{111} x y z + \alpha_{102} x z^2 + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0.$$

We can also use the change of coordinates

$$\begin{cases} x' = x - \frac{\alpha_{120}}{2}y - \frac{\alpha_{111}}{2}z \\ y' = y \\ z' = z \end{cases}$$

to make the equation simpler: it allows us to assume that the defining equation is (using x, y, z as before)

$$F = x^2 y + \alpha_{102} x z^2 + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0.$$
 (6.1)

Observe that this equation depends on 122 parameters, and that we can't lower this number any more. In fact the only automorphisms we are left are given by $PGL(3, \mathbb{C})$ and by those of the form

$$\begin{cases} x' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}}x\\ y' = \alpha y\\ z' = \beta z, \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

depending on 8 + 2 = 10 parameters. The homogeneity of the equation lowers the number of parameters by 1, so we loose 10 + 1 = 11 parameters, which is the number we need to reach 111. Observe also that the families with $\alpha_{030} = 0$ or $\alpha_{003} = 0$ identically are necessarily singular: they have another obvious section, which is $\{(0:1:0)\} \times \mathbb{P}^2$ in the first case and $\{(0:0:1)\} \times \mathbb{P}^2$ in the second, but these meet some singular point in the fibres, to be more explicit, the point (0:1:0) is singular for the fibres over the sextic curve $\alpha_{021} = 0$ in the first case while (0:0:1) is singular over $\alpha_{012} = 0$ in the second. As we will see S is the unique section for these families.

We want now to know when the point (1:0:0) is a flex point. The tangent line in (1:0:0) is y = 0, and the system

$$\begin{cases} F = 0\\ y = 0 \end{cases}$$

has two solutions: one is obviously (1:0:0) with multiplicity two, the other is

$$(\alpha_{003}: 0: -\alpha_{102})$$

So we see that (1:0:0) is a flex point if and only if $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$. An interesting divisor in X is the one cut by z = 0: from the system

$$\begin{cases} F=0\\ z=0 \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} z=0\\ y(x^2+\alpha_{030}y^2)=0 \end{cases}$$

we find the section S, corresponding to y = 0, and a double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 defined by

$$R: x^2 + \alpha_{030}y^2 = 0.$$

Observe that since the branch locus for this covering is the sextic curve $\alpha_{030} = 0$, if it is smooth then R is a K3 surface, so by (3.2) we have

$$R^2 = i_* K_R = 0$$

As a by-product, letting $H = \xi_{|_X}$ denote the hyperplane section of X, then

$$H = S + R.$$

6.1.2 Weierstrass model and singular fibres

Using the methods described in [Cas91, Chap. 8], it's possible to put our families in Weierstrass form. Let

$$X: F = x^2y + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3 = 0$$

be a generic family in the bundle Z as in (6.1). Then the Weierstrass model W of X with respect to the section S is the elliptic fibration in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(9) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ with coordinates (s:t:u) defined by

$$t^{2}u = s^{3} + \left(16\alpha_{030}\alpha_{102}^{2} - \frac{16}{3}\alpha_{012}^{2} + 16\alpha_{021}\alpha_{003}\right)su^{2} + \left(16\alpha_{021}^{2}\alpha_{102}^{2} - \frac{128}{3}\alpha_{030}\alpha_{102}^{2}\alpha_{012} - \frac{128}{27}\alpha_{012}^{3} + \frac{64}{3}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012}\alpha_{003} - 64\alpha_{030}\alpha_{003}^{2}\right)u^{3}$$

We computed the equation of the discriminant locus, and observed that it is an irreducible curve with multiplicity one, over the generic point of which we have a rational nodal curve by Tate's algorithm. It's also possible to write the birational morphism from X to W, which is given by

$$\begin{cases} s = -4\alpha_{102}xz - \frac{4}{3}\alpha_{012}yz - 4\alpha_{003}z^2 \\ t = 8\alpha_{102}x^2 + 8\alpha_{030}\alpha_{102}y^2 + 8\alpha_{003}xz + 4\alpha_{021}\alpha_{102}yz \\ u = yz. \end{cases}$$

The situation changes if we consider the subfamily with $\alpha_{102} = 0$ identically. In fact in this case, the section S cuts each fibre in a flex point. The discriminant locus in this case splits in two curves:

$$\Delta : \alpha_{003}^2 (4\alpha_{030}\alpha_{012}^3 - \alpha_{021}^2\alpha_{012}^2 + 4\alpha_{021}^3\alpha_{003} - 18\alpha_{030}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012}\alpha_{003} + 27\alpha_{030}^2\alpha_{003}^2)$$

and over the curve $\alpha_{003} = 0$ the fibre is generically of type I_2 . In the intersection of these two components of the discriminant the fibre changes, more precisely

- 1. over $\alpha_{003} = \alpha_{012} = 0$ the fibre is of type *III*;
- 2. over $\alpha_{003} = 4\alpha_{030}\alpha_{012} \alpha_{021}^2 = 0$ the fibre is of type I_3 .

I will study the subfamily with $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$ more in detail in Section 6.2. Observe that this is a description of the singular fibres we find for a generic choice of the coefficients. As we will see in Section 6.2.3 it's possible to find smooth fibrations of this type with different singular fibres, also of non-Kodaira type.

6.1.3 Is the general family smooth?

Here we want to show that the generic member of family defined by the equation (6.1)

$$F = x^2 y + \alpha_{102} x z^2 + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0$$

in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is smooth. The singular points (q, b) with q = (x : y : z)and $b = (t_0 : t_1 : t_2)$ satisfy

$$2xy + \alpha_{102}z^{2} = 0$$

$$x^{2} + 3\alpha_{030}y^{2} + 2\alpha_{021}yz + \alpha_{012}z^{2} = 0$$

$$2\alpha_{102}xz + \alpha_{021}y^{2} + 2\alpha_{012}yz + 3\alpha_{003}z^{2} = 0$$

$$(\partial_{n}\alpha_{102})xz^{2} + (\partial_{n}\alpha_{030})y^{3} + (\partial_{n}\alpha_{021})y^{2}z + (\partial_{n}\alpha_{012})yz^{2} + (\partial_{n}\alpha_{003})z^{3} = 0$$
(6.3)

where we write $\partial_n = \frac{\partial}{\partial t_n}$ for n = 0, 1, 2. So we want the set

$$V_{\alpha_{102},\alpha_{030},\alpha_{021},\alpha_{012},\alpha_{003}} = \left\{ (q,b) \in \mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^2 | \begin{array}{c} \text{the system (6.3)} \\ \text{has } (q,b) \text{ as solution} \end{array} \right\}$$

to be empty for the generic choice of the coefficients. To show that this is true we consider the subvariety

$$V = \{ (q, b, \alpha_{102}, \alpha_{030}, \alpha_{021}, \alpha_{012}, \alpha_{003}) | (q, b) \in V_{\alpha_{102}, \alpha_{030}, \alpha_{021}, \alpha_{012}, \alpha_{003}} \}$$

of $\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^2 \times H^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}(3)) \times H^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}(6))^4$, and the projection over the last 5 factors. This map is projective and has $V_{\alpha_{102},\alpha_{030},\alpha_{021},\alpha_{012},\alpha_{003}}$ as fibre over $(\alpha_{102}, \alpha_{030}, \alpha_{021}, \alpha_{012}, \alpha_{003})$, so it suffices to show that for a particular choice we have $V_{\alpha_{102},\alpha_{030},\alpha_{021},\alpha_{012},\alpha_{003}} = \emptyset$, i.e. that there exists a smooth X of this kind, to deduce that the same holds for the general choice of parameters. For example we can take

$$\alpha_{102} = 0, \qquad \alpha_{012} = 0, \qquad \alpha_{021} = \alpha_{003} = t_0^6 + t_1^6 + t_2^6, \qquad \alpha_{030} = t_0^6 + 2t_1^6 + 4t_2^6.$$

6.1.4 The cubic form

We computed the intersection matrix for this type of fibrations in Section 5.4.1, explicitly it is

	L	S	R
L^2	0	1	2
LS	1	-3	0
LR	2	0	0
S^2	-3	9	0
SR	0	0	0
R^2	0	0	0

and so the cubic form has expression

$$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R)^3 = 3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 6\alpha^2\gamma.$$
(6.4)

Observe that in the projective plane with coordinates $(\alpha : \beta : \gamma)$ this equation defines a cuspidal cubic, with the cusp in (0:0:1) and tangent $\alpha = 0$. Moreover this cubic has one flex point in (18:6:-1).

Remark 6.1.1 Apart the cases (a, b) = (9, 6), (3, 3), all the other families of elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds we have over \mathbb{P}^2 have rk Pic X = 3. Among these, the family in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is the only one for which the cubic intersection form of its generic member defines a singular cubic curve in \mathbb{P}^2 . In the case (a, b) = (9, 6) we have three distinct points, while in the case (a, b) = (3, 3) we have a smooth cubic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 , isomorphic to a Fermat cubic.

A rational section

We call R' the divisor defined by the rational section

$$b \mapsto (\alpha_{003}(b): 0: -\alpha_{102}(b)) \in X_b$$

We know that if we cut X with z = 0 what we see is the section S and the double covering R. So we have that the hyperplane section H of X is simply

$$H = S + R$$

Cutting now with y = 0 we see the section S with multiplicity two, and the rational section R'. But then we can express R' in terms of the Q-generators of Pic X:

$$2S + R' = H = S + R \longrightarrow R' = -S + R.$$

So we can use $\{L, S, R'\}$ as a Q-basis of Pic X, and it may be useful to know the intersection table in terms of this basis. This is

	L	S	R'
L^2	0	1	1
LS	1	-3	3
LR'	1	3	-3
S^2	-3	9	-9
SR'	3	-9	9
R'^2	-3	9	-9

So we can rewrite the cubic form (6.4) as

$$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R')^3 = 3(\alpha^2 \beta - 3\alpha \beta^2 + 3\beta^3 + \alpha^2 \gamma + 6\alpha \beta \gamma - 9\beta^2 \gamma - 3\alpha \gamma^2 + 9\beta \gamma^2 - 3\gamma^3).$$

As we will see in Section 6.2.2 the \mathbb{Q} -basis $\{L, S, R'\}$ of Pic X is more convenient for the study of the Mordell–Weil group.

6.1.5 The automorphism group

We know from Section 5.4.2 that the generic Calabi–Yau variety defined by equation (6.1) have only one section. This fact has an interesting consequence on the group $\operatorname{Aut}_B X$ of automorphisms of X over B, i.e. isomorphisms preserving the projection on the base or equivalently such that



commutes. I will prove the following proposition, which gives a description of $\operatorname{Aut}_B X$.

Proposition 6.1 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^2$ be an elliptic fibration, which is an anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O})$ defined by equation (6.1). Then $\operatorname{Aut}_B X$ has at most two elements, id and $-\operatorname{id}$, where $-\operatorname{id}(P) = -P$ is the inverse of P in the group law we have on the fibres of π . Moreover

$$\operatorname{Aut}_B X = \{ \operatorname{id}, -\operatorname{id} \} \Longleftrightarrow \alpha_{102} \equiv 0.$$

Proof Since an automorphism $X \longrightarrow X$ sends sections to sections and we have only one of them in our case, any automorphism of X over B fixes the section and then induces a group homomorphism on each fibre. Generically these have only two automorphisms, the identity and the inversion with respect to the group law, so we can conclude that the same is true for the whole X, i.e.

$$\operatorname{Aut}_B X \le {\operatorname{id}, -\operatorname{id}}.$$

To complete the proof I have to show that $\operatorname{Aut}_B X = {\operatorname{id}, -\operatorname{id}}$ if and only if $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$.

Observe that any $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}_B X$ induces an automorphism

$$\varphi^*: \operatorname{Pic} X \longrightarrow \operatorname{Pic} X$$

which is the identity map. In fact $\varphi^*L = L$ because φ acts fibrewise, and $\varphi^*S = S$ because S is the only section. From [OVdV95, Prop. 5], we have that $\varphi^*(R) = R$, since φ^* induces an automorphism on the cubic curve defined by the cubic self-intersection form, which leaves fixed the singular point (0:0:1) corresponding to R since it's the only singular point for the cubic. Moreover, from equation (6.2), we have that φ maps R to R.

Let assume that -id is an automorphism on X, then -id restricted to R must be an automorphism of R. Remember that R is defined by

$$\begin{cases} z = 0\\ x^2 + \alpha_{030}y^2 = 0\\ (y \neq 0) \end{cases}$$

and then a point $(x:y:0) \in R$ has image

$$\begin{cases} X = \alpha_{102}^3 x^2 + (\alpha_{102}^2 \alpha_{012} - \alpha_{003}^2) xy + \alpha_{102} \alpha_{021} \alpha_{003} y^2 \\ Y = y(\alpha_{102}^3 x + (\alpha_{102}^2 \alpha_{012} + \alpha_{003}^2) y) \\ Z = \alpha_{102} y(2\alpha_{003} x - \alpha_{102} \alpha_{021} y). \end{cases}$$

This point still lies on R if and only if $Z = X^2 + \alpha_{030}Y^2 = 0$, and in particular Z = 0 can happen only in the following three cases:

- 1. when $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$. We have that $-\operatorname{id}_{|_R}$ is the covering automorphism;
- 2. when $\alpha_{003} \equiv 0$ and $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$, but in this case the polynomial F defining the family is reducible and the family is singular;
- 3. when $\alpha_{003} \equiv 0$ and $\alpha_{021} \equiv 0$. In this case the equation for X is

$$X: x^2y + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{012}yz^2 = 0,$$

and we see that we have another section, given by (0:0:1). But this section passes through singular points in the fibres over $\alpha_{102} = \alpha_{012} = 0$, so that these families are always singular.

Viceversa, let assume that $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$. Then a direct computation shows that

$$\begin{array}{cccc} -\operatorname{id}: & X & \longrightarrow & X \\ & (x:y:z) & \longmapsto & (-x:y:z), \end{array}$$

which is an automorphism of X over B.

Remark 6.1.2 Another way to show this result is to write explicitly the equations for -id, and observe that its indetermination locus is empty if and only if α_{102} vanishes identically.

6.2 The subfamily with two automorphisms

In this section I want to study the subfamily we get when in the generic equation (6.1) we set $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$, i.e

$$X: F = x^2 y + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0.$$
 (6.5)

From the previous sections we know that

- 1. the point (1:0:0) is a flex point, with tangent line given by y = 0;
- 2. the discriminant locus splits in two curves, over one of them we have I_1 fibres and over the other I_2 fibres;
- 3. the group of automorphisms of X over B has order two.

The generic member of this subfamily is a smooth elliptic fibration: by the same argument used to prove the analogous statement for the general family in Section 6.1.3, we have only to find a smooth element in the subfamily to conclude that the generic element of the subfamily is smooth. We can use the example given in Section 6.1.3, which has $\alpha_{102} \equiv 0$ and so defines an elliptic fibration in the subfamilies we are studying now.

6.2.1 The cubic form

The subfamily defined by equation (6.5) is special in the sense that the section S passes through flex point in each fibre. Over the curve $\alpha_{003} = 0$ we see reducible fibres of Kodaira type I_2 , whose equation is

$$y(x^2 + \alpha_{030}y^2 + \alpha_{021}yz + \alpha_{012}z^2) = 0.$$

This means that the divisor $\pi^* \alpha_{003} = 0$ splits in two irreducible components: one gives the divisor T defined by the lines y = 0 in the fibres over this curve, and the other gives the divisor Q defined by the conics. Since α_{003} is a polynomial of degree 6 we can claim that

$$T + Q = 6L.$$

If we intersect T with the curves in X, defined by

$$L^2$$
, LS , LR , S^2 , SR , R^2

we find

- 1. $L^2T = 0$ since L^2 is a generic fibre of our fibration;
- 2. LST = 6 since ST is the curve defined by α_{003} in S;
- 3. LRT = 0 since T does not meet R, in fact points in T have y = 0 while points in R have z = 0 and (1:0:0) is not a point of R;
- 4. $S^2T = -18$ since $S^2 = -3LS$;
- 5. SRT = 0 since RT = 0 as we have just observed;
- 6. $R^2T = 0$ since $R^2 = 0$.

Let now write $T = \alpha L + \beta S + \gamma R$, with $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{Q}$. Since we know the intersection table in X, we find by the first three conditions above that

$$\begin{cases} 0 = L^2 T = \alpha L^3 + \beta L^2 S + \gamma L^2 R = \beta + 2\gamma \\ 6 = LST = \alpha L^2 S + \beta LS^2 + \gamma LSR = \alpha - 3\beta \\ 0 = LRT = \alpha L^2 R + \beta LSR + \gamma LR^2 = 2\alpha \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \begin{cases} \alpha = 0 \\ \beta = -2 \\ \gamma = 1, \end{cases}$$

so that

$$T = -2S + R, \qquad Q = 6L + 2S - R.$$

Another (and simpler) way to have this result is to consider the hyperplane section H of this kind of families: the general equation (6.5) is

$$F = x^2 y + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0,$$

so we see that cutting with y = 0 we find H = 3S + T, while cutting with z = 0 we have H = S + R. Equating the two expressions give us T = R - 2S.

We can then compute all the intersection numbers involving T by mean of the expression T = R - 2S, but it's not so difficult to find them directly. In fact RT = 0 as we observed, and $ST^2 = (T_{|s})(T_{|s}) = 36$ since $(T_{|s})$ is the curve
defined by $\alpha_{003} = 0$ in S. Moreover we have that $T^3 = K_T^2 = -72$ since T is a geometrically ruled surface over $\alpha_{003} = 0$, and so ([Bea96, Prop. III.21])

$$K_T^2 = 8(1 - 10) = -72,$$

and finally that $T^2L = -12$ since $T^2L = (T_{|_L})(T_{|_L})$ and $T_{|_L}$ consists of the 6 lines in the reducible I_2 of the fibration $X_{|_L}$, since each of them is a (-2)-curve we have $(T_{|_L})^2 = -12$.

The complete intersection table is then

	L	S	R	T
L^2	0	1	2	0
LS	1	-3	0	6
LR	2	0	0	0
S^2	-3	9	0	-18
SR	0	0	0	0
R^2	0	0	0	0
LT	0	6	0	-12
ST	6	-18	0	36
RT	0	0	0	0
T^2	-12	36	0	-72

Observe that the rank of this matrix is 3, as we expected. We make also another remark: the linear transformation sending L, S, R to L, S, T respectively is represented by the matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{array}\right),$$

whose determinant is 1. So L, S, T is a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X, and with respect to this basis we have the cubic intersection form

$$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T)^3 = 3\alpha^2\beta - 9\alpha\beta^2 + 9\beta^3 + 36\alpha\beta\gamma - 54\beta^2\gamma - 36\alpha\gamma^2 + 108\beta\gamma^2 - 72\gamma^3.$$

6.2.2 The Mordell–Weil group

In Section 5.4.3 we saw that the generic fibration defined by equation (6.1) has Mordell–Weil group of rank 1, with a generator given by the class of R.

I now want to concentrate on MW(X) when X is a member of the subfamily with $\alpha_{102} = 0$ identically, and show that in this case the Mordell–Weil group has rank 0. I use the Q-basis of Pic X given by L, S, T, in terms of which we showed that

T = -2S + R meaning that R = T + 2S.

So R = 0 in MW(X) since T is vertical, implying that $\operatorname{rk} MW(X) = 0$ as claimed.

6.2.3 A smooth family with non-Kodaira fibres

Let's consider the subfamily defined by

$$x^2y + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{021}(y^2z + z^3) = 0$$

where α_{030} and α_{021} are smooth sextics, intersecting transversally. With these requirements the threefold X is smooth. Thanks to our previous work, we can see that the Weierstrass model $y^2z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ of such fibrations has coefficients

$$A = 16\alpha_{021}^2, \qquad B = -64\alpha_{021}^2\alpha_{030},$$

and so the discriminant locus of the fibration has equation

$$\Delta : \alpha_{021}^4 (27\alpha_{030}^2 + 4\alpha_{021}^2) = \alpha_{021}^4 (2\alpha_{021} + 3\sqrt{-3}\alpha_{030})(2\alpha_{021} - 3\sqrt{-3}\alpha_{030}) = 0.$$

Over each component, by Tate's algorithm, we can compute the type of singular fibre:

- 1. over the curve $\alpha_{021} = 0$ we have IV fibres;
- 2. over each of the curves $2\alpha_{021} \pm 3\sqrt{-3}\alpha_{030}$ we have I_1 fibres.

The three curves intersect in the 36 distinct points given by $\alpha_{021} = \alpha_{030} = 0$, and over these points the equation of the fibre is $x^2y = 0$, which is not of Kodaira type.

Remark 6.2.1 A cubic curve in the plane can be of nine types, and we ask if we can find all of them as fibres of a smooth elliptic threefold with section. Of course we can find smooth cubics, so we concentrate only on the singular ones. The presence of the section tells us that one case is impossible to find, it's the case of a triple line (but observe that if we do not require the presence of the section we can have it). Among the remaining 7, we can find 6 in Kodaira's list: they are I_1 , I_2 , I_3 , II, III and IV. Only one case is left, the one with a double line intersecting another line, which is the case I have just described.

I want now to perform a local analysis around the points over which we have non-Kodaira fibres: in particular I want to show that the restriction of the fibration to a generic smooth curve through one of these points is a singular elliptic surface, whose desingularization has fibres of type I_0^* . The non-Kodaira fibres of the threefolds are contraction of the I_0^* fibres, according to Proposition 2.7. Let (s,t) be local coordinates centred in these points and such that the curves α_{030} and α_{021} are given respectively by t = 0 and s = 0. So the local equation for the fibration is

$$x^2y + ty^3 + sy^2z + sz^3 = 0,$$

and I want to take the restriction of this family to the generic line through the origin, of equation $t = \lambda s$. So we are interested in the elliptic surface

$$x^{2}y + \lambda sy^{3} + sy^{2}z + sz^{3} = 0.$$

Over s = 0 there must be singular points for the surface, as the corresponding fibre is of non-Kodaira type. By Tate's algorithm we expect to have a fibre I_0^* ,

the fibre we actually have is obtained from a I_0^* fibre after a contraction of the three multiplicity 1 components which don't intersect the section. The points to which these components are contracted are the singular points for the surface. In fact we can find them in the following way: for the generic choice of λ , the equation $\lambda y^3 + y^2 z + z^3 = 0$ has three distinct solutions, and so if we let $(\bar{y} : \bar{z})$ be one of them, we see that $(0 : \bar{y} : \bar{z})$ defines a (local) section of the fibration. This section intersects the fibre over s = 0 in a point of the line x = 0, which is a multiple component (of multiplicity 2) for the fibre, so by Proposition 1.1 the intersection point must be singular.

Remark 6.2.2 Observe that if X is an elliptic threefold over the surface B, and $x \in X_b$ is a singular point for X, then the restriction of X to any smooth curve through b is an elliptic surface singular in x. In our case, since the singular points for the elliptic surface vary when we vary the base curve, we have points which are singular for the fibre and for the surface, but not for the threefold. There are also examples where every restriction has the same singular point, but this is not a singular point for the threefold, see e.g. Example 1.3.1 and Remark 1.3.3.

6.3 E_7 families in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B(-2K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$

We want to study in detail the Calabi–Yau elliptic threefolds of type E_7 over a base B, focusing in particular in the case $B = \mathbb{P}^2$.

An E_7 family ([AE10, Sect. 1.7]) is a smooth hypersurface in a bundle of weighted projective planes $\mathbb{P}^{(1,1,2)}(\mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K_B))$ with coordinates (z:x:y), given by the vanishing of a homogeneous equation of (weighted) degree 4

$$a_0y^2 + a_1x^2y + a_2x^4 + b_0xyz + b_1x^3z + c_0x^2z^2 + c_1yz^2 + dxz^3 + ez = 0,$$

where $a_i \in \mathbb{C}$, $b_i \in H^0(B, -K_B)$, $c_i \in H^0(B, -2K_B)$, $d \in H^0(B, -3K_B)$ and finally $e \in H^0(B, -4K_B)$. Observe that if we cut this hypersurface with the hyperplane z = 0 we will find one or two (constant) sections according to the case where $a_0y^2 + a_1x^2y + a_2x^4 = 0$ has one or two solutions. However, in the first of these cases it's easy to see that the section passes through some singular point of the fibres hence that these families are all singular.

We can then assume that $a_0y^2 + a_1x^2y + a_2x^4 = z = 0$ has two distinct solutions, and putting them in standard position (x : y : z) = (1 : 1 : 0) and (1 : -1 : 0), the equation defining the E_7 families is

$$x^{4} - y^{2} + b_{0}xyz + b_{1}x^{3}z + c_{0}x^{2}z^{2} + c_{1}yz^{2} + dxz^{3} + ez = 0.$$

The following transformation

$$\begin{cases} x = x' - \frac{1}{4}b_1z' \\ y = y' + \frac{1}{2}b_0x'z' + \frac{1}{2}\left(c_1 - \frac{1}{4}b_0b_1\right)z'^2 \\ z = z' \end{cases}$$

allows us to simplify the equation further (using non-primed variables):

$$y^2 = x^4 + c_0 x^2 z^2 + dx z^3 + e z^4.$$

Since the weighted projective plane $\mathbb{P}^{1,1,2}$ can be embedded in \mathbb{P}^3 , an E_7 family can as well be defined as the intersection in the bundle of (*non*-weighted) projective spaces $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K))$ of the two hypersurfaces defined by

1. $X_0X_2 - X_1^2 = 0$, which is the image of $\mathbb{P}^{(1,1,2)}$ under the standard embedding

$$(z:x:y) \longmapsto (X_0:X_1:X_2:X_3) = (z^2:zx:x^2:y);$$

2. a quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 , defined by the vanishing of the degree two polynomial corresponding to the weighted polynomial of degree four:

$$X_3^2 = X_2^2 + c_0 X_1^2 + dX_0 X_1 + eX_0^2$$

with $c_0 \in H^0(B, -2K_B)$, $d \in H^0(B, -3K_B)$ and $e \in H^0(B, -4K_B)$.

6.3.1 Plane form

I want to describe a procedure which puts our family in a planar form, i.e. I want to define an isomorphism between the variety X defined in the bundle $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K))$ by

$$\begin{cases} x_0 x_2 = x_1^2 \\ x_3^2 = x_2^2 + c_0 x_1^2 + dx_0 x_1 + e x_1^2 \end{cases}$$

and a hypersurface \bar{X} in a suitable bundle over B with \mathbb{P}^2 -fibres. To obtain this I follow the method described in [Cas91, Chap. 8].

We have two obvious sections for our family E_7 , defined by

$$\begin{split} \sigma_+ : b \longmapsto (0:0:1:1) \in X_b \\ \sigma_- : b \longmapsto (0:0:1:-1) \in X_b \end{split}$$

and the first step is to make a transformation which maps $S_+ = \sigma_+(B)$ to $S'_+ = B \times \{(0:0:0:1)\}$:

$$\begin{cases} z_0 = x_0 \\ z_1 = x_1 \\ z_2 = x_2 - x_3 \\ z_3 = x_3 \end{cases} \longleftrightarrow \begin{cases} x_0 = z_0 \\ x_1 = z_1 \\ x_2 = z_2 + z_3 \\ x_3 = z_3. \end{cases}$$

So our family is defined by

$$\begin{cases} z_3 z_0 + z_0 z_2 - z_1^2 = 0\\ 2 z_3 z_2 + z_2^2 + e z_1^2 + f z_0 z_1 + g z_0^2 = 0 \end{cases}$$

and the two sections are

$$S'_{+} = B \times \{(0:0:0:1)\} \text{ and } S'_{-} = B \times \{(0:0:2:-1)\}.$$

The hypersurface described by $z_3 = 0$ gives us the \mathbb{P}^2 -bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_B \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-K_B) \oplus \mathcal{O}_B(-2K_B))$, and we project X from the constant section (0:0:

0:1) on $z_3 = 0$. The image of this projection in the coordinates $(X_0: X_1: X_2)$ of \mathbb{P}^2 is given by the equation

$$eX_0^3 + dX_0^2X_1 + c_0X_0X_1^2 + 2X_1^2X_2 - X_0X_2^2 = 0.$$

This equation defines \bar{X} , and we have the projection

$$: X \longrightarrow \overline{X}$$

$$(x_0: x_1: x_2: x_3) \longmapsto \begin{cases} X_0 = x_0 \\ X_1 = x_1 \\ X_2 = x_2 - x_3. \end{cases}$$

The image of S_+ is the section $S_1 = B \times \{(0 : 1 : 0)\}$, while S_- has image $S_2 = B \times \{(0 : 0 : 1)\}$.

The inverse of the previous morphism is

 ψ

$$\psi^{-1}: \quad \bar{X} \longrightarrow X$$

$$(X_0: X_1: X_2) \longmapsto \begin{cases} x_0 = X_0^2 \\ x_1 = X_0 X_1 \\ x_2 = X_1^2 \\ x_3 = X_1^2 - X_0 X_2. \end{cases}$$

Remark 6.3.1 In the case $B = \mathbb{P}^2$, what we found is (up to a sign) the equation of the generic smooth elliptic fibration in the bundle $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ obtained in Section 5.5.4. So if $B = \mathbb{P}^2$ then the E_7 family is the (6,3) family of Section 5.5.4.

6.3.2 Weierstrass model and singular fibres

Let's consider an E_7 family X defined over \mathbb{P}^2 and embedded in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ with coordinates (x : y : z). Then X has equation

$$X: -2xy^{2} + x^{2}z + \alpha_{021}y^{2}z + \alpha_{012}yz^{2} + \alpha_{003}z^{3} = 0,$$

and I want to describe the Weierstrass model with respect to the section $S=\sigma(\mathbb{P}^2)$ with

$$\sigma: b \longmapsto (1:0:0) \in X_b.$$

This is given by $y^2 z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ with

$$A = 4\alpha_{003} - \frac{1}{3}\alpha_{021}^2$$

$$B = \alpha_{012}^2 - \frac{2}{27}\alpha_{021}^3 - \frac{8}{3}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{003}$$

and discriminant locus

$$-4\alpha_{021}^3\alpha_{012}^2 + 16\alpha_{021}^4\alpha_{003} + 27\alpha_{012}^4 - 144\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012}^2\alpha_{003} + 128\alpha_{021}^2\alpha_{003}^2 + 256\alpha_{003}^3$$

The generic fibre over the discriminant locus is a rational nodal cubic, of Kodaira type I_1 , and these specialize to I_2 fibres over $\alpha_{012} = \alpha_{021}^2 + 4\alpha_{003} = 0$ and to II fibres over $27\alpha_{012}^2 - 8\alpha_{021}^2 = \alpha_{021}^2 - 12\alpha_{003} = 0$. If for some point $\alpha_{021} = \alpha_{012} = \alpha_{003} = 0$, over that point we have fibres III: to see with an example that this is possible, consider a fibration having $\alpha_{012} \equiv 0$ and α_{021} , α_{003} defining smooth curve intersecting transversally.

6.3.3 The number of sections

We know that intersecting X with the hyperplane section z = 0 gives two distinct sections, namely S and S_1 . I want now to show that over \mathbb{P}^2 these two are the only sections of such fibrations. Using (4.5) we can compute the second Chern class of X, and we also know the expression of the cubic form (see Section 5.5.1). What we have to do is to solve the following system. Let $\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma S_1$ be the class of a section, then

- 1. it intersects the class of a fibre only in a point;
- 2. its intersection with $c_2(X)$ is $\chi_{top}(\mathbb{P}^2) K_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 = -6$ by Friedman's result (3.4);
- 3. the value of the cubic self-intersection is $K_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 = 9$ by (3.3).

So we have to solve the system

$$\begin{cases} L^2(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma S_1) = 1\\ c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma S_1) = -6\\ (\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma S_1)^3 = 9, \end{cases}$$

which has only two solution, i.e. $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = (0, 1, 0), (0, 0, 1).$

6.4 Limits of E_7 families over \mathbb{P}^2

In Section 5.5.4 we saw that the anticanonical hypersurfaces in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(9) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ can be of two different types. The equation defining such varieties is

$$F = \alpha_{120}xy^2 + \alpha_{030}y^3 + \alpha_{201}x^2z + \alpha_{111}xyz + \alpha_{021}y^2z + \alpha_{102}xz^2 + \alpha_{012}yz^2 + \alpha_{003}z^3,$$

and the generic one, having $\alpha_{120} \neq 0$, belongs to the E_7 family. I now want to study in detail the subfamily of the family of elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ having $\alpha_{120} = 0$ (for this reason I propose to call E_7^0 this subfamily). In Section 5.5.4 we showed that a canonical equation for these varieties is

$$F = x^2 z + \alpha_{030} y^3 + \alpha_{021} y^2 z + \alpha_{012} y z^2 + \alpha_{003} z^3 = 0,$$

where each coefficient is as in Table 5.1 (p. 41). To see that we have a smooth example, consider the following choice for the coefficients: $\alpha_{012} = 0$ identically, and α_{030} , α_{021} , α_{003} define smooth curves with no point common to the three. The first thing we observe is that we can easily calculate the class of the hyperplane section $H = \xi_{|_X}$ of X:

$$\begin{cases} z=0\\ F=0 \end{cases} \longrightarrow \begin{cases} z=0\\ \alpha_{030}y^3=0. \end{cases}$$

So we have H = 3S + T, where S is the section (1:0:0) and T is the irreducible component of $\pi^* \alpha_{030} = 0$ containing the line z = 0 in the reducible fibres over the curve $\alpha_{030} = 0$ (the equation of such fibres is $z(x^2 + \alpha_{021}y^2 + \alpha_{012}yz +$ $\alpha_{003}z^2) = 0).$

So we have three divisors arising in a natural way,

L, S, T:

we know that $\operatorname{rk}\operatorname{Pic} X = 3$ and we will soon see that $\{L, S, T\}$ is a Q-basis for $\operatorname{Pic} X$.

6.4.1 Weierstrass model and singular fibres

It's easy to see that the Weierstrass model of these families with respect to the section S is given by

$$t^{2}u = s^{3} + \left(\alpha_{030}\alpha_{012} - \frac{1}{3}\alpha_{021}^{2}\right)su^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{3}\alpha_{030}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012} - \alpha_{030}^{2}\alpha_{003} - \frac{2}{27}\alpha_{021}^{3}\right)u^{3}$$

and the discriminant locus has equation

 $\alpha_{030}^2 (4\alpha_{030}\alpha_{012}^3 - \alpha_{021}^2\alpha_{012}^2 + 4\alpha_{021}^3\alpha_{003} - 18\alpha_{030}\alpha_{021}\alpha_{012}\alpha_{003} + 27\alpha_{030}^2\alpha_{003}^2).$

This means that the generic fibration of type E_7^0 has a curve in *B* over which we have I_2 fibres: the cubic $\alpha_{030} = 0$. Over this curve the equation of the fibre is

 $z(x^2 + \alpha_{021}y^2 + \alpha_{012}yz + \alpha_{003}z) = 0.$

6.4.2 The cubic form

We want to write the intersection table for this kind of families. We observe that

- $L^2T = 0$ since the generic fibre is not over $\alpha_{030} = 0$;
- $LST = L_{|s}T_{|s} = 3$ since it's the intersection of a line with a cubic;
- $LT^2 = T_{|_L}T_{|_L} = -6$ since $T_{|_L}$ is given by three (-2)-curves in a reducible fibre of the elliptic surface $X_{|_L}$;
- $S^2T = S_{|_S}T_{|_S} = -9$ since it's the intersection of the canonical class of \mathbb{P}^2 with a cubic;
- $ST^2 = T_{|_S}T_{|_S} = 9$ since it's the intersection of two cubics in $S \simeq \mathbb{P}^2$;
- $T^3 = K_T^2 = 0$ since T is a ruled surface over a cubic curve in $B = \mathbb{P}^2$.

Then the complete table is

	L	S	T
L^2	0	1	0
LS	1	-3	3
LT	0	3	-6
S^2	-3	9	-9
ST	3	-9	9
T^2	-6	9	0

Since the matrix obtained considering the first three rows has non-zero determinant, we conclude that the three divisors L, S, T are linearly independent, so that they form a \mathbb{Q} -basis for Pic X.

The cubic form thus has this expression:

$$(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T)^3 = -9\alpha\beta^2 - 18\alpha\gamma^2 + 3\alpha^2\beta + 18\alpha\beta\gamma + 9\beta^3 + 27\beta\gamma^2 - 27\beta^2\gamma.$$

Observe that in the projective plane \mathbb{P}^2 with coordinates $(\alpha : \beta : \gamma)$ the above expression defines a smooth cubic curve.

6.4.3 The number of sections

I want to show that these families have only one section. Since I will use Friedman's result (3.4), I need to compute $c_2(X)$: by (4.5) we have that

$$c_2(X) = 48L^2 + 81LS + 27LT + 27S^2 + 18ST + 3T^2.$$

Then we can use Friedman's result (3.4) as first step in searching for sections: if $\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T$ is the class of a section, then

$$c_2(X)(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T) = \chi_{top}(\mathbb{P}^2) - K_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 \Longrightarrow 36\alpha - 6\beta = -6$$

Another thing characterizing sections is the fact that they intersect the fibres in one point, i.e.

$$\beta = L^2(\alpha L + \beta S + \gamma T) = 1.$$

So we deduce that $\beta = 1$, $\alpha = 0$ which means that a section has class $S + \gamma T$. Finally, I exploit the fact (3.3) that

$$9 - 27\gamma + 27\gamma^2 = (S + \gamma T)^3 = K_{\mathbb{P}^2}^2 = 9$$

to deduce $\gamma = 0$ or $\gamma = 1$. In the first case, we have the class S, in the second the class S + T.

I want to show that S + T can't be the class of a section. In fact, a section intersects the I_2 fibres over the cubic $\alpha_{030} = 0$ either in a point of the line or in a point of the conic: in the first case the intersection of the section with LT is 3, in the second it's 0. Since

$$LT(S+T) = -3,$$

we deduce that no section can have class S+T, hence that S is the only possible class for a section.

I now want to study the linear system |S| to show that $|S| = \{S\}$ so that S is the only section of the fibration. Let D be an effective divisor linearly equivalent to S but different, then we would have

$$0 \le LSD = LS^2 = -3,$$

which is absurd. There is another way to see this: from the long exact sequence of

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(-S) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \longrightarrow 0$$

we have $H^3(X, \mathcal{O}(-S)) = \mathbb{C}$, then by Serre duality with $K_X = 0$ we have the result.

6.5 Elliptic fibrations with 2 rational sections

In the recent paper [MP, App. B] the authors deal with the problem of describing the elliptic fibrations over \mathbb{P}^2 with two rational sections. To be more precise, they show that it's possible to embed an elliptic curve defined over a field K and having two rational points in the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}^{1,1,2}_K$ as a quartic, with a particularly simple equation. When $K = \mathbb{C}(s,t)$ is the function field of \mathbb{P}^2 we are then dealing with the elliptic fibrations with two rational sections. In particular, the E_7 fibrations naturally situate in this framework, and in [MP, App. C] we also have a description of the E_7^0 families.

The more natural ambient space for fibrations with two rational sections is then a $\mathbb{P}^{1,1,2}$ -bundle over \mathbb{P}^2 , but this have the disadvantage of being singular. We can then desingularize this, finding a fibration in the Hirzebruch surface \mathcal{F}_2 . The fact that \mathbb{P}^2 , $\mathbb{P}^{1,1,2}$ and \mathcal{F}_2 are toric varieties allows us to use the powerful machinery of toric geometry, and hopefully to describe all the possible cases where we have smooth elliptic fibrations with two rational sections.

This is still a work in progress, we hope to obtain results in the near future.

Chapter 7

An application to physics

One of the main reasons for studying Calabi– Yau elliptic fibrations comes from physics. In the context of string theory, *F*-theory was first formulated by Vafa ([Vaf96]), and provides a sort of dictionary which allows one to deduce the physical phenomenology arising from an elliptic fibration. Since the results must be compatible with the ones observed in the "real" world, it's natural to restrict the attention only to particular subclasses of Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations, satisfying some more requirements.

From a physical perspective, the generation of fluxes is a consequence of the selfinteractions of particles or fields (the Feynman diagram of such a self-interaction is called a *tadpole*). By Gauss's theorem these fluxes must vanishes, so there are only two possibilities: one is to introduce extra-fluxes as compensation, the other is to allow only configurations for which these fluxes naturally vanish. This second possibility is known as *tadpole cancellation*.

In mathematical terms, we can say that a Calabi–Yau elliptic threefold π : $X \longrightarrow B$ embedded in $Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ satisfies the tadpole cancellation if it's possible to find a suitable section $h \in H^0(B, \mathcal{L}^2)$ and curves D_i for $i = 0, \ldots r$ in the double cover $\rho: Y \longrightarrow B$ branched along h = 0 such that

- 1. each D_i has class $m_i \rho^* L$, i.e. D_i comes from B;
- 2. $m_i > 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^r m_i = 12$, because in this way $D_1 + \ldots + D_r$ has class $12\rho^*L$ which is the same as the class of $\rho^*\Delta$. So we can think of the D_i as the pull-back of components of the discriminant locus of $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$;
- 3. the tadpole relation

$$\pi_* c(X) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r \rho_* j_{i*} c(D_i)$$
(7.1)

holds, where $j_i: D_i \hookrightarrow Y$ is the inclusion.

This definition is inspired from results showing how to connect the physical aspects of tadpole cancellation to the geometric properties of the Calabi–Yau threefold (or fourfold) representing the theory. These relations involve the topological Euler–Poincaré characteristic of divisors in the base that are interpreted as components of a "limit discriminant locus" for the fibration. See e.g. [AE10, Sect. 1.6 and 4.1] for a more precise description of tadpole cancellation and [Sen98] for the limit process.

7.1The left hand side of the tadpole relation

Even if in physics it's customary to focus on the case of elliptic fourfolds, through these sections I will assume the total space of the fibration to be a threefold. In particular, I will concentrate on the situation of Chapter 4, where the threefold X sits inside the projective bundle $Z = \mathbb{P}(E)$, and $E = \mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B$ with \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on B. Recall formula (4.3)

$$c(X) = i^* \left(\frac{c(T_Z|B)}{1 - K_Z} \Pi^* c(B) \right),$$

so we can see that $\pi_*c(X)$ is a multiple of c(B):

$$\pi_* c(X) = \Pi_* \left(\frac{c(T_{Z|B})}{1 - K_Z} X \right) c(B).$$

In the case of threefolds, we can work this out as follows:

$$\frac{c(T_{Z|B})}{1-K_Z}X = 3\xi + \Pi^*c_1(E) + \Pi^*c_1(B) + -3\Pi^*c_1(B)\xi - \Pi^*c_1(E)\Pi^*c_1(B) - \Pi^*c_1(B)^2 + 12\Pi^*c_1(B)\xi^2 + 2\Pi^*(c_1(E)^2 + 4c_1(E)c_1(B) + 3c_1(B)^2 - 3c_2(E))\xi + + 6(3c_2(E) - 5c_1(B)^2 - c_1(E)^2)\xi^2$$

and so, using the projection formula and keeping in mind that

$$\Pi_* 1_Z = \Pi_* \xi = 0, \qquad \Pi_* \xi^2 = 1_B,$$

we finally obtain

`

$$\pi_* c(X) = (12c_1(B) + 18c_2(E) - 30c_1(B)^2 - 6c_1(E)^2)c(B).$$
(7.2)

Remark 7.1.1 Observe that this result is consistent with the one we found in Section 4.4. In fact, since $c(B) = 1 + c_1(B) + c_2(B)$, we have

$$\pi_* c(X) = 12c_1(B) + 18c_2(E) - 18c_1(B)^2 - 6c_1(E)^2$$

whose degree coincides with the Euler-Poincaré characteristic of the threefold computed in (4.4).

Specializing the previous formula in the case with $E = \mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B$, we get

$$\pi_* c(X) = (12c_1(B) + 6(ab - a^2 - b^2)L^2 - 30c_1(B)^2)c(B),$$
(7.3)

which means

$$\pi_* c(X) = 12c_1(B) + 6(ab - a^2 - b^2)L^2 - 18c_1(B)^2.$$
(7.4)

Thus we know the left hand side of the tadpole relation (7.1), and we can focus on the right one.

7.2 The right hand side of the tadpole relation

Let $\rho: Y \longrightarrow B$ be the double covering of X branched along the zero locus of $h \in H^0(B, \mathcal{L}^2)$, and let D be a curve in Y of class $m\rho^*L$. Then we have



and we want to compute $\tilde{\rho}_* c(D)$.

Using the normal bundle sequence for D in Y we have

$$c(D) = j^* \left(\frac{c(Y)}{1 + m\rho^* L} \right),$$

and so using the projection formula

$$\tilde{\rho}_* c(D) = \frac{mL}{1+mL} \rho_* c(Y).$$

Using the same technique for the inclusion $i: Y \hookrightarrow \mathcal{L}$ we have

$$c(Y) = i^* \left(\frac{c(T_{\mathcal{L}})}{1 + 2p^*L} \right)$$

where $p: \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow B$ is the bundle projection. So our previous formula becomes

$$\tilde{\rho}_*c(D) = \frac{mL}{1+mL} \frac{2L}{1+2L} p_*c(T_{\mathcal{L}}),$$

and using the inclusion of B as the 0-section of \mathcal{L} we finally obtain

$$\tilde{\rho}_*c(D) = \frac{mL}{1+mL} \frac{2L}{1+2L} \frac{1+L}{L} c(B) = 2\frac{mL}{1+mL} \frac{1+L}{1+2L} c(B).$$

Letting now D_1, \ldots, D_r be curves of class $m_1 \rho^* L, \ldots, m_r \rho^* L$ respectively, we can then compute the right hand side of the tadpole relation (7.1):

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \rho_* j_{i*} c(D_i) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{m_i L}{1+m_i L}\right) \frac{1+L}{1+2L} c(B).$$

This equation holds in every dimension, in the case where B is a surface we can then make an explicit computation, which gives us

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r}\rho_{*}j_{i*}c(D_{i}) = \left(12L - \left(12 - \sum_{i=1}^{r}m_{i}^{2}\right)L^{2}\right)c(B),$$
(7.5)

using the assumption that $\sum_{i=1}^{r} m_i = 12$.

7.3 Tadpole cancellation for threefolds

As we computed before, the tadpole cancellation (7.1) for elliptic Calabi–Yau threefolds can be written as

$$(12c_1(B) + 6(ab - a^2 - b^2)L^2 - 30c_1(B)^2)c(B) = \left(12L - \left(12 - \sum_{i=1}^r m_i^2\right)L^2\right)c(B)$$
(7.6)

The simplest way we can satisfy this equation is to require that

$$12c_1(B) + 6(ab - a^2 - b^2)L^2 - 30c_1(B)^2 = 12L - \left(12 - \sum_{i=1}^r m_i^2\right)L^2, \quad (7.7)$$

in fact in this way we have tadpole cancellation over any base surface. For this reason we say that (7.7) gives the *universal tadpole cancellation* relation. Observe that this last condition is purely numerical.

I will say that $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ satisfies the tadpole relation (or the universal tadpole relation) if X sits in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ and equation (7.6) (or (7.7)) is satisfied for suitable integers m_i .

As observed before, the difference between tadpole cancellation and universal tadpole cancellation is that the second is only a numerical relation while in the first there is also a contribution of the base B. Nevertheless in the case we are studying the two concepts are equivalent.

Proposition 7.1 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic threefold, with $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ for \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on B. Then X satisfies the tadpole cancellation if and only if it satisfies the universal tadpole relation.

Proof Let assume that the non-universal relation holds. We have to prove that the universal relation (7.7) is satisfied. Writing explicitly $c(B) = 1 + c_1(B) + c_2(B)$ we see that (7.6) reduces to

$$12c_1(B) + 6(ab - a^2 - b^2)L^2 - 18c_1(B)^2 =$$
$$= 12L - \left(12 + \sum_{i=1}^r m_i^2\right)L^2 + 12c_1(B)L,$$

and so the left side of the universal tadpole relation (7.7) equals

$$12L - \left(12 + \sum_{i=1}^{r} m_i^2\right) L^2 + 12c_1(B)L - 12c_1(B)^2.$$

Since we are assuming that the tadpole relation holds, we have $12c_1(B) = 12L$, it follows that $12c_1(B)^2 = 12Lc_1(B)$, i.e. that universal tadpole cancellation holds.

The other part of the proposition is obvious.

In the case of elliptic threefolds we have then reduced the problem of tadpole cancellation to a numerical problem. Our next goal is to solve this problem, finding all the possible bundles and curves configurations. The next proposition will help us.

Proposition 7.2 Let $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ be an elliptic threefold with tadpole cancellation in $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ for \mathcal{L} an ample line bundle on B. Then $\mathcal{L} = \omega_B^{-1}$ and so B is a del Pezzo surface.

Proof From the universal tadpole relation we have that $12L = 12c_1(B)$, which means that $c_1(B) = L + T$ with T a torsion divisor satisfying 12T = 0. Since L is ample, we then deduce that $c_1(B)$ is also ample. So B is a del Pezzo surface, and since these surfaces have torsion-free Picard group we have that $c_1(B) = L$. \Box

In Section 4.3.1 we computed that if B is a del Pezzo surface, then only for

$$(a,b) = (0,0), (1,1), (1,0), (2,1), (3,2),$$

the generic anticanonical hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(\omega_B^{-a} \oplus \omega_B^{-b} \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ is a smooth elliptic fibration. This means that with a case by case analysis of the partitions of 12 we solve the problem of finding all the cases with tadpole cancellation. This is the result.

Proposition 7.3 Let B be a del Pezzo surface, and $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\omega_B^{-a} \oplus \omega_B^{-b} \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ a generic anticanonical hypersurface. Then X satisfies the tadpole cancellation only in the cases listed in the following table:

(a,b)	(m_1,\ldots,m_r)
(0, 0)	(2, 2, 2, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(1, 0)	(4, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(1, 0)	(3, 3, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(1, 0)	$\left(3,2,2,2,1,1,1\right)$
(1, 0)	$\left(2,2,2,2,2,2\right)$
(1, 1)	(4, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(1, 1)	(3,3,1,1,1,1,1,1)
(1, 1)	$\left(3,2,2,2,1,1,1\right)$
(1, 1)	$\left(2,2,2,2,2,2\right)$
(2, 1)	$\left(5,2,2,1,1,1\right)$
(2, 1)	(4, 4, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(2, 1)	(4, 3, 3, 1, 1)
(2, 1)	(3,3,3,3)
(3, 2)	(7, 3, 1, 1)

From the above table we can see that any of the five admissible cases for (a, b) has at least a configuration determining tadpole cancellation. However, to construct explicitly an example for each of them it's a quite arduous problem. In fact many constructions which are possible locally on the base, fail to globalize; see e.g. [KMSNS11].

It's my personal opinion that in order to find an example it's necessary the presence of at least a 1 in the sequence (m_1, \ldots, m_r) , even if I do not have a

proof for that.

7.3.1 The case of fourfolds

It's possible to perform analogous computations assuming that X is an elliptically fibered Calabi–Yau fourfold over a threefold B, as it's usual in physics. In particular, the analogous table of possible cases for the universal tadpole cancellation reduces to the following:

(a,b)	(m_1,\ldots,m_r)
(1, 0)	(2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2)
(1, 1)	(3, 3, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1)
(2, 1)	(4, 4, 1, 1, 1, 1)

In this higher dimensional setting, the equivalence between tadpole cancellation and universal tadpole cancellation breaks, so the table above *is not* a list of all the configurations giving tadpole cancellation. It's possible to find examples of elliptic Calabi–Yau fourfolds of type (1,1) and (1,2) in the original paper [AE10]. In [CCvG11], we give a detailed proof of the fact that these three are the only possible configurations for Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations X with universal tadpole cancellation and dim $X \geq 3$. The family of fibrations of type (1,0) is the higher-dimensional analogous of the family of elliptic threefolds in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(3) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})$ studied in Chapter 6.1, but, as observed above, we couldn't find a geometric example with a configuration realizing the universal tadpole cancellation.

Appendix A

Computing Hodge numbers

In this appendix I will give a brief description of the algorithm introduced in [BJRR10], [RR10] and [BJRR12], and the computation made to determine the Hodge numbers in Chapter 5. There is also an independent proof of the same algorithm, which can be found in [Jow11].

Since all the line bundles $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(n)$ are over the projective plane, I will write $\mathcal{O}(n)$ to simplify the notation.

Observe that if $\pi : X \longrightarrow B$ is an elliptic Calabi–Yau fibration, then ([Ogu93, Main Theorem]) B is a rational surface. So the methods used in this appendix can be used to compute, for example, the Hodge diamonds of the Calabi–Yau elliptic fibrations in $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{L}^a \oplus \mathcal{L}^b \oplus \mathcal{O}_B)$ where \mathcal{L} is an ample line bundle on a rational toric surface B. The main class of such surfaces is given by the Hirzebruch surfaces \mathcal{F}_r .

Observe that there is another (and well known) algorithm to compute the Hodge numbers of anticanonical hypersurfaces in toric varieties, described in [CK99]. The reason why I will use the algorithm in [BJRR12] is that the one in [CK99] only works for anticanonical hypersurfaces in *Gorenstein Fano* toric varieties, and our \mathbb{P}^2 -bundles are Gorenstein and toric, but typically not Fano.

A.1 Toric description of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$

The $\mathbb{P}^2\text{-bundle}$ over \mathbb{P}^2

$$Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$$

is a toric variety, so we can find many information on it. Since I will use results from [Ful93] and [CLS11], I'll use mainly \mathbb{P}_h , but every result for $\mathbb{P}_h(\mathcal{O}(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\beta) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ is also a result for $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(a) \oplus \mathcal{O}(b) \oplus \mathcal{O})$ provided we replace α with -a and β with -b.

A.1.1 The fan

I want to determine the fan for the projective space bundle $\mathbb{P}_h(\mathcal{O}(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\beta) \oplus \mathcal{O})$. The fibration is locally trivial, hence we begin with the cone of vertices

$$v_0 = (1, 0, 0, 0)$$
 $w_1 = (0, 0, 1, 0)$
 $v_1 = (0, 1, 0, 0)$ $w_2 = (0, 0, 0, 1)$

defining \mathbb{C}^4 . To be more precise, associating coordinates to each ray in the following way

$$\begin{array}{ccc} v_0 \rightsquigarrow x_1 & w_1 \rightsquigarrow y_1 \\ v_1 \rightsquigarrow x_2 & w_2 \rightsquigarrow y_2 \end{array}$$

we have $\mathbb{C}^4 = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2]$. Defining $w_3 = (0, 0, -1, -1)$, we have that the toric variety defined by the fan with maximal cones

$$\operatorname{cone}(v_0, v_1, w_0, w_1), \quad \operatorname{cone}(v_0, v_1, w_0, w_2), \quad \operatorname{cone}(v_0, v_1, w_1, w_2)$$

is $\mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^2$, where the variable x_i 's are coordinates in the base \mathbb{C}^2 and the y_j 's are coordinates in \mathbb{P}^2 . Coming back to the first cone, we consider the map

where the first two components are the glueing for the base \mathbb{P}^2 , and the last two are the transition functions of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\beta) \oplus \mathcal{O})$. The target \mathbb{C}^4 is then the toric variety Spec $\mathbb{C}[x_1x_2^{-1}, x_2^{-1}, x_2^{\alpha}y_1, x_2^{\beta}y_2]$, which is given by the cone with generators

$$(1,0,0,0),$$
 $(-1,-1,\alpha,\beta),$ $(0,0,1,0),$ $(0,0,0,1).$

Defining $v_2 = (-1, -1, \alpha, \beta)$, we have just showed that $\operatorname{cone}(v_0, v_2, w_1, w_2)$ is in the fan for $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\beta) \oplus \mathcal{O})$.

With the same argument as before, it's possible to find all the cones in the fan: its set of edges $\Sigma(1)$ has as elements the rays generated by the six vectors of \mathbb{R}^4

$$\begin{aligned} v_0 &= (1,0,0,0) & w_1 &= (0,0,1,0) \\ v_1 &= (0,1,0,0) & w_2 &= (0,0,0,1) \\ v_2 &= (-1,-1,\alpha,\beta) & w_3 &= (0,0,-1,-1) \end{aligned}$$

and its nine maximal cones have as generators two rays v_i and two rays w_i .

A.1.2 Invariant divisors

(

To each ray in $\Sigma(1)$ is associated a torus-invariant divisor. What we said before allows us to conclude that D_{v_0} , D_{v_1} and D_{v_2} are given by p^*l_i , being l_i the line in \mathbb{P}^2 associated to v_i , but then

$$\mathcal{O}(D_{v_0}) = \mathcal{O}(D_{v_1}) = \mathcal{O}(D_{v_2}) = p^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1).$$

We can verify this since ([Ful93, P. 61])

$$(\chi^u) = \sum_i \langle u, v_i \rangle D_i :$$

using this relation on the four rational functions x_1, x_2, y_1 and y_2 we can conclude that

$$(x_1) = D_{v_0} - D_{v_2} (x_2) = D_{v_1} - D_{v_2} (y_1) = \alpha D_{v_2} + D_{w_1} - D_{w_3} (y_2) = \beta D_{v_2} + D_{w_2} - D_{w_3}$$

In particular D_{v_0} , D_{v_1} and D_{v_2} are linearly equivalent divisors, and we denote by L their class. Let ξ be the class of D_{w_3} , then

$$D_{w_1} \equiv D_{w_3} - \alpha D_{v_2} = \xi - \alpha L, \qquad D_{w_2} \equiv D_{w_3} - \beta D_{v_2} = \xi - \beta L$$

and so L and ξ are generators for Pic Z: L is the class of the pull-back of a line in \mathbb{P}^2 and ξ is the hyperplane section of Z.

A.2 Cohomology of $\mathcal{O}_Z(-K_Z)$

We want to use the algorithm described in [BJRR12] to calculate the dimension of the cohomology groups $H^i(Z, -K_Z)$: then we can describe the Hodge diamond of $X \in |-K_Z|$.

Let Z be the projective bundle over \mathbb{P}^2 defined by

$$Z = \mathbb{P}_h(\mathcal{O}(\alpha) \oplus \mathcal{O}(\beta) \oplus \mathcal{O}),$$

which we analysed in the previous section. The Stanley–Reisner ideal of Z is the ideal of $\mathbb{Q}[u_1, \ldots, u_6]$ generated by the square-free monomials $u_{i_1} \ldots u_{i_t}$ for which the corresponding edges generate a cone which *is not* in the fan for Z, so it's given by¹

$$\operatorname{SR}(Z) = \langle u_1 u_2 u_3, u_4 u_5 u_6 \rangle.$$

A.2.1 A brief description of the algorithm

Let Z be a toric variety, with homogeneous coordinates u_1, \ldots, u_n and Stanley– Reisner ideal $SR(Z) = \langle S_1, \ldots, S_t \rangle$. Let D be a divisor on Z: the following algorithm ([BJRR12, Sect. 2.1]) will compute the dimension of the cohomology spaces $H^i(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(D))$. First of all we define:

1. for any subset $A = \{a_1, \ldots, a_k\} \subseteq \{1, \ldots, t\}$ of k elements, the set

$$S_A^k = \{S_{a_1}, \dots, S_{a_k}\};$$

- 2. $Q(S_A^k)$, the square-free monomial obtained multiplying all the variables appearing in the monomials in S_A^k ;
- 3. the "degree" of $Q(S_A^k)$

$$M(S_A^k) = (\text{degree of } Q(S_A^k)) - k.$$

For any monomial Q it's possible to define a chain complex $\mathcal{C}_{\bullet}(Q)$ such that

$$\dim \mathcal{C}_i(Q) = \#\{S_A^k | Q(S_A^k) = Q, \ M(S_A^k) = i\},\$$

¹The coordinates u_i correspond to the rays in $\Sigma(1)$ in the following way:

```
\begin{array}{lll} u_1 \rightsquigarrow v_0 & u_4 \rightsquigarrow w_1 \\ u_2 \rightsquigarrow v_1 & u_5 \rightsquigarrow w_2 \\ u_3 \rightsquigarrow v_2 & u_6 \rightsquigarrow w_3 \end{array}
```

and the first step in the algorithm is to compute the *multiplicity factors*

$$h_i(Q) = \dim H_i(\mathcal{C}_{\bullet}(Q)),$$

which are then quantities depending only on Z and not on D. Given any monomial Q, we consider the *rationomials* (rational monomials) associated to Q, i.e. rational functions in the homogeneous variables on Z of the form

$$R^Q(u_1,\ldots,u_n) = \frac{T}{Q \cdot W}$$

where

1. T is a monomial which does not depend on the variables appearing in Q;

2. W is a monomial which depends only on the variables appearing in Q.

We then define

$$N_D(Q) = \dim\{R^Q | \deg R^Q = D\},$$

and compute ([Jow11, Cor. 1.2] and [BJRR12, Sect. 2.1])

$$\dim H^i(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(D)) = \sum_Q h_i(Q) N_D(Q).$$

A.2.2 Computing the multiplicity factors

Since in our case SR(Z) has only two generators, $S_1 = u_1 u_2 u_3$ and $S_2 = u_4 u_5 u_6$, we have the following four sets:

$$\begin{split} S^0_{\varnothing} &= \{0\} \\ S^1_{\{1\}} &= \{u_1 u_2 u_3\} \\ S^1_{\{2\}} &= \{u_4 u_5 u_6\} \\ S^2_{\{1,2\}} &= \{u_1 u_2 u_3, u_4 u_5 u_6\}, \end{split}$$

to which we associate the monomials

$$\begin{split} &Q(S^0_{\varnothing}) = 1 \\ &Q(S^1_{\{1\}}) = u_1 u_2 u_3 \\ &Q(S^1_{\{2\}}) = u_4 u_5 u_6 \\ &Q(S^2_{\{1,2\}}) = u_1 u_2 u_3 u_4 u_5 u_6. \end{split}$$

To each of them is associated the number

$$\begin{split} &M(S^0_{\emptyset}) = 0 - 0 = 0 \\ &M(S^1_{\{1\}}) = 3 - 1 = 2 \\ &M(S^1_{\{2\}}) = 3 - 1 = 2 \\ &M(S^2_{\{1,2\}}) = 6 - 2 = 4, \end{split}$$

and these numbers are needed to calculate the dimensions of the vector spaces in the chain complexes associated to each of the four monomials. In our case these complexes are extremely easy, and we can compute the dimension of the $i\text{-}\mathrm{th}$ homology vector space of each complex, which gives us a multiplicity factor $h_i:$

$$h_i(1) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 0 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad h_i(u_1u_2u_3) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 2 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
$$h_i(u_4u_5u_6) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 2 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad h_i(u_1u_2u_3u_4u_5u_6) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 4 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The algorithm then implies that for any divisor D we have

$$h^{0}(D) = N_{D}(1),$$

$$h^{1}(D) = 0,$$

$$h^{2}(D) = N_{D}(u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}) + N_{D}(u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}),$$

$$h^{3}(D) = 0,$$

$$h^{4}(D) = N_{D}(u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}).$$

A.2.3 Computing the number of rationomials

The next step is to calculate the number of rationomials associated to a given divisor D. The rationomials we are interested in are:

$$\begin{aligned} R^{1}(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6}) &= T(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6}) \\ R^{u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}}(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6}) &= \frac{T(u_{4},u_{5},u_{6})}{u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}W(u_{1},u_{2},u_{3})} \\ R^{u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}}(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6}) &= \frac{T(u_{1},u_{2},u_{3})}{u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}W(u_{4},u_{5},u_{6})} \\ R^{u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}}(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6}) &= \frac{1}{u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}u_{4}u_{5}u_{6}W(u_{1},\ldots,u_{6})}. \end{aligned}$$

The number $N_D(Q)$ we want to determine is the number of all possible rationomials \mathbb{R}^Q whose associated divisor is D. Denoting by e_i the exponent of u_i in Tand W, then

1. to R^1 we associate the divisor

$$(e_1 + e_2 + e_3 - \alpha e_4 - \beta e_5)L + (e_4 + e_5 + e_6)\xi;$$

2. to $R^{u_1u_2u_3}$ we associate

$$(-3 - e_1 - e_2 - e_3 - \alpha e_4 - \beta e_5)L + (e_4 + e_5 + e_6)\xi;$$

3. to $R^{u_4u_5u_6}$ we associate

$$(e_1 + e_2 + e_3 + \alpha + \beta + \alpha e_4 + \beta e_5)L + (-3 - e_4 - e_5 - e_6)\xi;$$

4. to $R^{u_1u_2u_3u_4u_5u_6}$ we associate

$$(-3 + \alpha + \beta - e_1 - e_2 - e_3 + \alpha e_4 + \beta e_5)L + (-3 - e_4 - e_5 - e_6)\xi.$$

A.2.4 Cohomology of invariant divisors

The choice D = L gives

$$\begin{split} N_L(1) &= 3 & N_L(u_1 u_2 u_3) = 0 \\ N_L(u_4 u_5 u_6) &= 0 & N_L(u_1 u_2 u_3 u_4 u_5 u_6) = 0 \end{split}$$

and then for k = 1, 2, 3 we have

$$\dim H^i(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(D_k)) = \begin{cases} 3 & i = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For $D = \xi$ we have²

$$N_{\xi}(1) = {\binom{\alpha+2}{2}} + {\binom{\beta+2}{2}} + 1 \quad N_{\xi}(u_1u_2u_3) = {\binom{-1-\alpha}{2}} + {\binom{-1-\beta}{2}} \\ N_{\xi}(u_4u_5u_6) = 0 \qquad \qquad N_{\xi}(u_1u_2u_3u_4u_5u_6) = 0$$

hence

$$\dim H^{i}(Z, \mathcal{O}_{Z}(D_{6})) = \begin{cases} \binom{\alpha+2}{2} + \binom{\beta+2}{2} + 1 & i = 0\\ \binom{-1-\alpha}{2} + \binom{-1-\beta}{2} & i = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since $D_4 = \xi - \alpha L$ we have

$$N_{D_4}(1) = \binom{-\alpha+2}{2} + \binom{\beta-\alpha+2}{2} + 1 \quad N_{D_4}(u_1u_2u_3) = \binom{\alpha-1}{2} + \binom{\alpha-\beta-1}{2} \\ N_{D_4}(u_4u_5u_6) = 0 \qquad \qquad N_{D_4}(u_1u_2u_3u_4u_5u_6) = 0$$

and so

$$\dim H^i(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(D_4)) = \begin{cases} \binom{-\alpha+2}{2} + \binom{\beta-\alpha+2}{2} + 1 & i = 0\\ \binom{\alpha-1}{2} + \binom{\alpha-\beta-1}{2} & i = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

In the same way

$$\dim H^i(Z, \mathcal{O}_Z(D_5)) = \begin{cases} \binom{-\beta+2}{2} + \binom{\alpha-\beta+2}{2} + 1 & i = 0\\ \binom{\beta-1}{2} + \binom{\beta-\alpha-1}{2} & i = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

A.2.5 Cohomology of $-K_Z$

Remembering that

$$-K_Z \equiv (3 - \alpha - \beta)L + 3\xi,$$

we have

$$N_{-K_Z}(u_4u_5u_6) = 0, \qquad N_{-K_Z}(u_1u_2u_3u_4u_5u_6) = 0$$

and then

$$\dim H^{i}(Z, -K_{Z}) = \begin{cases} N_{-K_{Z}}(1) & i = 0\\ N_{-K_{Z}}(u_{1}u_{2}u_{3}) & i = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

²Form here the binomial $\binom{n}{m}$ is zero if n < m (in particular this holds for n < 0).

and each of them is the sum of $10 = \binom{3+2}{2}$ binomial terms. An explicit computation then shows that

$$h^{0}(Z, -K_{Z}) = \begin{pmatrix} 2\alpha - \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha + 2\beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \begin{pmatrix} 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha + \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha + \beta - 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha - \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - \beta + 5 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \\ \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha - \beta - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha - 2 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - 2\beta - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -\alpha + \beta - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \begin{pmatrix} -4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - \beta - 4 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha - 2 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha -$$

A.3 Hodge numbers of $X \in |-K_Z|$

Let $X \in |-K_Z|$ be a smooth hypersurface. Our aim is to describe the Hodge diamond of X using what we know up to now. Since X is a Calabi–Yau variety, the only interesting numbers are $h^{1,1}(X)$ and $h^{1,2}(X)$. By Serre duality with $\omega_X \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$ we have

$$H^{1,q}(X) = H^{q}(X, \Omega^{1}_{X}) = H^{q}(X, \Omega^{1}_{X} \otimes \omega_{X}) = H^{3-q}(X, \mathcal{T}_{X}),$$
(A.1)

where \mathcal{T}_X is the tangent bundle of X. Our aim is then to compute $H^p(X, \mathcal{T}_X)$, and I will do it in several steps.

1. Tensoring the exact sequence defining X in Z

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z(K_Z) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow 0$$

with $\mathcal{O}_Z(-K_Z)$ we get

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(X) \longrightarrow 0,$$

which allows us to compute the cohomology of the normal bundle $\mathcal{N}_{X|Z}$: $H^p(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) = H^p(X, \mathcal{O}_X(X))$. In particular, the result is

$$\begin{split} h^{0}(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) &= h^{0}(Z, -K_{Z}) - 1, \\ h^{1}(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) &= 0, \\ h^{2}(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) &= h^{2}(Z, -K_{Z}), \\ h^{3}(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) &= 0, \end{split}$$

and we computed $h^p(Z, -K_Z)$ before.

2. Thanks to the algorithm we know the cohomology $H^p(Z, D_j)$ for any torus invariant divisor D_j , and by Serre duality we know also $H^p(Z, K_Z - D_j)$. So we can compute $h^p(D_j, \omega_{Z|D_j}) = h^p(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z))$ from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z(K_Z - D_j) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_Z(K_Z) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z) \longrightarrow 0,$$

finding

$$\begin{split} h^0(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z)) &= 0, \\ h^1(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z)) &= h^2(Z, D_j), \\ h^2(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z)) &= 0, \\ h^3(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z)) &= h^0(Z, D_j) - 1, \\ h^4(D_j, \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z)) &= 0. \end{split}$$

3. Tensor the sequence [Ful93, P. 87]

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^1_Z \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^4 \otimes \mathcal{O}_Z \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^6 \mathcal{O}_{D_j} \longrightarrow 0$$

by ω_Z to find

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^1_Z \otimes \omega_Z \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^4 \otimes \omega_Z \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^6 \mathcal{O}_{D_j}(K_Z) \longrightarrow 0,$$

and then compute $H^p(Z, \Omega^1_Z \otimes \omega_Z)$. The result is

$$\begin{split} h^{0}(Z,\mathcal{T}_{Z}) &= \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{0}(Z,D_{j}) - 2, \\ h^{1}(Z,\mathcal{T}_{Z}) &= 0, \\ h^{2}(Z,\mathcal{T}_{Z}) &= \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{2}(Z,D_{j}), \\ h^{3}(Z,\mathcal{T}_{Z}) &= 0, \\ h^{4}(Z,\mathcal{T}_{Z}) &= 0, \end{split}$$

where by Serre duality $H^p(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z) = H^{4-p}(Z, \Omega^1_Z \otimes \omega_Z).$

4. Exploiting the fact that

$$H^p(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z(-X)) = H^p(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z \otimes \omega_Z) = H^{4-p}(Z, \Omega_Z^1)$$

we can compute the cohomology $H^p(X, \mathcal{T}_{Z|X})$ from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_Z(-X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_Z \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X} \longrightarrow 0.$$

In particular,

$$\begin{split} h^{0}(X,\mathcal{T}_{Z|_{X}}) &= \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{0}(Z,D_{j}) - 2, \\ h^{1}(X,\mathcal{T}_{Z|_{X}}) &= 0, \\ h^{2}(X,\mathcal{T}_{Z|_{X}}) &= \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{2}(Z,D_{j}) + 2, \\ h^{3}(X,\mathcal{T}_{Z|_{X}}) &= 0. \end{split}$$

5. Finally, from the normal bundle sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}_{X|Z} \longrightarrow 0$$

we can compute $H^p(X, \mathcal{T}_X)$:

$$h^{0}(X, \mathcal{T}_{X}) = 0,$$

$$h^{1}(X, \mathcal{T}_{X}) = h^{0}(Z, -K_{Z}) + 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{0}(Z, D_{j}),$$

$$h^{2}(X, \mathcal{T}_{X}) = \sum_{j=1}^{6} h^{2}(Z, D_{j}) + 2 - h^{2}(Z, -K_{Z}),$$

$$h^{3}(X, \mathcal{T}_{X}) = 0.$$

In this way we can compute $h^{1,1}(X)$ and $h^{1,2}(X)$: the results are in Table 5.2.

Remark A.3.1 The long exact sequence of

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_X \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X} \longrightarrow \mathcal{N}_{X|Z} \longrightarrow 0$$

begins with

$$0 \to H^0(X, \mathcal{T}_X) \to H^0(X, \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X}) \to H^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X}).$$

From the previous steps we know that $H^0(X, \mathcal{T}_X) = 0$, $H^0(X, \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X}) = 0$ and also that there is an isomorphism

$$H^0(X, \mathcal{T}_{Z|_X}) \simeq H^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z).$$

We can then deduce that the short sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(Z, \mathcal{T}_Z) \longrightarrow H^0(X, \mathcal{N}_{X|Z}) \longrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{T}_X) \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact.

Bibliography

- [AE10] Paolo Aluffi and Mboyo Esole. New orientifold weak coupling limits in F-theory. J. High Energy Phys., (2):020, i, 52, 2010.
- [BC94] Victor V. Batyrev and David A. Cox. On the Hodge structure of projective hypersurfaces in toric varieties. *Duke Math. J.*, 75(2):293–338, 1994.
- [Bea96] Arnaud Beauville. Complex algebraic surfaces, volume 34 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1996. Translated from the 1978 French original by R. Barlow, with assistance from N. I. Shepherd-Barron and M. Reid.
- [BHPVdV04] Wolf P. Barth, Klaus Hulek, Chris A. M. Peters, and Antonius Van de Ven. Compact complex surfaces, volume 4 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004.
- [BJRR10] Ralph Blumenhagen, Benjamin Jurke, Thorsten Rahn, and Helmut Roschy. Cohomology of line bundles: a computational algorithm. J. Math. Phys., 51(10):103525, 15, 2010.
- [BJRR12] Ralph Blumenhagen, Benjamin Jurke, Thorsten Rahn, and Helmut Roschy. Cohomology of line bundles: applications. J. Math. Phys., 53(1):012302, 38, 2012.
- [Cas91] J. W. S. Cassels. Lectures on elliptic curves, volume 24 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [CCvG11] Sergio L. Cacciatori, Andrea Cattaneo, and Bert van Geemen. A new CY elliptic fibration and tadpole cancellation. J. High Energy Phys., (10):031, 20, 2011.
- [CK99] David A. Cox and Sheldon Katz. Mirror symmetry and algebraic geometry, volume 68 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [CLS11] David A. Cox, John B. Little, and Henry K. Schenck. Toric varieties, volume 124 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2011.

- [Cox95] David A. Cox. The homogeneous coordinate ring of a toric variety. J. Algebraic Geom., 4(1):17–50, 1995.
- [Del75] P. Deligne. Courbes elliptiques: formulaire d'après J. Tate. In Modular functions of one variable, IV (Proc. Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, Antwerp, 1972), pages 53–73. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 476. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
- [EFY] Mboyo Esole, James Fullwood, and Shing-Tung Yau. d5 elliptic fibrations: non-Kodaira fibers and new orientifold limits of f-theory. arXiv:1110.6177v1 [hep-th].
- [Eis95] David Eisenbud. *Commutative algebra*, volume 150 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [EY] M. Esole and S.-T. Yau. Small Resolutions of SU(5)-Models in F-Theory. arXiv:1107.0733v1 [hep-th].
- [Fri91] Robert Friedman. On threefolds with trivial canonical bundle. In Complex geometry and Lie theory (Sundance, UT, 1989), volume 53 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 103–134. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991.
- [Ful93] William Fulton. Introduction to toric varieties, volume 131 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. The William H. Roever Lectures in Geometry.
- [Ful98] William Fulton. Intersection theory, volume 2 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1998.
- [GH87a] Paul Green and Tristan Hübsch. Calabi-Yau manifolds as complete intersections in products of complex projective spaces. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 109(1):99–108, 1987.
- [GH87b] Paul Green and Tristan Hübsch. Polynomial deformations and cohomology of Calabi-Yau manifolds. Comm. Math. Phys., 113(3):505-528, 1987.
- [GHJ03] M. Gross, D. Huybrechts, and D. Joyce. Calabi-Yau manifolds and related geometries. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003. Lectures from the Summer School held in Nordfjordeid, June 2001.
- [GM12] Antonella Grassi and David R. Morrison. Anomalies and the Euler characteristic of elliptic Calabi-Yau threefolds. *Commun. Number Theory Phys.*, 6(1):51–127, 2012.
- [Har77] Robin Hartshorne. *Algebraic geometry.* Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52.

- [HLY02] Yi Hu, Chien-Hao Liu, and Shing-Tung Yau. Toric morphisms and fibrations of toric Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 6(3):457–506, 2002.
- [Hüb87] Tristan Hübsch. Calabi-Yau manifolds—motivations and constructions. Comm. Math. Phys., 108(2):291–318, 1987.
- [Hüb92] Tristan Hübsch. *Calabi-Yau manifolds*. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1992. A bestiary for physicists.
- [Jow11] Shin-Yao Jow. Cohomology of toric line bundles via simplicial Alexander duality. J. Math. Phys., 52(3):033506, 6, 2011.
- [KM98] János Kollár and Shigefumi Mori. Birational geometry of algebraic varieties, volume 134 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti, Translated from the 1998 Japanese original.
- [KMSNS11] Sheldon Katz, David R. Morrison, Sakura Schäfer-Nameki, and James Sully. Tate's algorithm and F-theory. J. High Energy Phys., (8):094, 28, 2011.
- [Kod60] K. Kodaira. On compact complex analytic surfaces. I. Ann. of Math. (2), 71:111–152, 1960.
- [Kod63] K. Kodaira. On compact analytic surfaces. II, III. Ann. of Math.
 (2) 77 (1963), 563-626; ibid., 78:1-40, 1963.
- [Laz04] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. I, volume 48 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series.
- [LP] Antonio Lanteri and Marino Palleschi. Sulle rigate geometriche razionali ed alcune questioni di immersione. Quaderno 13/S.
- [Mir83] Rick Miranda. Smooth models for elliptic threefolds. In *The bira-tional geometry of degenerations (Cambridge, Mass., 1981)*, volume 29 of *Progr. Math.*, pages 85–133. Birkhäuser Boston, Mass., 1983.
- [Mir89] Rick Miranda. The basic theory of elliptic surfaces. Dottorato di Ricerca in Matematica. [Doctorate in Mathematical Research]. ETS Editrice, Pisa, 1989.
- [MP] David R. Morrison and Daniel S. Park. *F*-Theory and the Mordell-Weil Group of Elliptically-Fibered Calabi-Yau Threefolds. *arXiv:1208.2695v1* [hep-th].
- [MV96a] David R. Morrison and Cumrun Vafa. Compactifications of Ftheory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. I. Nuclear Phys. B, 473(1-2):74– 92, 1996.

- [MV96b] David R. Morrison and Cumrun Vafa. Compactifications of Ftheory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. II. Nuclear Phys. B, 476(3):437– 469, 1996.
- [Nak88] Noboru Nakayama. On Weierstrass models. In Algebraic geometry and commutative algebra, Vol. II, pages 405–431. Kinokuniya, Tokyo, 1988.
- [Ogu93] Keiji Oguiso. On algebraic fiber space structures on a Calabi-Yau 3-fold. *Internat. J. Math.*, 4(3):439–465, 1993. With an appendix by Noboru Nakayama.
- [OVdV95] Ch. Okonek and A. Van de Ven. Cubic forms and complex 3-folds. Enseign. Math. (2), 41(3-4):297–333, 1995.
- [Pin83] Henry C. Pinkham. Factorization of birational maps in dimension
 3. In Singularities, Part 2 (Arcata, Calif., 1981), volume 40 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 343–371. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1983.
- [PS10] Arthur Prendergast-Smith. Extremal rational elliptic threefolds. Michigan Math. J., 59(3):535–572, 2010.
- [Rei80] Miles Reid. Canonical 3-folds. In Journées de Géometrie Algébrique d'Angers, Juillet 1979/Algebraic Geometry, Angers, 1979, pages 273–310. Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1980.
- [Rei83] Miles Reid. Minimal models of canonical 3-folds. In Algebraic varieties and analytic varieties (Tokyo, 1981), volume 1 of Adv. Stud. Pure Math., pages 131–180. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1983.
- [Rei87] Miles Reid. Young person's guide to canonical singularities. In Algebraic geometry, Bowdoin, 1985 (Brunswick, Maine, 1985), volume 46 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 345–414. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [Rie74] Oswald Riemenschneider. Deformationen von Quotientensingularitäten (nach zyklischen Gruppen). Math. Ann., 209:211–248, 1974.
- [RR10] Helmut Roschy and Thorsten Rahn. Cohomology of line bundles: proof of the algorithm. J. Math. Phys., 51(10):103520, 11, 2010.
- [Sen98] Ashoke Sen. Orientifold limit of F-theory vacua. Nuclear Phys. B Proc. Suppl., 68:92–98, 1998. Strings '97 (Amsterdam, 1997).
- [Shi90] Tetsuji Shioda. On the Mordell-Weil lattices. Comment. Math. Univ. St. Paul., 39(2):211–240, 1990.
- [Sil09] Joseph H. Silverman. The arithmetic of elliptic curves, volume 106 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Dordrecht, second edition, 2009.

[Tat75]	J. Tate. Algorithm for determining the type of a singular fiber in an elliptic pencil. In <i>Modular functions of one variable, IV (Proc.</i> <i>Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, Antwerp, 1972)</i> , pages 33–52. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 476. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
[Vaf96]	Cumrun Vafa. Evidence for F -theory. Nuclear Phys. B, $469(3):403-415, 1996.$
[Waz04]	Rania Wazir. Arithmetic on elliptic threefolds. <i>Compos. Math.</i> , 140(3):567–580, 2004.
[Wil94]	P. M. H. Wilson. The existence of elliptic fibre space structures on Calabi-Yau threefolds. <i>Math. Ann.</i> , 300(4):693–703, 1994.
[Zel]	Konstantine Zelator. Integral points on hyperbolas: A special case. arXiv:0907.3675v1 [math.GM].